UNCLASSIFIED

AD NUMBER: ADO	831091
LIMITATION CHAN	IGES
TO:	
Approved for public release; distribution is un	nlimited.
FROM:	
Distribution authorized to US Government Ag Export Control; 1 Jun 1968. Other requests sh Flight Dynamics Laboratory, Wright-Patterson	encies and their Contractors; all be referred to Air Force AFB, OH 45433.
AUTHORITY	
AAFDL ltr dtd 12 Nov 1971	



DIRECT LIFT CONTROL

for the LAMS B-52

THESIS

Gary L. Nelsen Robert C. Lorenzetti Captain, USAF Captain, USAF

GGC/EE/68-8

This document is subject to special export controls and each transmittal to foreign governments or foreign nationals may be made only with prior approval of the Dean of Engineering, Air Force Institute of Technology (AFIT-SE), Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, Ohio, 45433.

AFLC-WPAFB-MAY 68 80

DIRECT LIFT CONTROL for LAMS B-52

THESIS

Presented to the Faculty of the School of Engineering of the Air Force Institute of Technology

Air University

in Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree of

Master of Science

by

Gary	L.	Nelsen	
Canta	in	USAP	

and

Robert C. Lorenzetti Captain USAF

Graduate Guidance and Control

June 1968

This document is subject to special export controls and each transmittal to foreign governments or foreign nationals may be made only with prior approval of the Dean of Engineering, Air Force Institute of Technology (AFIT-SE), Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, Ohio, 45433.

Preface

Most theses begin with a short note of thanks to those who aided the author or were helpful above and beyond the call of duty. Ours will begin with a long chapter.

Our thanks first of all to Mr. Robert Johannes and Captain James Lee, our sponsors from the Air Force Flight Dynamics Laboratory, who suggested the project and assisted whenever possible. Mr. Ron Anderson, also of AFFDL, provided some much-needed equipment. Our AFIT faculty advisor, Major Roger Johnson, found time in his crowded schedule to serve as a test pilot, and helped arrange one of the trips to Wichita.

The thesis would not have been possible without the full cooperation of Mr. Paul Burris and Mr. Walt Rohling of The Boeing Company, Wichita Division. They provided equations of motion, aerodynamic coefficients, and sample step elevator responses for the LAMS B-52. They also hosted our trips to Wichita. On the first, they showed us the LAMS aircraft, let us fly their B-52 simulator, and answered innumerable questions. Later, we tested our Direct Lift Controller on their refueling simulator. They also worked hard to bring about a flight test.

Our thanks also to Mr. Vic Falkner of Honeywell Inc. who helped point us in the right direction in the earliest design phase.

Although it is not included in this report, our first LAMS B-52 simulation was done at the Air Force Analog and Hybrid Computation Center in Euilding 57. Wright-Patterson AFB, Ohio. This simulation was programmed by Mr. Howard Jones and operated by Mr. Keith Jones. It gave us invaluable experience in a major analog simulation, and helped clarify our design ideas. This program, which includes a Honeywell pitch SAS in lieu of our controller, is available through Mr. Howard Jones for further use if required.

From time to time in the text, we mention the limited availability of the piloted six degree of freedom simulation at the AF Flight Dynamics Laboratory. This was due strictly to checkout problems of the new hybrid computer and prior contract commitments. In fact, it was only the complete cooperation of Eay Haas and his staff and their willingness to work overtime that allowed us as much time as we had. The cockpit simulator was ably operated and maintained by Fritz Baker, Harold Hooker, and John Priest of Lear-Siegler, Inc. The analog computer performed faultlessly, thanks to careful and thorough daily checkout and maintenance by Dick Morien and Chuck Donalies of Electronics Associates, Inc. Hay Haas offered practical suggestions on analog computation, and served as a test pilot and general factotum.

The other test pilots provided the variety of experience and opinions necessary to a project of this nature. Our fellow AFIT students, Captains Don Green, Larry Smulozenski, Eric Gruenler, and Harold Brattland took time

off from their own theses and classes, often at inconvenient hours, to help us. Our special thanks to Major Bill Smith of the Royal Canadian Air Force who volunteered his services as a test pilot.

Mr. Paul Blatt, also of the Flight Dynamics Laboratory, offered encouragement and provided several hard-to-get references. He also served as our "advertising agency" on a tour of the major aerospace contractors.

We cannot forget the AFIT faculty: Major Hannen and Captain Kern, our readers, Professor Larsen, head of the Department of Aeronautical Engineering, who created an interest in airplanes through his excellent instruction, and Lt. Burghart, our instructor for three courses in optimization theory, who listened patiently to many sad stories during the early part of the work and aided in choosing the optimization theory to be used.

Last, but not least, we must thank our wives who patiently endured four months of Greek letters, late suppers, and stack after untidy stack of books, paper, computer programs, and strip chart recordings. They also performed feats of magic in translating squiggly lines into neatly typed manuscript.

Robert C. Lorenzetti Captain USAF

Gary L. Nolsen Captain USAF

March 1968



Contents

Preface	1
List of Figures	1
List of Tables	V
List of Symbols	1
Abstract	x
I. Introduction	1
Background	1
Direct Lift Control Defined	4
History of Direct Lift Control	5
Optimal Control Theory	7
LAMS B-52	8
Division of Responsibilities	9
Sign Conventions 1	1
Stick	1
Elevator 1	2
Spoiler 1	2
Symmetric Aileron	2
Wheel	2
Conventional Ailerons	2
Surface Rates and Deflection Limits 1	2
Elevator 1	3
Spoilers 1	3
Ailerons 1	3
II. Direct Lift Controller Design 1	4
Linearized Equations of Motion 1	4
Optimal Control Theory	6

vi.

III.

•

Contents

Computer Program A	٠	•	•	19	
Computer Symbols	٠		•	20	
Program Flow	•	•	•	20	
Program Listing	٠	•	•	24	
Computer Program B	•	w	•	28	
Program Listing	•	•	•	30	
Computer Program C	•	•		34	
Program Listing	•	•	•	35	
Computer Program D				36	
Program Listing	•	•	•	37	
Standard Subroutines		•		41	
Subroutine Listings	•	•	•	B-1	
Manipulation of Q and R Matrices .	•	•	•	42	
Mileron/Elevator Controllers		•	•	45	
Off-Diagonal Elements	•		•	47	
Digital Running Time Comparisons .			•	51	
Normal Acceleration Reduction		•	•	52	
Potentiometer Sheets				53	
Other Design Considerations				54	
Crossfeeds				54	
Elevator Washcut Circuit		Ĭ		54	
Stick-to-Elevator Gain		Ī		55	
Altitude Hold Mode		Ī		56	
Two Degree of Freedom Analog Program		•	•	57	
Rouinment Used	•	•	•	57	
Assumptions	•	•	•	67	
	•	٠	•	0.	

Contents

	Angle of Attack
	Value of the Simulation
	Program Schematics
	Potentiometer Settings
	Amplifier Sheets
IV.	Six Degree of Freedom Analog Progrem
	Aimplene Frankland a state
	Airplane Equations of Motion 69
	X-Equations
	Y-Equations
	Z-Equations
	P-Equations
	Q-Equations
	R-Equations
	Spoiler Equations
	Longitudinal Equations
	Lateral Equations
	Quest-Floette Perturbate
	quations
	Preliminary Study
	Analog Program
	Program Schematics 80
	Potentiometer Settings F-1
	Amplifier Sheets
	Multiplier Sheet
	Computer Interconnect Trunking Pac
	Mean Absolute Value Cironita
	Recorder Assignment Shack
	F-18

GGC/BE/68-8

Contents

	Limiter List	19
v.	Simulation	98
	Pilot Experience	98
	Simulator Flight Planning	01
	Flight Condition One	02
	Flight Condition Two	03
	Flight Condition Three	04
	General Comments	04
	Run Number Code	05
VI.	Results	12
	Comparison of Six and Two Degree of Freedom Simulations	12
	Results of Direct Lift Control 1	23
	Effects of Varying Servo Time Constants. 1	48
	Altitude Hold Mode	48
	Effects of Washouts and Control Surface Crossfeeds	49
	Comparison of Responses to Initial 0 1	50
	Pilots' Qualitative Evaluation 1	53
VII.	Discussion and Conclusions	63
	LAMS Spoiler Changes	63
	Direct Lift Control Feasability 1	64
	LAMS B-52 DLC Capability	64
	Optimization Theory	65
	Pilot Qualitative Evaluation 1	67
	Additional Comments	67
	Two Degree of Freedom Analog Simulation	67

.

Contents

	Single Fixed-Gain Controller 167
	Applicability to Other Aircraft 168
VIII.	Recommendations for Further Study 169
	Additional LAMS B-52 Projects 169
	Other Aircraft
	Other Control Surfaces
Appendix	A. Sample Computer Program Outputs A
	Sample Output, Computer Program A A-1
	Sample Output, Computer Program B A-8
	Sample Output, Computer Program D A-18
Appendix	B. Digital Computer Subroutines B
	Sub 1, Function B-1
	Sub 2, Runge-Kutta Integration
	Sub 3, Matrix Addition and Subtraction B-3
	Sub 4, Matrix Transposition B-3
	Sub 5, Matrix Multiplication
	Sub 6, Matrix Inversion B-4
	Sub 7, Matrix Characteristic Polynomial . B-5
	Sub 8, Roots of Characteristic Polynomial B-5
Appendix	C. Sample Derivation, Quasi-Elastic
Amm	Aerodynamic Coefficients C
Appendix	D. Basic Aircraft Responses, Flight Conditions Two and Three, SDF Simulation D
Appendix	E. Amplifier and Potentiometer Assignment Sheets, Two Degree of Freedom Simulation E
	Potentiometer Assignment Sheets E-1
	Amplifier Assignment Sheets E-3

.

Contents

Appendix	F.	Six	De	gr	86	of	Fr	bed	lon	1 A	ne	log	S	im	ule	ati	lor	1.	•	P
	Poter	ntio	met	er	As	si 8	m	ont		She	et	8	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	F-1
	Ampli	lfie	r	188	ign	mer	at a	She	et	8	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	F-6
	Multi	lpli	er	As	sig	mme	ent	Sh	100	et	•	•	•	•	٠	•	•	٠	•	P-14
	Comp	uter	I	nte	roc	nne	sot	Tı	u	ıki	ng	5	• •	•	٠	•	•	•	•	F-1 5
	Mean	Aba	ol	ite	Va	lu	C	irc	u	lts	3	•	•	. •	•	•	•	•	•	F-17
	Reco	rder	A	881	gna	ent	t S	hee	et	•	•	•	• •	•	•	•	•	•	•	F-18
	Limit	ter	L	st	•	•	• •	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	F-19
Appendix	G.	P1]	lot	Ex	per	10	100	•	•	•	•	•	• •	•	•	•	•	•	•	G
Appendiz	H.	Tat	oul	ar	MAV	D	ata	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	H
Appendix	I.	P13	Lot	Ta	pe-	Re	or	ded	1 (Con		ont	в.	•	•	•	•	•	•	I
Bibliogr	aphy	•	•	• •	•	•	• •	•	•	•	•	•	• •	•	•	•	•	•	•	J-1
Vita .									•		•	•				•	•	•	•	K-1

List of Figures

Figure

1-1	B-52 Longitudinal Dynamics During Refueling	• •	•	3
2-1	Typical Element of C Matrix	• •	• •	19
2-2	D Matrix: Aerodynamic Coefficients	• •	•	21
2-3	Expansion of Quadratic Cost Function	• •	•	43
2-4	6X Series Controllers		•	45
2-5	4X Series Controllers		•	46
2-6	Alleron/Elevator Controller		•	47
2-7	Controller 71 Feedbacks		•	48
2-8	Controller 61/361 Comparison			49
2-9	Controller 61/461 Comparison		•	50
3-1	Spoiler Attenuation Constant			58
3-2	Two Degree of Freedom Simulation	•	•	59
3-3	TDF Simulation Force Stick and Meters			60
4-1	Spoiler Attenuation Constants (Pot Padders) .	•		79
5-1	AFFDL Moving Base Simulator		•	99
5-2	Simulator Instruments	•		100
5-3	Terrain Following Task			107
5-4	Pilot Evaluation Form		•	108
5-5	Cooper Rating Form			109
5-6	Approach and Landing Task			110
5-7	In-Flight Refueling Task			111
6-1	Six Degree of Freedom Elevator Response			113
6-1A	(Boeing) Six Degree of Freedom Elevator Respo	ns		114
6-2	TDF Simulation Elevator Response			115
6-3	Six Degree of Freedom Spoiler Response			116
		_	_	the second se

GGC/EB/68-8

0-4	TDF Simulation Spoiler Response
6-5	Six Degree of Freedom Aileron Response 118
6-6	TDF Simulation Aileron Response
6-7	Six Degree of Freedom Elevator Response with Spoilers Up
6-8	TDF Simulation Elevator Response with Spoilers Up . 121
6-9	2-GGC-68-TB (Climb and Descend Without Turbulence). 124
6-10	1-GGC-68-TB (Climb and Descend, No Turbulence, Two Degree of Freedom
6-11	2-GGC-68-TC (Controller 41, Climb and Descend, No Turbulence)
6-12	2-GGC-68-TB (Climb and Descend with Turbulence) 127
6-13	1-GGC-68-TB (Climb and Descend with Turbulence, Two Degree of Freedom)
6-14	2-GGC-68-TC (Controller 41, Climb and Descend with Turbulence)
6-15	1-GGC-68-TC (Climb and Descend with Turbulence, Controller 61, 1 Second Servo Time Constants, Two Degree of Freedom)
6-16	1-GGC-68-TC (Climb and Descend with Turbul ence, Controller 61, 0.1 Second Time Constants, fwo Degree of Freedom
6-17	Flight Condition One, Basic Aircraft in Turbu- lence, Hands Off Controls, Two Degree of Freedom 132
6-18	Flight Condition One, Controller 61, Turbulence, Hands Off Controls, Two Degree of Freedom 133
6-19	Flight Condition One, Controller 61 with Altitude Hold, Turbulence, Hands Off Controls, TDF 134
6-20	4-GGC-68-LB (Climb and Descend, No Turbulence) 136
6-21	4-GGC-68-LC (Controller 42, Climb and Descend, No Turbulence)
6-22	1-GGC-68-LB (Climb and Descend, Turbulence) 138
6-23	1-GGC-68-LC (Controller 42, Climb and Descend, Turbulence)

.

7-GGC-68-LB (Glideslope with Turbulence) 140
7-GGC-68-LC (Controller 42, Glideslope with Turbulence)
3-GGC-68-RB (Climb and Descend, No Turbulence) 144
3-GGC-68-RC (Controller 63, Climb and Descend, No Turbulence)
7-GGC-68-RB (Climb and Descend with Turbulence) . 146
7-GGC-68-RC (Controller 43, Climb and Descend with Turbulence) 147
Basic Aircraft Response to Initial $\theta = 1^{\circ}$. Flight Condition Three)
Controller 43 Responses: Initial $\theta = 2^{\circ}$, Initial $\theta = 1^{\circ}$, 20% Forward Stick for 10 Seconds, 20% Back Stick for 10 Seconds
Mean Absolute Values, Flight Condition One 155
Mean Absolute Values, Flight Condition Two 156
Mean Absolute Values, Flight Condition Three 157

•

s.)-.

List of Tables

Table		Page
IV-1	SDF Simulation, Switch Positions	97
VI-1	Parameter Reduction with DLC	158
VI-2	Cooper Ratings	159
VI-3	How Did You Do?	160
VI-4	Work Load	161
VI-5	Pilot Experience	162

~

List of Symbols

A - A Vector A^T - A Matrix Transpose A⁻¹ - A Matrix Inverse AFFDL - Air Force Flight Dynamics Laboratory AFIT-SE - Air Force Institute of Technology, School of Engineering b - Wing Span C - Mean Aerodynamic Wing Chord DLC - Direct Lift Control FB - Feedback g - Gravitational Force H - Altitude Change H - Rate of Climb HG - High Gain Amplifier I - Integrator IC - Initial Condition KEAS - Knots Equivalent Airspeed L - Rolling Moment LAMS - Load Alleviation and Mode Stabilization M - Pitching Moment m - Mass MAV - Mean Absolute Value MUL - Multiple Connector N - Yawing Moment $N_1(t)$ - Noise (Gust simulation) NL - Normal Acceleration of Aircraft Center of Gravity

(Positive Up)

P - Roll Angular Velocity PIO - Pilot Induced Oscillations Q - Pitch Angular Velocity q - Dynamic Pressure = $\frac{1}{2} Q U_0^2$ R - Yaw Angular Velocity RG - Reduced Gain Amplifier (0.1 and 1.0 inputs) S - Wing Area, ft² S - Summer (on amplifier sheets) SAS - Stability Augmentation System SDF - Six Degree of Freedom TDF - Two Degree of Freedom TE - Trailing Edge t_F - Final Time TR - Test Reference - Only Applied During Static Test U - Airspeed (X Direction) Uo - Equilibrium Airspeed V - Side Velocity (Y Direction) W - Vertical Velocity (Z Direction) X.Y.Z - Aerodynamic Force Components a - Angle of Attack ag - a Gust (Vertical) 8 - Sideslip Angle $\beta_G - \beta$ Gust (Horizontal) Sail - Alleron Deflection 8 - Elevator Deflection': 8_{sp} - Spoiler Deflection 0 - Pitch Angle

- . 0 - Pitch Rate
- $\hat{\mathbf{r}}$ Air Density

 \mathcal{T} - Time Constant

Ø - Roll Angle

y - Yaw Angle

wo - Gust Frequency



Abstract

A DLC (Direct Lift Control) system was designed for the LAMS B-52, a test aircraft with a fly-by-wire control system. Spoilers, symmetric allerons, and elevator respond to the pilot's normal longitudinal column movements, applying lift forces in the desired direction without pitching the aircraft. DLC eliminates the long heave crossover time and normal acceleration reversal associated with large aircraft. The controller permits changes in rates of climb and descent of up to 500 feet per minute from trim condition without a change in aircraft pitch attitude. When larger column movements command greater rates of climb, DLC functions as a conventional control system, causing aircraft rotation.

The pilot's ability to make precise changes in altitude or rate of climb is enhanced in tasks such as approach and landing, in-flight refueling, and terrain following. DLC does not excite the phugoid mode, and visual cues are not disturbed by continually changing pitch attitude.

The closed-loop controller consists of fixed-gain normal acceleration, pitch angle, and pitch rate feedbacks to the three control surface servos. Feedback gains were selected by a digital optimization program based on Kalman's Linear State Regulator Theory.

In addition to virtually eliminating pitch attitude changes, DLC reduces normal acceleration an average of 50%

rix

during climb and descent maneuvers, both in and out of turbulence, and improves the pilot's ability to maintain constant airspeed,

DLC was tested with a piloted moving-base cockpit simulator driven by a six degree of freedom analog program. GGC/BE/68-8

Chapter I

Introduction

Background

During the past decade, the production of larger, heavier, higher performance aircraft has required a rapid advance in flight control system technology to maintain acceptable handling qualities. Sophisticated stability augmentation systems are standard in the century series fighters and many other current aircraft. The F-111 has an even more advanced self-adaptive control system. However, precise control of these aircraft is still difficult in certain flight regimes due to excessive pitch rate overshoots while controlling normal (vertical) acceleration. These regimes include approach and landing, in-flight refueling, terrain following, and cargo drop. The pitch rate required for rapid maneuvering can obsoure important visual cues during these flight tasks and attempts to make small corrections in flight path angle can result in undesireable transients. These problems exist because both lift and normal acceleration are controlled by pitching the aircraft. Thus, it is desireable to provide the pilot with more direct control of both lift and pitching moment than is available with conventional elevator surfaces.

In transport aircraft, increased size, weight, and airspeed have reduced the ratio of aerodynamic to inertial moments, producing a "sluggishness" of response which reduces the capability of precise control on the approach glide path and in the landing flare.

> To attain satisfactory levels of landing performance with these aircraft, it has been necessary to place great emphasiz on optimized operational procedures, and on the presentation of approach guidance information. The next generation of transports will include designs having twice the gross weight of the largest now in operation, and their dynamic characteristics in pitch may be further complicated by several additional factors. Particularly in supersonic designs, proportionately shorter tail lengths together with large pitch inertias will amplify the lift variations accompanying pitch control inputs. With more conventional configurations efficient use of high life devices . . . will result in a reduced sensitivity of lift to angle-of-attack (Ref 5:1).

In-flight refueling, originally restricted to bombers, will also become a cargo aircraft capability with the advent of the C-5A. This task is most demanding for pilots when a heavy airplane is being refueled at high altitude. The response lag following an elevator input requires utmost pilot attention and skill. Figure 1-1, provided by The Boeing Company, illustrates the response due to elevator input during B-52 refueling.

> This condition is present to some degree in all refueling operations, but is aggravated by the long heave crossover time of aircraft with large pitch inertia. With normal visual position cues, the pilot will tend to command elevator deflections about 90° out of phase with the desired optimum.



Similar need for improved longitudinal handling qualities exists for other tracking tasks, such as weapon delivery, formation flying, reconnaissance, terrain following, and instrument and GCA approaches. The longer the heave crossover time in relation to the characteristic longitudinal short period frequency, the more compensatory lead the pilot must supply to perform the task satisfactorily, Since there is a practical upper bound on the lead that a pilot can generate effectively, considerable improvement in piloting performance is possible if the lag in airplane response can be alleviated (Ref 7:7).

Direct Lift Control Defined

Within this thesis, Direct Lift Control (DLC) means airplane flight path control by lift forces applied in the direction that the pilot desires to move the airplane. The purpose of DLC is to improve handling characteristics during landing approach, terrain following, aerial refueling, and other precision maneuvering tasks by providing a change in altitude or rate of climb without a change in pitch attitude and without the delay in lift buildup associated with conventional elevator control. The LAMS B-52 Direct Lift Controller will accomplish this by moving the elevator, spoilers, and (symmetrically operated) allerons in response to the pilot's longitudinal stick commands. Small stick movements must produce lift without pitch to provide the desired precision maneuvering capability. With larger stick commands (for changes in rates of climb or descent in excess of 400-500 feet per minute from trim), the design

must function as a conventional control system, providing pitching moments and aircraft rotation. The controller will be closed-loop with normal acceleration, pitch angle, and pitch rate feedbacks.

History of Direct Lift Control

The U.S. Navy, motivated by the requirements of carrier landings, requested Douglas Aircraft Company in 1961 to study means of generating lift without pitch (Ref 8:2). Douglas proved the feasability of the idea, and designed the first direct lift control system. Test pilots who flew this system (via a cockpit simulator tied to an analog computer) were enthusiastic about the improved handling qualities and precise maneuvering capabilities provided by DLC.

Following this study, the Navy and Ling-Temco-Vought conducted wind tunnel, simulator, and flight tests of an F-8C Crusader with a DLC system. The F-8C was chosen because it was particularly difficult to maneuver during carrier approach and landing. DLC was accomplished by rapidly varying the deflection of the ailerons, which were drooped symmetrically as wing trailing edge flaps. The elevator was interconnected with the system to approximately cancel the small pitching moment produced by the ailerons. The pilot commanded DLC by turning a spring-loaded-to-neutral control wheel mounted on top of the normal control stick.

> DLC significantly increases the pilot's ability to control glide slope . . . and reduces average sink speed. It improves overall landing approach characteristics mainly by allowing rapid and precise vertical glide

path corrections without the necessity for pitch attitude changes . . . A reduction in recommended approach speed may be achieved when using DLC . . . (Ref 6:1).

The Naval Air Test Conter recommended incorporation of the DLC system in fleet F-8 airplanes, but this has not yet been done. However, a second recommendation has been carried out. This involved a feasability study of several carrier-based aircraft to determine the suitability of each type for incorporation of DLC.

Of course, DLC offers benefits to commercial airlines as well as military aircraft. Thus, the NASA Ames Research Center conducted flight tests of a Convair 990 jetliner, using biased spoilers (speed brakes) to provide DLC during the landing approach (Ref 5:2-5). Before entering the approach pattern, the spoilers were partially extended (biased up) and the airplane was trimmed to fly in this condition. Lift could then be increased by partially retracting the spoilers, or decreased by extending them still further. This system is admittedly crude, since the pilot must manipulate a DLC (spoiler) control lever which is in an awkward position simultaneously with the throttle and control stick. Nevertheless, the test pilots were again impressed by the improved maneuvering capability provided by DLC. NASA is continuing this project with a DC-8 simulation using more advanced DLC systems.

The Air Force Flight Dynamics Laboratory recently sponsored a one-year study of the applicability of DLC to

cargo planes, fighter-bombers, and strategic bombers. With Honeywell Inc. as the contractor, this study was conducted to determine the increased mission effectiveness that can be achieved with control systems using direct lift control. Three aircraft types were investigated: cargo, fighter, and strategic bomber. A pilot-in-the-loop simulator study was performed using the C-5A and F-104 as testbeds. Although the study is complete, the final report has not yet been published. Reference nine is the second of five preliminary reports.

This thesis and the AFFDL study are complimentary in that Honeywell employed conventional control system design theories while the Direct Lift Controller presented here resulted from an application of optimal control theory. In addition, Honeywell's concept of direct lift control is slightly different from the definition on page four.

One of the conclusions in Honeywell's preliminary report (Ref 9:58) was that a closed loop DLC system is superior to an open loop controller, especially in turbulence. In addition, a "blended" system (controlled by normal column movements) was judged superior to a "separate" DLC (separate actuating mechanism as used in the F-8C and Convair 990) (Ref 9:58). Therefore, this study considered blended closed-loop designs exclusively.

Optimal Control Theory

One of the major objectives of this thesis is to demonstrate the applicability of optimal control theory to the

design of a Direct Lift Controller. A "linear plant, quadratic cost function" theory developed by R.E. Kalman and his associates was used. This theory designs controllers through digital computer solution of the matrix Riccati equation. There is no theorethcal limit on the number of aircraft states and control surfaces that can be used. Since iterative solution of the equations is <u>not</u> required, the digital computer programs are fast-running. Complete details are found in Chapter II.

LAMS B-52

Many of the assumptions and limitations in this thesis are based on the ultimate goal of flight testing the resulting design on the LAMS B-52, although flight test is not part of the thesis itself. LAMS, Load Alleviation and Mode Stabilization, is a current project of the Air Force Flight Dynamics Laboratory. Its objective is to determine methods of increasing the fatigue life of large airplanes by reducing vibrations and flexing of the airframe as a result of wind gusts and/or aircraft maneuvers.

The LAMS B-52 is a modified and heavily instrumented B-52E. The control surfaces themselves (ailerons, spoilers, and elevators) are standard. However, they have been fitted with new fast-responding broad bandwidth actuators. Two transistorized analog computers (Electronics Associates Inc., EAI TR-48's) are installed in the aircraft 41 section to simulate a stability augmentation system (which the B-52 lacks) and implement the LAMS controller (Ref 1:84).

The LAMS controller is only used in three specific flight conditions, which can be described as terrain following, approach and landing, and high altitude cruise (inflight refueling). The Direct Lift Controller is therefore designed for these same three flight conditions. (One of the conclusions, however, is that a single fixed-gain controller would probably be adequate for all three flight conditions.

The LAMS system operates fly-by-wire from the command (left) seat. (Fly-by-wire simply means that the connection between the pilot and the control surface actuators is an electrical one as opposed to a conventional mechanical linkage.) The LAMS aircraft could be used to flight test this Direct Lift Controller by using the existing TR-48 computers, normal acceleration, pitch angle, and pitch rate sensors, and fly-by-wire control system. This demonstrates the flexibility inherent in a fly-by-wire control system.

Actually, direct lift control is one of the techniques used by LAMS to reduce gust loading and dampen structural mode oscillations. The ailerons are operated symmetrically and the spoilers are biased up 20°. Direct lift control, however, is not employed for pilot-induced maneuver commands.

Division of Responsibility

Although both partners are intimately familiar with all portions of this thesis, there is a definite division of responsibilities in accordance with AFIT Department of

Electrical Engineering policy.

Captain Lorenzetti was primarily responsible for the material in Chapters II and III, the digital optimization programs and the two degree of freedom analog program. He also wrote Chapter I.

Captain Nelsen was primarily responsible for the material in Chapters IV and V, the six degree of freedom analog program, and all details of the cockpit simulation. In addition, he wrote Chapter VI and served as primary test pilot.

Of necessity, both writers collaborated on discussion, conclusions, and recommendations, Chapters VII and VIII. All schematics, drawings, figures, and graphs were done jointly by the authors.

Sign Conventions

Standard NACA sign conventions, used where applicable, are summarized below:



L - Rolling Moment

- M Pitching Moment
- N Yawing Moment
- Ø Roll Angle
- 0 Pitch Angle
- Y Yaw Angle

- P Roll Angular Velocity
- Q Pitch Angular Velocity
- R Yaw Angular Velocity
- X, Y, Z Aerodynamic Force Components
 - U, V, W Velocity Components

Stick. Forward stick deflection is positive and causes positive elevator deflection. Full stick deflection equals computer reference voltage in both simulations.

Elevator. Elevator trailing edge deflection down from neutral is positive, producing positive lift and negative pitching moment.

Spoiler. Spoiler trailing edge deflection up from the wing surface is positive, producing negative lift and positive pitching moment. Negative spoiler deflection does not exist.

<u>Symmetric Aileron</u>. Symmetric aileron trailing edge deflection down from neutral is positive, producing positive lift and negative pitching moment.

Wheel. Wheel turn to the right is positive, producing a positive rolling moment.

<u>Conventional Ailerons</u>. Right aileron trailing edge deflection up from neutral is positive, producing positive rolling moment. Left aileron trailing edge deflection down from neutral is positive, also producing positive rolling moment.

Surface Rates and Deflection Limits

A major modification to the LAMS B-52 was the installation of special fast response actuators on all flight control surfaces. The alleron actuators, for example, can provide 120 degrees per second surface rate. (Ref 1:83). Due to these high rates, the analog programs incorporate first order approximations for conventional servos (K/S + K, where K = 1/Time constant). These time constants were varied from 0.1 second to as much as six seconds in some
runs. This means that actual control surface movements commanded by the direct lift controller are relatively slow, and success of this scheme does not depend on the LAMS high speed actuators. For flight testing in the LAMS aircraft, control surface movements can be assumed instantaneous, and these servos can be regarded as part of the controller.

<u>Elevator</u>. Elevator limiter was set to 17[°] for all flight conditions.

Spoilers. Spoilers were biased up 20° for all direct lift control runs. The controller commands were limited to 40° of spoiler in all flight conditions. This provided adequate direct lift while reserving the remaining 20° of spoiler movement for turning control and/or speed brakes as required in an actual flight.

<u>Ailerons</u>. Each aileron was limited to $\pm 17^{\circ}$ deflection in all flight conditions.

Chapter II

Direct Lift Controller Design

Three digital quadratic optimal control programs were used to generate direct lift controllers in this study. The theory advanced by R.E. Kalman and his associates was used since it easily handles the dimensionality of the problem. This study used three or four states and three controls, but the humbers of both could be increased with little difficulty. Kalman's linear system theory defines controllers through digital computer solution of the matrix Riccati equation. The plant must be linearized, and the cost function must be quadratic.

Linearized Equations of Motion

As explained in Chapter IV, the LAMS equations are written for perturbations about three specific flight conditions. The digital program is based on a short period approximation of the LAMS B-52 (Ref 3:40-44) with spoiler lift and moment coefficients linearized about the 20° trailing edge up bias position. This reduces the aircraft to a linear system, as required, capable of pitch and vertical movement at constant airspeed.

In addition to the above, the aircraft is assumed trimmed for straight and level flight with spoilers biased up before the direct lift controller begins operation. Thus, the equations of motion reduce to the following:

$$\dot{W} = Q U_0 + \frac{gs}{m} \left[-(C_{L_X} + C_p) \Delta \alpha - C_{L_F} Q - C_{L_X} \dot{\alpha} - C_{L_S} \delta_e \right] + C_{L_S sp} \delta_{sp} - C_{L_S ail} \delta_{ail} \left[(2-1) \right]$$

where

$$g = \frac{1}{2} \langle 0 \rangle_{0}$$

$$C_{Lg} = \frac{\overline{c}}{2U_{0}} \left[\frac{\partial C_{L}}{\partial (q \overline{c}/2U_{0})} \right]$$

2

$$C'_{L''_{a}} = \frac{\overline{c}}{2U_{o}} \left[\frac{\partial C_{L}}{\partial (\dot{a} \overline{c}/2U_{o})} \right]$$

 $Q = \theta$ (due to absence of lateral motion) $\alpha = W/U_0$

Let
$$AA = 1 + \frac{gs}{mU_0} C_{12}$$

$$\dot{\alpha} = \left\{ \frac{1}{AA} \right\} \left\{ Q + \frac{q_s}{mU_0} \left[-(C_{L_x} + C_p) \Delta \alpha - C_{L_q} Q - C_{L_{se}} \delta_e \right] + C_{L_{sp}} \delta_{sp} - C_{L_{sil}} \delta_{ail} \right\}$$
(2-2)

$$\dot{Q} = \frac{g s \bar{c}}{I_{yy}} \left[C_{Ma} \Delta a' + C_{mg} Q + C_{Ma} \dot{a}' + C_{MSe} \delta_{e} + C_{MSe} \delta_{s} \delta_{s} + C_{MSail} \delta_{ail} \right]$$
(2-3)

where

$$C_{Mg} = \frac{\overline{c}}{2U_0} \left[\frac{\partial C_M}{\partial (g\overline{c}/2U_0)} \right]$$
$$C_{Mg} = \frac{\overline{c}}{2U_0} \left[\frac{\partial C_M}{\partial (g\overline{c}/2U_0)} \right]$$

Two of the optimization programs use the state N_L , normal acceleration of the aircraft center of gravity, positive in the up direction. An equation for N_L was obtained as follows:

$$N_{L} = U_{0} \theta - W$$
 (Ref 3:15-16) (2-4)

Since U_o, the airspeed, is considered constant,

$$N_L = U_0 \theta - W = U_0 Q - U_0 \alpha = U_0 (Q - \alpha)$$

Treating all aerodynamic coefficients as constants,

$$\vec{\alpha} = \left\{ \frac{1}{AA} \right\} \left\{ \dot{Q} + \frac{gs}{mU_0} \left[-\left(C_{L_q} + C_D \right) \dot{\alpha} - C_{L_q} \dot{Q} \right] \right\}$$

As explained earlier, the LAMS aircraft has high speed actuators on all control surfaces. For practical purposes, commanded control surface movements may be considered instantaneous, so terms containing control surface rates have been dropped. Servo actuator speeds are discussed on page 148.

Let
$$AB = \frac{9}{5} \left[\frac{m U_{0} (AA)}{AA} \right]$$

 $\dot{N}_{L} = U_{0} \left\{ \dot{Q} \left(1 - \frac{1}{AA} \right) + AB \left[(C_{L_{x}} + C_{0}) \dot{a} + C_{L_{y}} \dot{Q} \right] \right\} (2-5)$

Optimal Control Theory

Chapter nine of Athans and Falb (Ref 2:750-780) is a comprehensive discussion of Kalman's optimal control theories for a linear plant with quadratic cost function. Portions of the theory actually used in this study are summarized below.

Consider the so-called state regulator problem. Its solution is an optimal feedback system which keeps the components of the state vector $\underline{X}(t)$ near zero without excessive use of the controls $\underline{U}(t)$. The state equation for a <u>completely controllable linear time invariant system</u> is

$$\underline{X}(t) = \underline{AX}(t) + \underline{BU}(t)$$
(2-6)

where A and B are time invariant matrices. For n states and m controls, A is n x n, and B is n x m. The general form of the quadratic cost function is

 $J = \underline{X}^{T} F \underline{X} + \int_{0}^{t} (\underline{X}^{T} Q \underline{X} + \underline{U}^{T} R \underline{U}) dt \qquad (2-7)$

If, with the specified time invariant system, the Q and R matrices are constant and the final time, t_p , is infinity, then the resulting optimal feedback system is linear and time invariant. (Ref 2:751). To insure a finite control, the R matrix, the cost of control, must be positive definite (all eigenvalues positive). The Q matrix, the cost of non-zero states, need only be positive semidefinite (eigenvalues may be zero or positive). The F matrix is the cost of non-zero final states. Since the final time is

infinite, an optimal controller will produce zero final state, and F can be the zero matrix.

Under the precise conditions listed above, with $\underline{U}(t)$ not constrained, Kalman has shown (Ref 2:771) that an optimal control exists, is unique, is stable and is given by

$$\underline{U}(t) = -R^{-1}B^{T}C\underline{X}(t)$$
 (2-8)

where C is the constant n x n positive definite matrix which is the solution of the nonlinear matrix algebraic equation

$$-CA - A^{T}C + CBR^{-1}B^{T}C - Q = 0$$
 (2-9)

Algebraic solution is difficult since it involves choosing the proper roots of a quadratic to make C positive definite. In practice, C is readily obtained by integrating the matrix Riccati equation

$$C(t) = -C(t)A - A^{T}C(t) + C(t)BR^{-1}B^{T}C(t) - Q$$
 (2-10)

backwards in time with the 'oundary condition

 $C(t_F) = 0$

As backward integration proceeds, the transient due to the "initial condition" $C(t_F) = 0$ dies out, and all elements of the C matrix become constant (See Fig. 2-1 below). C is n x n and symmetric and therefore represents (n x n + n)/2 independent differential equations. Combining the plant and control equations, (2-6) and (2-8), we have

$$X(t) = GX(t)$$
 (2-11)

where

$$G = A - BR^{-1}B^{T}C \qquad (2-12)$$

Kalman has proved that the eigenvalues of G always have negative real parts, so the optimal system is always stable. This is true even if one or more eigenvalues of A have nonnegative real parts.



Fig. 2-1. Typical Element of C Matrix

Computer Program A

This first of three optimal control programs uses three states and three controls. The states are:

 $X(1) = \alpha$ (Angle of attack)

 $X(2) = \theta$ (Pitch angle)

X(3) = 0 (Pitch rate)

The controls, which are the same in all three programs, are:

$$U(1) = \delta_{e} \text{ (Elevator)}$$
$$U(2) = \delta_{sp} \text{ (Spoiler)}$$
$$U(3) = \delta_{e11} \text{ (Symmetric allerons)}$$

The sequence of operations is identical in the three programs, the statement numbering is similar, and the subroutines are the same except for dimensioning. Thus, the following discussion will suffice for all three programs.

<u>Computer Symbols</u>. The A,B,C,Q, and R matrices and the X and U vectors correspond to the nomenclature of the theory discussed above.

 $CONT = -R^{-1}B^{T}C$, establishing the control vector.

N = Number of states

M = Number of controls

TINC = Integration time increment, normally .05 seconds KTR is a counter used for program control.

TF = Final time. In this program, the C matrix becomes constant after no more than four seconds of real-time backward integration. TF was arbitrarily chosen as ten seconds.

KS = Flight condition

D matrix contains the aerodynamic coefficients for the three flight conditions as listed in Figure 2-2, page 21. These coefficients were furnished by The Boeing Co. (Wichita, Kansas) and are based, in most cases, on B-52 flight test data. The spoilers are nonlinear, and the listed coefficients represent a tangent to the spoiler attenuation curve at the 20[°] bias point. See Figure 3-1, page 58 for the complete curve.

<u>Program Flow</u>. A listing of computer program A appears on pages 24-27.

4

TNEMELE	COEFFICIENT	FLT. COND. 1	FLT. COND. 2	FLT. COND. 3
D(1,KS)	c _L (clean)	112.	• 450	.293
D(2,KS)	$c_{L\alpha} + c_D$	3.655	3.890	4.795
D(3,KS)	CLSe	.1052	.1578	.1458
D(4,KS)	CMG	545	762	758
D(5,KS)	CHOE	345	517	484
D(6,KS)	qSG/IYY	5.4841	2.5750	3.3800
D(7,KS)	gs/M = r JC, 1	152.2	71.6	109.84
D(8,KS)	48 = Zue (292/24.)	•0538	.0876	.0534
D(9,KS)	$C_{i_{\infty}}^{\prime} = \frac{\overline{c}}{2u_{0}} \left[\frac{\partial C_{i}}{\partial (\varepsilon \overline{c}/2u_{0})} \right]$	0610.	.0212	.0130
D(10,KS)	$C_{m_{g}} = \frac{\overline{C}}{2u_{e}} \left[\frac{\delta C_{m}}{\delta (\omega \overline{C}/2) L_{e}} \right]$	230	383	~.233
D(11,KS)	$C_{M_{\infty}} = \frac{\overline{C}}{2!L} \left[\frac{\partial C_{M}}{\partial \omega c} \right]$	0372	0622	0376
D(12, KS)	CLOBP	.1152	.1524	.1897
D(13,KS)	CMésp	.0131	•1496	.1352
D(14,KS)	Uo	626.4	429.4	757.0
D(15,KS)	CL6a11	• 068	.100	.106
D(16,KS)	CM6all	024	036	042

Fig. 2-2. D Matrix: Aerodynamic Coefficients

.

<u>Statements 0 to 99</u>: Zero matrices as required, read data, and write out Q and R matrices for reference.

<u>Statements 99 to 56</u>: Check to insure R matrix is positive definite and Q matrix positive semidefinite as required.

Statements 56 to 29: Compute A and B matrices and write out for reference. Program A uses equation (2-2) above for $\dot{X}(1)$ and equation (2-3) for $\dot{X}(3)$. Of course, $\ddot{X}(2) = X(3)$.

<u>Statements 29 to 12</u>: Compute BRIBT (BR⁻¹B^T), preparing for backward integration of the matrix Riccati equation.

<u>Statements 12 to 32</u>: Integrate C matrix backwards, write out independent elements of C each TINC, and check for constancy of C matrix each ten TINC (usually 0.5 seconds).

<u>Statements 32 to 42</u>: Compute and write out CONT. This matrix establishes the pot settings to be used in the analog simulations.

Statements 42 to 17: Compute and write out the G matrix. (G = A - R⁻¹B^TC and $\dot{X} = G\underline{X}$). Find characteristic equation and eigenvalues of G to demonstrate stability of the optimal system.

Statements 17 to 45: Read an initial X condition (normally $\theta = 0.1$ radian), integrate the optimal system equations forward in time for five seconds, writing out states and controls used each TINC.

Although every controller produced by this program

is optimal for the cost criteria contained in the Q and R matrices, several runs are usually required with different Q and R matrices to produce a controller with good flying qualities. Suitability of a controller can only be established by an analog computer simulation. However, the integration of the optimal system equations gives a basis for comparison of the various controllers, and helps eliminate some unsuitable ones without an analog simulation.

Manipulation of the Q and R matrices is discussed in a later section, and a sample output of computer program A is included in Appendix A. COMPUTER OPTIMIZATION PROGRAM A

1

SIBJO	B' NOMAP
* 18FT	C MAIN XR7
	COMMON A(3,3),B(3,3),D(16,3),Q(3,3),R(3,3),C(3,3),WKA(3,3),
	ZWK8(3,3),WKC(3,3),WKD(3,3),RIBT(3,3),M,N,BRIBT(3,3)
	DIMENSION X(6) + COMP(3,3) + CHAR(4) + EIGNV(3,2) + DUMMY(6) + CONT(3,3) +
	ZU(3,1),WKP(3,3),XX(3,1)
	NAMELIST/INIT/N.KS.M.TF.TINC
5	FORMAT (5E10.0)
2	FORMAT(3E10.0)
3	READ (5.INIT)
	KTR=1
	DO 4 I=1+N
	DO 4 J=1.N
	$A(I_{\bullet}J) = Q_{\bullet}$
	COMP(I.J)=0.
	$C(I_{2}J)=0$
4	$Q(I_{*}J)=0_{*}$
	DO 26 1=1.M
	DO 26 J=1.M
	$R(I_{2}J)=0$
26	WKP(I.J)=0.
	DO 6 1=1.N
	DO 6 JalaM
	$U(J \circ I) = 0$
	R/L h=0
•	DEAD/6.21 //0/1.11.1=1.01.1#2.01
	$\frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}$
	$\frac{(1+1)}{(1+1)} = \frac{(1+1)}{(1+1)} = \frac{(1+1)}{($
20	CONTINUE ECOMATINE AND MATCHE (1)
66	FURMAI(1X;000 MA(K1X;//)
22	EODMAT/5612.41
63	WPITE(6, 26) ((0(1, 1), 1=1, N), 1=1, N)
94	WRITE(092)/ ((WII9J/9J-19R/91-19R/
44	PURMATTY/91X90NK MATRIX9//)
-	
25	
e eu	WKIIE(0,22) ((K(1,J),J=1,M),J=1,M)
CCH	ECK ACCEPTABILITY OF Q AND K MATRICES
33	FURMATLY JIA JIANU MATRIX CHECK)
	WKITE(0,99)
	CALL CHRPOL (Q+CHAR+N)
	CALL ROOTS (NOCHAROEIGNV)
	DO 51 I=1+N
	TNT=EIGNV(1+1)
	IF (INI-LI- 0-) GO TO 52
51	CONTINUE
100	FORMATC/ JIK JAHR MATRIX CHECK)
	WRITE(6+100)
	CALL CHRPOL(R, CHAR, M)
	CALL DONTE IM. CHAD. EVENUL

24

.

.

```
DO 56 I=1.M
      TNT=EIGNV(I+1)
      IF(TNT .LE. 0.) GO TO 55
 56
      CONTINUE
      FORMAT(//, 1X, 17HFLIGHT CONDITION , 11,//)
 31
 50
      WRITE(6,31) KS
C COMPUTE A AND B MATRICES
      AA=1. + D(7,KS) + D(9,KS) / D(14,KS)
      AB=D(7+KS)/(D(14+KS)+AA)
      A(1,1) = -AB + D(2,KS)
      A(1,3)=1./AA-AB+D(8,KS)
      B(1,1) = -AB + D(3,KS)
      B(1,2)=AB+D(12,KS)
      B(1,3) = -AB + D(15,KS)
      A(2,3)=1.
      AC=D(6+KS)
      AD=D(11,KS)
      A(3,1)=AC+(D(4,KS)+AD+A(1,1))
      A(3,3)=AC*(D(10,KS)+AD*A(1,3))
      B(3,1)=AC+(D(5,KS)+AD+B(1,1))
      B(3+2)=AC+(D(13+KS)+AD+B(1+2))
      B(3,3)=AC*(D(16,KS)+/ 'B(1,3))
 28
      FORMAT(//, 1X, 8HA MATRIX, //)
      WRITE(6+28)
      WRITE(6,25) ((A(I,J),J=1,N),I=1,N)
      FORMAT(//+1X+8HB MATRIX+//)
 29
      WRITE(6,29)
      WRITE (6,25) ((B(I,J),J=1,M),I=1,N)
      CALL GMTRA (B, CONT, N, M)
      CALL MTXINV(R,WKP,M)
      CALL GMPRD (WKP + CONT + RIBT + M + M + N)
      CALL GMPRD(B,RIBT,BRIBT,N,M,N)
      TS=TF
      DO 7 I=1+6
 7
      X(I)=0.
 30
      FORMAT(////+1X+39HELEMENTS OF SYMMETRIC FEEDBACK MATRIX C+//)
      WRITE (6,30)
 13
      FORMAT(1X,6HC(1,1),7X,6HC(1,2),6X,6HC(1,3),6X,6HC(2,2),6X,6HC(2,
     Z,6X,6HC(3,3),//)
      WRITE (6,13)
 14
      FORMAT(/,1X,7HTIME = ,F6.2)
      DELT =-TINC
 11
      IF(TS.GT.0.) GO TO 12
      STOP
C
  INTEGRATE C MATRIX BACKWARDS, 10 STEPS
 12
      DO 8 I=1,10
C CALL (NO. EQN, EQN SET. VARIABLE, START TIME, DEL TIME)
      CALL RUNGE(6,1,X,TS,DELT)
 9
      FORMAT(1P10E12.4)
      WRITE (6,14) TS
      WRITE (6,9)
 8
                    (X(J), J=1, 6)
      CALL FCN(6,2,X,DUMMY)
      CALL MXPM (COMP + C + WKA + N + N + -1)
      SUH =0.
      DO 10 I=1,N
      DO 10 J=1,N
```

```
COMP(I,J)=C(I,J)
       SUM = SUM + A8S(WKA(I,J))
 10
C CHECK FOR CONSTANCY OF C MATRIX
       IF (SUM .GT. 0.3)
                          GO TO 11
C NOW HAVE CONSTANT FEEDBACK GAIN MATRIX, C.
 32
       FORMAT(//.IX.17HFEEDBACK MATRIX C.//)
       WRITE (6,32)
 33
       FORMAT (3F12.4)
       WRITE (6,33) ((C(1,J),J=1,N),I=1,N)
       DO 15 I=1.N
       00 15 J=1+N
 15
       WKA(I,J) = 0.
       CALL GMPRD(RIBT+C+CONT+M+N+N)
       DO 16 I=1.M
      DO 16 J=1+N
      CONT(I,J) = -CONT(I,J)
 16
      FORMAT(//,1X,15HCONTROL= -RIBTC)
 42
      WRITE (6.42)
      WRITE (6,33) ((CONT(I,J),J=1,N),I=1,M)
C CONTROL VECTOR, U = (CONT) (X VECTOR)
C U(1) = ELEVATOR, U(2) = SPOILERS, U(3) = AILERONS.
      CALL GMPRD (B, CONT, WKB, N, M, N)
      CALL MXPM (A, WKB, WKA, N, N, +1)
      FORMAT(//,1X,8HA-BRIBTC,//)
 40
      WRITE (6,40)
      WRITE (6,33) ((WKA(I,J),J=1,N),I=1,N)
C X DOT = (WKA)(X)
      CALL CHRPOL (WKA, CHAR, N)
   FIND CHARACTERITIC EQUATION OF REAL MATRIX (A) BY BOCHER FORMULA. RI
C
   234 OF DERUSSO.
C
      CALL ROOTS (N+CHAR+EIGNV)
  CHARACTERISTIC EQUATION AND ITS ROOTS ARE FOUND FOR LATER COMPARISON
C
C
   MODIFIED CONTROLLER.
C READ IN INITIAL X CONDITIONS.
C
   X(1)=ALPHA X(2)=THETA X(3)=THETA DOT=Q
 17
      READ(5,2) (X(1),1=1,3)
      DELT=TINC
      FORMAT(//,1X,48HNOTE, CONTROLS IN DEGREES AND ANGLES IN RADIANS.
 21
     ZA/.1X.30HSPOILERS BIASED UP 20 DEGREES.,//)
      WRITE(6,21)
      FORMATI/, 1X, 36HUSING OUTBOARD SPOILERS ONLY (0.56K))
 57
      WRITE (6,57)
      FORMAT(4X,4HTIME,8X,5HALPHA,10X,5HTHETA,5X,9HTHETA DOT,5X,
 20
     Z8HELEVATOR, 4X, 8HSPOILERS, 4X, 8HAILERONS, //)
      WRITE(6,20)
      TS=0.
      U(2,1)=20.
19
      FORMAT(7F12.4)
      WRITE(6,19) TS,(X(I),I=1,3),(U(J,1),J=1,M)
      TF=.5+TF
12
      CALL RUNGE (3,3,X,TS,DELT)
      DO 41
            I=1+N
41
      XX(I+1)=X(I)
      CALL GMPRD (CONT + XX + U+M+N+1)
      U(1,1)=57.3#U(1,1)
      U(2+1)=57.3#U(2+1)+20.
```

	U(3+1)-357+3+U(3+1)
	WRITE(6,19) TS,(X(I),I=1,N),(U(J,1),J=1,M)
	IF (TS.LT.TF) GO TO 18
	TF=2.+TF
	KTR=KTR + 1
	IF(KTR.LT.4) GO TO 45
	STOP
45	KS=KS+1
	GO TO 56
52	WRITE(6,53)
53	FORMAT(/,1X,47HQ MATRIX NOT POSITIVE SEMIDEFINITE AS REQUIRED.)
	GO TO 50
54	FORMAT(/,1X,43HR MATRIX NOT POSITIVE DEFINITE AS REQUIRED.)
55	WRITE (6,54)
	GO TO 50
	END

•

.

.

Computer Program B

This optimal control program uses four states and the usual three controls. The states are:

 $X(1) = \alpha$ (Angle of attack)

 $X(2) = \theta$ (Pitch angle)

X(3) = 0 (Pitch rate)

 $X(4) = N_{L}$ (Normal acceleration, positive in the <u>up</u> direction)

Program B differs from A in dimensioning statements and in the addition of equation (2-5) for X(4). Thus, the optimal controller has four feedbacks instead of three. A listing of this program appears on pages 30-33.

Note that the actual state X(4) used in this program is .01 N_L rather than N_L itself. As shown in the sample output (Appendix A), this makes all elements of the A and B matrices relatively equal in magnitude. When the program was run with N_L, the row four elements of the A and B matrices were two orders of magnitude greater than any other elements, giving an ill-conditioned set of differential equations that was virtually impossible to integrate. Even though this program uses a variable step size Runge-Kutta differential equation solver routine, integration was very slow with repeated overflows and underflows. The results, of course, were useless. However, by simply using .01 N_L, backward integration of the C matrix proceeds rapidly without overflow or underflow.

This is an important point that will eliminate much

of the difficulty commonly associated with application of this theory. Simple conditioning of the equations, analogous to amplitude scaling on an analog computer, will save computer time by speeding integration while improving accuracy of the results.

Additional difficulty was experienced with this program in that elements C(1,1) and C(4,4) of the C matrix did not become constant during the backwards integration. This is probably due to the fact that X(4), normal acceleration, is a combination of X(1), alpha, and X(2), theta. (See <u>Linearized Equations of Motion</u> above.) However, a series of special runs demonstrated that although the two C matrix elements did not become constant, the control (CONT) and optimal system (G) matrices computed from C did become essentially constant after approximately ten seconds of backwards integrated backwards for 20 seconds in each run, and the controllers thus computed gave excellent results on the analog simulation. A sample output of this program is included in Appendix A.

COMPUTER OPTIMIZATION PROGRAM B

```
SIBJOB
                NOMAP
SIBFTC MAIN
                XR7
      COMMON A(4,4),B(4,3),D(16,3),Q(4,4),R(3,3),C(4,4),WKA(4,4),
     ZWKB(4,4),WKC(4,4),WKD(4,4),RIBT(3,4),M,N,BRIBT(4,4)
      DIMENSION X(10), COMP(4,4), CHAR(5), EIGNV(4,2), DUMMY(10), CONT(3,4),
     ZU(3,1),WKP(3,3),XX(4,1)
      NAMELIST/INIT/N+KS+M+TF+TINC
 5
      FORMAT (4E10.0)
 2
      FORMAT(3E10.0)
 3
      READ (5, INIT)
      KTR=1
      DO 4 I=1+N
      DO 4 J=1+N
      A(I_{2}J) = 0_{*}
      COMP(I,J)=0.
      C(I,J)=0.
      Q(I,J)=0.
 4
      DO 26 I=1,M
      DO 26 J=1+N
      R(I,J)=0.
 26
      WKP(I+J)=0.
      DO 6 I=1.N
      DO 6 J=1.M
      U(J+1)=0.
      B(I+J)=0.
 6
      READ(5,5) ((Q(I,J),J=1,N),I=1,N)
      READ(5+2) ((R(I,J),J=1,M),I=1,M),((D(I,J),J=1,3),I=1,16)
 46
      CONTINUE
      FORMAT(1X,8HQ MATRIX,//)
 22
      WRITE (6.22)
 101
 23
      FORMAT(4F12.4)
      WRITE (6.23) ((Q(I.J).J=1.N).I=1.N)
      FORMAT(//,1X,8HR MATRIX,//)
 24
      WRITE(6,24)
 25
      FORMAT(3F12.4)
       WRITE(6,25) ((R(I,J),J=1,M),I=1,M)
   CHECK ACCEPTABILITY OF Q AND R MATRICES
C
 99
       FORMAT(/,1X,14HQ MATRIX CHECK)
       WRITE(6,99)
       CALL CHRPOL (Q, CHAR, N)
       CALL ROOTS (N, CHAR, EIGNV)
       DO 51 I=1.N
       TNT=EIGNV(I,1)
       IF (TNT.LT. 0.) GO TO 52
 51
       CONTINUE
 100
       FORMAT(/, 1X, 14HR MATRIX CHECK)
       WRITE(6,100)
       CALL CHRPOL(R, CHAR, M)
       CALL ROOTS (M. CHAR, EIGNV)
```

```
DO 56 I=1.M
      TNT=EIGNV(I,1)
      IF(TNT .LE. O.) GO TO 55
 56
      CONTINUE
 31
      FORMAT(// 1X , 17 HFLIGHT CONDITION , 11, //)
 50
      WRITE(6,31) KS
C COMPUTE A AND B MATRICES
      AA=1. + D(7,KS)*D(9,KS)/D(14,KS)
      AB=D(7+KS)/(D(14+KS)+AA)
      A(1,1) = -AB + D(2,KS)
      A(1+3)=1+/AA-AB+D(8+KS)
      B(1+1) = -AB = D(3+KS)
      B(1+2)=AB+D(12+KS)
      B(1+3) = -AB + D(15+KS)
      A(2+3)=1+
      AC=D(6+KS)
      AD=D(11,KS)
      A(3+1)=AC+(D(4+KS)+AD+A(1+1))
      A(3,3)=AC*(D(10,KS)+AD+A(1,3))
      B(3,1)=AC^{*}(D(5,KS)+AD^{*}B(1,1))
      B(3+2)=AC+(D(13+KS)+AD+B(1+2))
      B(3,3)=AC*(D(16,KS)+AD*B(1,3))
      AU=D(14,KS)
      AE=(AU-D(7,KS)+D(8,KS))/AA
      AF=(D(7+KS)+D(2+KS))/AA
      A(4,1)=(AU-AE)+A(3,1)+AF+A(1,1)
      A(4,1) = 01 + A(4,1)
      A(4+3)=(AU-AE)*A(3,3)+AF*A(1,3)
      A(4,3) = 01 + A(4,3)
      B(4+1)=(AU-AE)*B(3+1)+AF*B(1+1)
      B(4+1) = 01 + B(4+1)
      B(4,2)=(AU-AE)+B(3,2)+AF+B(1,2)
      B(4,2) = .01 + B(4,2)
      B(4,3)=(AU-AE)*B(3,3)+AF*B(1,3)
      B(4,3) = 01 + B(4,3)
      FORMAT(//+1X+8HA MATRIX+//)
 28
      WRITE(6,28)
      WRIVE (6,23) ((A(I,J),J=1,N),I=1,N)
      FORMAT$//,1X,8HB MATRIX,//)
 29.
      WRITE(6:29)
      WRITE (6.25) ((B(I.J),J=1.M),I=1.N)
      CALL GMTRA (B+CONT+N+M)
      CALL MTXINV(R,WKP,M)
      CALL GMPRD (WKP+CONT+RIBT+M+M+N)
      CALL GMPRD(B,RIBT,BRIBT,N,M,N)
      TS=TF
      DO 7 I=1+10
 7
      X(I)=0.
      DELT =-TINC
 11
      IF(TS.GT.0.) GO TO 12
      STOP
  INTEGRATE C MATRIX BACKWARDS, 10 STEPS
C
      DO 8 I=1,10
 12
C CALL (NO. EQN, EQN SET, VARIABLE, START TIME, DEL TIME)
      CALL
            RUNGE(10+1+X+TS+DELT)
 9
      FORMAT(1P10E12.4)
```

```
8
      CONTINUE
      CALL FCN(10,2,X,DUMMY)
      CALL MXPM (COMP, C, WKA, N, N, -1)
      SUM =0.
      DO 10 1=1.N
      DO 10 J=1.N
      COMP(I_{J})=C(I_{J})
 10
      SUM = SUM + ABS(WKA(I,J))
C CHECK FOR CONSTANCY OF C MATRIX
 14
      FORMAT(/,1X,7HTIME = ,F6.2)
      WRITE (6,14) TS
 32
      FORMAT(//, 1X, 17HFEEDBACK MATRIX C, //)
 91
      WRITE (6,32)
      FORMAT (4F12.4)
 33
      WRITE (6,33) ((C(I,J),J=1,N),I=1,N)
      IF(TS.LT.0.5) GO TO 92
      IF(SUM.GT.2.0)
                       GO TO 11
C NOW HAVE CONSTANT FEEDBACK GAIN MATRIX, C.
 92
      CONTINUE
      DO 15 I=1+N
      DO 15 J=1+N
 15
      WKA(I_J) = 0.
      CALL GMPRD(RIBT,C,CONT,M,N,N)
      DO 16 I=1+M
      DO 16 J=1+N
      CONT(I + J) = -CONT(I + J)
 16
 42
      FORMAT(//,1X,15HCONTROL= -RIBTC)
 57
      FORMAT(/+1X+42HNOTE +++ ACTUAL STATE X(4) IS +01*N SUB L+)
      WRITE(6,57)
      WRITE (6,42)
      WRITE (6,33) ((CONT(I,J),J=1,N),I=1,M)
C CONTROL VECTOR, U = (CONT)(X VECTOR)
C U(1) = ELEVATOR, U(2) = SPOILERS, U(3) = AILERONS.
      CALL GMPRD (B, CONT, WKB, N, M, N)
      CALL MXPM (A, WKB, WKA, N, N, +1)
      FORMAT(//,1X,8HA-BRIBTC,//)
 40
      WRITE (6,40)
      WRITE (6,33) ((WKA(I,J),J=1,N),I=1,N)
C \times DOT = (WKA)(X)
      CALL CHRPOL(WKA, CHAR, N)
  FIND CHARACTERITIC EQUATION OF REAL MATRIX (A) BY BOCHER FORMULA. REF
C
   234 OF DERUSSO.
C
      CALL ROOTS (N + CHAR + EIGNV)
C
   CHARACTERISTIC EQUATION AND ITS ROOTS ARE FOUND FOR LATER COMPARISON
   MODIFIED CONTROLLER.
C
C READ IN INITIAL X CONDITIONS.
   X(1)=ALPHA
               X(2)=THETA X(3)=THETA DOT=Q X(4)= .01*N SUB L
C
                                                                    (POSITI)
 17
      READ(5,5) (X(I),I=1,N)
      DELT=TINC
 21
      FORMAT(//+1X+48HNOTE, CONTROLS IN DEGREES AND ANGLES IN RADIANS.,
     ZA/+1X+30HSPOILERS BIASED UP 20 DEGREES+//)
      WRITE(6,21)
      FORMAT(4X,4HTIME,8X,5HALPHA,10X,5HTHETA,5X,9HTHETA DOT,5X,5HN ACC:
 20
     Z2HEL, 7X, BHELEVATOR, 4X, BHSPOILERS, 4X, BHAILERONS, //)
      WRITE(6,20)
      TS=0.
```

	4(2.1)=20
	V(2)1) - 2V = V(1) + 1 - 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1
	WKI1E(0917/ S9(X(1/91=19N/9(J(J91/9J=19M/
1.0	$17 = 622 \pm 17$
10	CALL RUNGE(4) JAA (S) DEL()
41	XX(1)1)=X(1)
	CALL GMPRD (CONT + XX + U + M + N + 1)
	U(1+1)=57+3+U(1+1)
	U(2,1)=57.3+U(2,1)+20.
	U(3+1)=57+3+U(3+1)
	XX(4,1)=100, *XX(4,1)
19	FORMAT(8F12+4)
	$WRITE(6,19) TS_{0}(XX(I,1),I=1,N), (U(J,1),J=1,M)$
	IF (TS.LT.TF) GO TO 18
	TF=4.+TF
	KTR=KTR+1
	KS=KS+1
	IF(KTR.EQ.4) GO TO 93
	GO TO 50
93	CONTINUE
	STOP
45	READ(5.5) ((Q(I+J)+J=1+N)+I=1+N)
	$READ(5 \circ 2) ((R(I \circ J) \circ J = 1 \circ M) \circ I = 1 \circ M)$
	60 TO 46
52	WRITE(6.53)
53	FORMAT(/.1X.47HQ MATRIX NOT POSITIVE SEMIDEFINITE AS REQUIRED.)
	GO TO 50
54	FORMATLY 1X 43HR MATRIX NOT POSITIVE DEFINITE AS REQUIRED.
55	WRITE (6.54)
	GO TO 50

Computer Program C

The controllers designed by computer program B gave good results when tested on the two degree of freedom analog simulation, and are suitable for use on the LAMS B-52. However, angle of attack is difficult to measure accurately in flight, and most aircraft are not equipped with α sensors. Therefore, α feedback was reduced as much as possible through manipulation of the Q matrix. However, analog simulation still showed noticeable performance degradation when the remaining α feedback was removed. Computer program C was then written to check the roots of the system characteristic equation with α feedback eliminated (flight condition three only). For example, consider the controller below.

Flt. Cond. 3	a FB	a FB	e FB	NL FB
Elevator	3.45	19.89	14.23	-13.97
Spoilers	2.56	-1.78	-2.71	-122.18
Ailerons	-2.57	-0.24	1.09	108.83

The roots of the optimal system characteristic equation are

S(1) = 0 S(2) = -0.054 S(3) = -2.0S(4) = -23.65

Eliminating a feedback, the roots become

S(1) = -0.122

S(2) = -1.49 + J 0.84

```
S(3) = -1.49 - J 0.84
```

S(4) = -22.95

A listing of this program follows.

	DIMENSION A(4,4),B(4,3),CONT(3,4),WKA(4,4),WKB(4,4),CHAR(5), ZEIGNV(4,2)
	N=4
	M=3
2	FORMAT(4E10.0)
	DO 3 I=1.N
	DO 3 J=1.N
3	A(I,J)=0
	DO 4 J=1 M
4	B(2,J)=0
	A(1,1) = -6939
	$\Lambda(3,1) = -2.4739$
	A(4,1) = -3.8279
	A(1,3) = .9904
	A(2,3)=1.
	A(3,3) = -6518
	$A(3_{9}4)=5_{9}1390$
	$B(1_{9}1) ={0}0211$
	$B(J_{2}) = 0.0274$
	B(193) = -00100 B(2 - 1) = -00100
	D(3)(1) = -1 + 0332
	B(392) = 0.4000
	D(3)3) = -01300 D(4-1) = -0200
	B(4+1) = -+2270 B(4+2) = -1773
	B(4+2) =0906
	PEAD(5,2) ((CONT(1,1),1=1,N),1=1,M)
	(AL) = GMPRD(B + CONT + WKA + N + M + N)
	(ALL MXPM(A WKA WKB N N + 1))
5	FORMAT (4F12.4)
6	FORMAT(//.1X.24HMODIFIED CONTROLRIBTC)
Ŭ	WRITE(6.6)
	WRITE(6.5) ((CONT(I)J) J=1.N) J=1.N)
7	FORMAT(//,1X,17HMODIFIED A-BRIBTC)
	WRITE(6.7)
	WRITE(6,5) ((WKB(I,J),J=1,N),I=1,N)
	CALL CHRPOL (WKB, CHAR, N)
	CALL ROOTS (N, CHAR, EIGNV)
	STOP
	FND
С	THIS PROGRAM USES THE FOLLOWING SUBROUTINES TAKEN FROM THE
С	OPTIMIZATION PROGRAM.
С	SUBROUTINE MXPM(A+B+C+M+N+NSGN)
C	SUBROUTINE GMPRD(A,B,C,NA,NB,NC)
C	SUBROUTINE CHRPOL(A,B,N)
C	SUBROUTINE ROOTS(IDIOT,A,D)

Computer Program D

For reasons stated above, angle of attack is not a desireable feedback in most aircraft control systems. However, program C and the analog simulation both show that eliminating a feedback from program B's output results in sub-optimal controllers. Optimization program D was written to overcome these difficulties.

Program D is similar to program A in that it uses three states and three controls. The states are

 $X(1) = .01 N_L$ (Normal acceleration, positive in the <u>up</u> direction)

 $X(2) = \theta$ (Pitch angle)

 $X(3) = \theta$ (Pitch rate)

Note that .01 N_L is again used for the same reason stated in the program B discussion. The controls are the same as in the previous programs:

 $U(1) = \delta_e$ (Elevator)

 $U(2) = \delta_{sp}$ (Spoiler)

 $U(3) = \delta_{all}$ (Aileron)

No difficulties were encountered with this program, and the two degree of freedom analog results were good. Since absence of a feedback makes program D controllers more practical than the others, they were used exclusively in the six degree of freedom piloted simulation at the AFFDL computer facility. A program listing follows, and a sample output is included in Appendix A.

COMPUTER OPTIMIZATION PROGRAM D

\$IBJOB NOMAP SIBFTC MAIN XR7 COMMON A(3,3),B(3,3),D(16,3),Q(3,3),R(3,3),C(3,3),WKA(3,3), ZWKB(3,3),WKC(3,3),WKD(3,3),RIBT(3,3),M,N,BRIBT(3,3) DIMENSION X(6), COMP(3,3), CHAR(4), EIGNV(3,2), DUMMY(6), CONT(3,3), ZU(3,1),WKP(3,3),XX(3,1) NAMELIST/INIT/N,KS,M,TF,TINC 5 FORMAT (5E10.0) 2 FORMAT(3E10.0) 3 READ (5, INIT) KTR=1 DO 4 I=1+N DO 4 J=1.N $A(I \cdot J) = 0 \cdot$ COMP(I,J)=0. C(I,J)=04 Q(I,J)=0. DO 26 I=1,M DO 26 J=1.M R(I,J)=0. 26 WKP(I,J)=0. DO 6 I=1.N DO 6 J=1.M U(J,1)=0.6 B(I+J)=0. READ(5,2) ((Q(I,J),J=1,N),I=1,N) READ(5+2) ((R(I+J)+J=1+M)+I=1+M)+((D(I+J)+J=1+3)+I=1+16) 46 CONTINUE FORMAT(1X,8HQ MATRIX,//) 22 WRITE(6,22) 23 FORMAT(5F12.4) WRITE(6,25) ((Q(I,J),J=1,N),I=1,N) FORMAT(//, 1X, 8HR MATRIX, //) 24 WRITE(6,24) 25 FORMAT(3F12.4) WRITE(6,25) ((R(I,J),J=1,M),I=1,M) CHECK ACCEPTABILITY OF Q AND R MATRICES С 99 FORMAT(/,1X,14HQ MATRIX CHECK) WRITE(6,99) CALL CHRPOL (Q, CHAR, N) CALL ROOTS (N, CHAR, EIGNV) DO 51 I=1+N TNT=EIGNV(I+1) IF (TNT.LT. 0.) GO TO 52 51 CONTINUE 100 FORMAT(/,1X,14HR MATRIX CHECK) WRITE(6,100) CALL CHRPOL (R. CHAR, M) CALL ROOTS (M, CHAR, EIGNV)

DO 56 I=1+M TNT=EIGNV(I+1) IF(TNT .LE. O.) GO TO 55 56 CONTINUE FORMAT(//, 1X, 17HFLIGHT CONDITION , 11, //) 31 50 WRITE(6,31) KS C COMPUTE A AND B MATRICES AA=1. + D(7,KS) +D(9,KS)/D(14,KS) AB=D(7,KS)/(D(14,KS)+AA) A(1,1) = -AB + D(2,KS)A(1,3)=1./AA-AB+D(8,KS) $B(1,1) = -AB \neq D(3,KS)$ B(1,2)=AB+D(12,KS) B(1,3) = -AB + D(15,KS)A(2,3)=1. AC=D(6+KS) AD=D(11,KS) $A(3,1)=AC^{*}(D(4,KS)+AD^{*}A(1,1))$ A(3,3)=AC*(D(10,KS)+AD*A(1,3)) B(3,1)=AC*(D(5,KS)+AD*B(1,1))B(3,2)=AC*(D(13,KS)+AD*B(1,2)) B(3,3)=AC*(D(16,KS)+AD*B(1,3)) AU=D(14.KS) AE=(AU-D(7,KS)*D(8,KS))/AA AF=(D(7,KS)+D(2,KS))/AA A(1,1)=01+((AU-AE)+A(3,1)+AF+A(1,1))A(1,3)=.01*((AU-AE)*A(3,3)+AF*A(1,3)) B(1,1)=.01*((AU-AE)*B(3,1)+AF*B(1,1)) B(1+2)=+01*((AU-AE)*B(3+2)+AF*B(1+2)) B(1,3)=.01*((AU-AE)*B(3,3)+AF*B(1,3)) 28 FORMAT(//+1X+8HA MATRIX+//) WRITE(6,28) WRITE(6,25) ((A(I,J),J=1,N),I=1,N) 29 FORMAT(//, 1X, 8HB MATRIX, //) WRITE(6,29) WRITE (6,25) ((B(I,J),J=1,M),I=1,N) CALL GMTRA (B, CONT, M, M) CALL MTXINV(R, WKP, M) CALL GMPRD (WKP, CONT, RIBT, M, M, N) CALL GMPRD(B,RIBT,BRIBT,N,M,N) TS=TF DO 7 I=1+6 7 X(I)=0. DELT =-TINC 11 IF(TS.GT.0.) GO TO 12 STOP INTEGRATE C MATRIX BACKWARDS, 10 STEPS C 12 DO 8 I=1+10 C CALL (NO. EQN, EQN SET, VARIABLE, START TIME, DEL TIME) CALL RUNGE(6,1,X,TS,DELT) 9 FORMAT(1P10E12.4) 8 CONTINUE CALL FCN(6,2,X,DUMMY) CALL MXPM (COMP+C+WKA+N+N+-1) SUM =0. 50 10 I=1+N

```
DO 10 J=1.N
      COMP(I,J)=C(I,J)
 10
      SUM = SUM + ABS(WKA 1,J))
C CHECK FOR CONSTANCY OF C MATRIX
      FORMAT(/,1X,7HTIME = ,F6.2)
 14
      WRITE (6.14) TS
 32
      FORMAT(//, 1X, 17HFEEDBACK MATRIX C, //)
 91
      WRITE(6,32)
 33
      FORMAT (3F12.4)
      WRITE (6,33) ((C(I,J),J=1,N),I=1,N)
      IF(TS.LT.0.5) GO TO 92
      IF (SUM .GT. 0.3)
                          GO TO 11
C NOW HAVE CONSTANT FEEDBACK GAIN MATRIX. C.
 92
      CONTINUE
      DO 15 I=1.N
      DO 15 J=1+N
 15
      WKA(I_{\bullet}J) = 0_{\bullet}
      CALL GMPRD(RIBT+C+CONT+M+N+N)
      DO 16 I=1+M
      DO 16 J=1,N
      CONT(I,J) = -CONT(I,J)
 16
      FORMAT(/+1X+42HNOTE ... ACTUAL STATE X(1) IS .01*N SUB L.)
 57
      WRITE(6.57)
 42
      FORMAT(//, 1X, 15HCONTROL = -RIBTC)
      WRITE (6,42)
      WRITE (6,33) ((CONT(I,J),J=1,N),I=1,M)
C CONTROL VECTOR, U = (CONT)(X VECTOR)
C U(1) = ELEVATOR, U(2) = SPOILERS, U(3) = AILERONS.
      CALL GMPRD (B,CONT,WKB,N,M,N)
      CALL MXPM (A, WKB, WKA, N, N, +1)
 40
      FORMAT(//, 1X, 8HA-BRIBTC, //)
      WRITE (6,40)
      WRITE (6,33) ((WKA(I,J),J=1,N),I=1,N)
C \times DOT = (WKA)(X)
      CALL CHRPOL (WKA, CHAR, N)
   FIND CHARACTERITIC EQUATION OF REAL MATRIX (A) BY BOCHER FORMULA. R
C
   234 OF DERUSSO.
C
      CALL ROOTS(N, CHAR, EIGNV)
   CHARACTERISTIC EQUATION AND ITS ROOTS ARE FOUND FOR LATER COMPARISO
С
   MODIFIED CONTROLLER.
C
C READ IN INITIAL X CONDITIONS.
  X(1)=.01*N SUB L (POSITIVE UP) X(2)=THETA X(3)=THETA DOT=Q
C
      READ(5,2) (X(I), I=1,3)
 17
      DELT=TINC
      FORMAT(//,1X,48HNOTE, CONTROLS IN DEGREES AND ANGLES IN RADIANS.
 21
     Z//,1X,30HSPOILERS BIASED UP 20 DEGREES.,//)
      WRITE(6.21)
      FORMAT(4X,4HTIME,8X,7HN ACCEL,9X,5HTHETA,5X,9HTHETA DOT,5X,
 20
     Z8HELEVATOR, 4X, 8HSPOILERS, 4X, 8HAILERONS, //)
      WRITE(6,20)
      TS=0.
      U(2,1)=20.
 19
      FORMAT(7F12.4)
      WRITE(6,19) TS,(X(I),I=1,3),(U(J,1),J=1,M)
      TF=+5+TF
 18
      CALL RUNGE (3,3,%,TS,DELT)
```

	$DO 41 I=1 \cdot N$
41	$X \times (I, 1) = X (I)$
	CALL GMPRD(CONT,XX,U,M,N,1)
	XX(1,1)=100.*XX(1,1)
*	U(1,1)=57.3+U(1,1)
	U(2,1)=57.3*U(2,1)+20.
	U(3,1)=57.3*U(3,1)
	WRITE(6,19) TS,(XX(I,1),(=1,N),(U(J,1),J=1,M)
	IF (TS.LT.TF) GL TO 18
	TF=2.+TF
	KTR=KTR + 1
	IF (KTR.EQ.11) GO TO 93
	GO TO 45
93	CONTINUE
	STOP
45	READ(5,2) ((Q(I,J),J=1,N),I=1,N),((R(I,J),J=1,M),I=1,M))
	GO TO 46
52	WRITE(6,53)
53	FORMAT(/,1X,47HQ MATRIX NOT POSITIVE SEMIDEFINITE AS REQUIRED.)
	GO TO 50
54	FORMAT(/,1X,43HR MATRIX NOT POSITIVE DEFINITE AS REQUIRED.)
55	WRITE (6,54)
	GO TO 50
	END

Standard Subroutines

Except for required dimensioning changes, identical subroutines were used for all the optimization programs. They are:

<u>Sub 1</u> FCN (KP.J2.X.F). If J2 = 1, derivitives of the matrix Riccati equation are computed for use in Runge-Kutta integration (sub 2). Note the simplification due to C matrix symmetry. If J2 = 2, the C matrix is filled for the "C matrix constancy check" in the main program. If J2 = 3, derivitives of the optimal system equations are computed for use in sub 2.

<u>Sub 2</u> <u>RUNGE (N.J2.Y.X.DX)</u>. This is a variable step size Runge-Kutta digital equation solver provided by the Digital Computation Center (Bldg. 57).

<u>Sub 3 MXPM (A.B.C.M.N.NSGN)</u>. Used for addition and subtraction of matrices.

Sub 4 GMTRA (A.B.M.N). Matrix transposition.

Sub 5 GMPRD (A.B.C.NA.NB.NC). Matrix multiplication.

Sub 6 MTXINV (A.B.N). This matrix inversion routine was also supplied by the Digital Computation Center.

Sub 7 CHRPOL (A.B.N). The characteristic polynomial of a real matrix is computed by the Bocher formula (Ref 4:234).

<u>Sub 8 HOOTS (IDIOF.A.D)</u>. This subroutine was adapted from an existing AFIT-AID program. It is used after CHRPOL to find the roots of the characteristic polynomials. These roots are the eigenvalues of the input matrix.

All subroutines preserve their input data. Appendix B

is a complete listing of all subrout'nes.

Manipulation of Q and R Matrices

Figure 2-3 expands the integral portion of Kalman's quadratic cost function. A study of these expansions will go far in explaining manipulation of the Q and R matrices to achieve the desired results. Optimization program D states are used for illustration. Two points should be kept in mind throughout the following discussion.

1. Every controller produced by the digital computer programs is optime? for the costs assigned in the Q and R matrices. Manipulation of the cost matrices is only required to find the costs that translate into good flying qualities. Final evaluation of flying qualities must be done on the (two degree of freedom) analog simulation.

2. Since there are no constraints on controls in the optimization programs, the controllers are not necessarily practical. Integration of the optimal system equations with an initial 0 of 0.1 radian helps establish the practicality of the controllers.

Clearly, Q_{11} weights the cost of non-zero normal acceleration, Q_{22} weights pitch angle, and Q_{33} weights pitch rate. For the controls, R_{11} weights the cost of elevator usage, R_{22} weights spoiler cost, and R_{33} weights alleron usage. These main diagonal elements of the Q and R matrices are the most important and are often the only ones used. The sample optimization program outputs in

GUC/EE/68-8

$$\begin{split} \underline{X}^{T} Q \underline{X} &= \begin{bmatrix} N_{L} \ \Theta \ \dot{\Theta} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} Q_{11} & Q_{12} & Q_{13} \\ Q_{21} & Q_{22} & Q_{23} \\ Q_{31} & Q_{32} & Q_{33} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} N_{L} \\ \Theta \\ \dot{\Theta} \\ \dot{\Theta} \end{bmatrix} \\ &= \begin{bmatrix} N_{L} \ \Theta \ \dot{\Theta} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} Q_{1} & N_{L} &+ Q_{12} \ \Theta &+ Q_{13} \ \dot{\Theta} \\ Q_{21} & N_{L} &+ Q_{12} \ \Theta &+ Q_{23} \dot{\Theta} \\ Q_{31} & N_{L} &+ Q_{32} \ \Theta &+ Q_{33} \dot{\Theta} \end{bmatrix} \\ \underline{X}^{T} Q \underline{X} & Q_{11} N_{L}^{2} &+ Q_{12} & i v_{L} \ \Theta &+ Q_{13} N_{L} \ \dot{\Theta} \\ Q_{21} & N_{L} \ \Theta &+ Q_{22} \ \Theta^{2} &+ Q_{33} \ \dot{\Theta} \\ Q_{31} & N_{L} \ \dot{\Theta} &+ Q_{32} \ \dot{\Theta} &+ Q_{33} \ \dot{\Theta}^{2} \\ \end{bmatrix} \\ \begin{array}{c} \underline{X}^{T} Q \underline{X} & Q_{11} N_{L}^{2} &+ Q_{12} & i v_{L} \ \Theta &+ Q_{13} N_{L} \ \dot{\Theta} \\ Q_{21} & N_{L} \ \Theta &+ Q_{22} \ \Theta^{2} &+ Q_{33} \ \dot{\Theta}^{2} \\ \end{bmatrix} \\ \begin{array}{c} \underline{X}^{T} Q \underline{X} & Q_{11} & N_{L}^{2} &+ Q_{12} & i v_{L} \ \Theta &+ Q_{13} & N_{L} \ \dot{\Theta} \\ Q_{21} & N_{L} \ \Theta &+ Q_{32} \ \Theta^{2} &+ Q_{33} \ \dot{\Theta}^{2} \\ \end{bmatrix} \\ \begin{array}{c} \underline{X}^{T} Q \underline{X} & Q_{11} & N_{L}^{2} &+ Q_{12} & i v_{L} \ \Theta &+ Q_{13} & N_{L} \ \dot{\Theta} \\ Q_{21} & N_{L} \ \Theta &+ Q_{32} \ \Theta^{2} &+ Q_{33} \ \dot{\Theta}^{2} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \underline{X}^{T} Q \underline{X} & R_{11} & S_{E}^{2} & R_{12} \ S_{E} S_{SP} & R_{13} \ S_{E} S_{A1L} \\ R_{21} & S_{E} S_{SP} & R_{22} \ S_{SP}^{2} & R_{23} \ S_{SP} S_{A1L} \\ R_{31} & S_{E} S_{A1L} & R_{32} \ S_{SP} S_{A1L} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \underline{Y} & W e e e \\ U_{I} &= S_{E} & U_{2} \ = S_{SP} & U_{3} \ = S_{A1L} \end{array} \end{array}$$

Fig. 2-3. Expansion of Quadratic Cost Function

Appendix A show Q and R matrices which produced controllers with good flight characteristics.

If the Q's are increased and/or the R's are decreased, the controllers become "stronger." That is. pitch angle, pitch rate, and normal acceleration are kept closer to zero. Note in Figure 2-4 below that 0 feedback to the allerons is positive. That is, if 0 is positive. aileron deflection is positive (T.E. down), producing negative pitching moment which tends to drive 0 toward zero. However, in earlier runs with $Q_{22} = Q_{23} = 10$, θ feedback to the allerons was actually negative, and θ and θ feedbacks to the other controls were much smaller. Note also the sign reversal of N_{I} feedback to spoilers between the 4X (weaker) and 6X (stronger) controllers. Compared to their 4X counterparts, the 6X controllers reduce N_L about five percent when responding to the 0.1 radian 0 initial conditions. Performance in driving 0 to zero was not measurably affected.

Another interesting point is that as the controllers become stronger they become more similar for the three LAMS flight conditions. Figure 2-5 below shows the 4% series controllers (X indicates flight condition) which were used for most of the testing with the six degree of freedom simulation at the Flight Dynamics Laboratory. These controllers are relatively weak in normal acceleration control (note magnitude of Q_{11} VS Q_{22} and Q_{33}), and N_L feedback varies appreciably in the three flight conditions. However,

q	MATRI	ĸ	C	ONTROLLER	R 61 FEEDE	ACKS
ı	0	0	of	NL	θ	ė
0	40	0	åe	7777	30.35	21.23
0	0 2	20	å sp	0892	-8.464	-6.200
			⁵ a11	.1791	1.670	1.368
	R MATRI	c x	c	ONTROLLER	63* FEED	BACKS
.04	0	0	of	NL	θ	ė
0	.04	0	se T	7904	30.51	21.60
0	0	.04	åsp	2155	-7.689	-5.884
			ail	.2074	2.058	1.734

Fig. 2-4. 6X Series Controllers * Last digit indicates flight condition

they are strong θ and $\dot{\theta}$ controllers, and these feedbacks are essentially the same for all three flight conditions. Since the three LAMS flight conditions vary appreciably in speed, altitude, gross weight (see page 74), there is a possibility that a single fixed gain direct lift controller could be used in the entire B-52 flight envelope.

Somewhat surprising is the fact that zero cost for a state, N_L for instance, does <u>not</u> mean that N_L feedback will be zero. Although the actual figures are not shown, the N_L feedback in this case helps to control θ .

<u>Aileron/Elevator Controllers</u>. By increasing R_{22} from .04 to ten, the spoiler feedbacks were reduced essen-

Q	MATRI	x		CONTROLLER	41 FEED	BACKS
0.5	0	0	of	NL	θ	ė
0	40	0	őe	9859	30.29	21.24
0	0	20	8 sp	.1192	-8.648	-6.213
			⁶ ail	.0586	1.811	1.379
F	MATRI	x	(CONTROLLER	42 FEED	ACKS
.04	0	0	lo	NL	θ	ė
0	.04	0	åe	-1.0055	30.35	21.53
0	0	.04	\$sp	.0804	-8.384	-6.118
			ail	.1056	1.783	1.407
			C	ONTROLLER	43 FEEDE	ACKS
			of	NL	θ	i
			åe	-1.0200	30.44	21.61
			åsp	.0461	-7.972	-5.896
			Se11	.0638	2.243	1.742

Fig. 2-5 4X Series Controllers

tially to zero as shown in Fig. 2-6 below. A three-control system with the same Q matrix is shown in Fig. 2-7, page 48. These alleron/elevator controllers provided a measure of DLC benefits, and would be suitable for longterm usage. Due to the increased drag, a controller that uses spoilers biased up 20° can only be used for short

periods such as during refueling and landing approach. These aileron/elevator controllers were not pursued extensively due to the limited simulator availability. In addition, the B-52 ailerons are relatively ineffective due to their small size (see D-15 and D-16, Fig. 2-2, page 21). In fact, the fleet G and H model B-52's have no ailerons at all. However, the design method for aileron/elevator controllers has been demonstrated, and this scheme could be very useful on a different aircraft, possibly for gust alleviation during cruise.

Q	MATR	IX		CONTROL	ER FEEDBACKS	
2	0	0	of	NL	θ	ė
0	40	0	őe	2853	31.49	22.08
0	0	20	5 sp	0021	0337	0257
			⁶ a11	.4206	1.472	1.4112
R	MATRI	ГX		(Flight	Condition 1)	
.04	0	0				
0	10	0				
0	0	.04				

Fig. 2-6 Alleron/Elevator Controller

Off-Diagonal Elements. The following discusses use of non-zero off-diagonal elements in the Q and R matrices. All the controllers discussed are variations of controller 61 as shown in Fig. 2-4, page 45 and as included in Appendix

2	MATRI	x		CONTROLLER	71 PEEDE	BACKS
2	0	0	0	f N _L	θ	
0	40	0	δe	3684	30.44	21.21
0	0	20	^{\$} sp	4971	-8.107	-6.165
R	MATRI	x	⁶ ai:	.4145	1.398	1.348
.04	0	0				
0	.04	0				
0	0	.04				

Fig. 2-7. Controller 71 Feedbacks

A. All comparisons are to controller 61. They are labeled Y61 for identification, as all incorporate flight condition one data. Computer optimization program D was used exclusively. In each case, all off-diagonal elements except those mentioned are zero.

Controller 161 was designed with $R_{23} = -0.04$. From Fig. 2-3, page 43, this element represents spoilers and allerons working together. The negative sign of R_{23} means that use of spoilers and allerons in the positive (or negative) direction simultaneously is encouraged by a negative cost. Compared to controller 61, the elevator and alleron feedbacks (opposite in sign to the alleron feedbacks) are reduced by 20%, and the N_L feedback to the spoilers is reversed in sign, making it the same sign as alleron N_L feedback. In the response to 0.1 radian initial 0, normal acceleration of controller 161 is slightly larger than that
of 61. This is logical since the spoiler N_L feedback is more affected by R_{23} cost than by the N_L cost.

Controller 261 was designed with $R_{32} = .02$. This element also represents spoilers and ailerons working together; the positive value encourages deflections of opposite sign. Due to the sign conventions used (page 12), positive spoiler movement (TE up) and negative aileron movement (TE up) have similar aerodynamic effects. Compared to controller 61, 261's elevator and spoiler feedbacks are unchanged, but the aileron θ and $\dot{\theta}$ feedbacks are tripled, and aileron N_L feedback is increased 22%.

Controller 361 was designed with $R_{12} = 0.04$, which encourages elevator and spoiler movements of opposite sign. (Normal movements are opposite in sign to cancel pitching moments.) Controllers 61 and 361 are compared below. The response to 0.1 radian of θ is essentially unchanged.

	CONTROLLE	R 61/361 FEEDBAC	KS
of	NL	θ	ė
ô _e	7777/4252	30.35/34.59	21.23/24.39
δ _{sp}	0892/1470	-8.464/-7.511	-6.200/-5.512
ail	.1791/ .1907	1.670/ 1.461	1.368/1.218

Fig. 2-8 Controller 61/361 Comparison

Controller 461 was designed with $R_{21} = -0.02$, <u>discouraging</u> the normal elevator and spciler movements of

opposite sign. Controllers 61 and 461 are compared below. The response of 461 to the 0.1 radian initial 0 is slightly degraded, and flying qualities would also be poorer.

	CONTROLLER	8 61/461 FEEDBAG	CKS
of	NL	θ	ė
°e	7777/7847	30.35/32.51	21.23/22.80
⁶ sp	0892/4792	-8.464/7.148	-6.200/4.738
ail		1.670/1.818	1.368/1.475

Fig. 2-9. Controller 61/461 Comparison

The effect of R_{31} and R_{13} (elevator and allerons used together) would be similar to the effects of R_{12} and R_{21} on elevator and spoiler feedbacks. This concludes the discussion of the R matrix.

The first Q matrix demonstration controller, 561, was designed with $Q_{23} = 40$. This element weights the cost of θ multiplied by $\dot{\theta}$. If θ is positive and a negative $\dot{\theta}$ is commanded (the normal situation), the cost is negative. This controller is <u>identical</u> to controller 61. If $Q_{23} = Q_{32} = 40$, the controller is still unchanged. However, only one second of real time backward integration is required before the C matrix becomes constant. All other runs of program D required 2.5 seconds of backward integration. Thus, a small saving of computer time is possible. This interesting effect is also illustrated in the program A

sample output in Appendix A.

Controller 661 was designed with $Q_{31} = -5$. This element weights N_L multiplied by θ and encourages these states to be of like sign. Since N_L = U₀ θ - α , a negative Q_{31} does no violence to the controller's normal function, and 661 is identical to 61. On the other hand, when Q_{13} , the other N_L θ weight, is made <u>plus</u> ten, the controller is radically changed and becomes useless for direct lift control.

In summary, the use of the off-diagonal elements is straightforward. Some, such as the positive Q₁₃, specify ludicrous requirements. However, if there are legitimate reasons for restricting certain combinations of controller usage or vehicle motions, the proper elements of the Q and R matrices to be weighted are easily determined. Of course, one must maintain the Q matrix positive semi-definite and the R matrix positive definite. All three optimization programs presented in this chapter automatically check the matrices before proceeding with controller design.

Digital Running Time Comparison

In a normal run, an optimization program was used to design a controller for each of the three LAMS flight conditions using the same Q and R matrices. The average IBM 7094 time required was:

Optimization Program A . . . 90 seconds

" " B... 235 seconds " D... 77 seconds

Program B is severely penalized by the somewhat arbitrary

requirement of integrating the C matrix backwards for 20 seconds (see page 29). Program A averaged three seconds of real time C matrix integration, while program D required only 2.5 seconds.

Normal Acceleration Reduction

Although it was not one of the original objectives of this study, Chapter VI shows that normal acceleration of the direct lift controlled aircraft was significantly less than that of the basic aircraft. This is true for the climb and descent maneuvers both with and without turbulence, and raises the possibility of increasing aircraft structural life through DLC. When this effect was noted in the 4X controllers, the 6X controllers were designed with Q_{11} , cost of N_L, increased from 0.5 to 1.0. This reduced N_L mean absolute values another percentage point or two, and made it easier for the pilots to maintain a specified rate of climb or descent. Clearly, the possibilities of DLC in this regard have not been exhausted. Additional controllers should be designed with much larger values of Q11. This is easily done, but unfortunately neither analog computer facility was available for testing these controllers.

Potentiometer Settings

The output of the optimization programs (CONTROL = -RIBTC) translates directly into potentiometer settings for the analog simulations. This is illustrated below for controlker 41 and the six degree of freedom simulation.

NOTE .	. ACTUAL	STATE X(1)	IS .01 * N	SUB L
δe	9859	30.2938	21.2357	NL
sp =	.1192	-8.6476	-6.2125	0
ail	.0586	1.8110	1.3787	9
	L.		1	. J

Variable Pot Settings

Pot No.	Page No.	Parameter	Gain	Setting
247	11	5 Da to se	1	0
Q83	11	.01 N _I , to &e	1	.9859
Q55	11	e to se	10 *	. 3029
Q52	11	20 to se	10 *	.1062
249	11	5 Da to 8 sp	1	0
Q63	11	.01 NL to Sp	10.	.0119 #
Q54	11	e to sp	10	.8648
Q53	11	20 to sp	10	. 3106
Q85	12	5 da to sail	1	0
Q80	12	.01 N _L to sail	1	.0586
Q84	12	0 to Sail	10	.1811
286	12	20 to Sail	10	.0689

* An additional 10 gain is provided in the program.
To A 45. For 6X controllers where FB is negative.
connect to A 64.

Other Design Considerations

The controller schematics are shown on pages 64 and 65 for the short period approximation and on pages 90 and 91 for the six degree of freedom simulation. These controllers consist basically of first order serve approximations, K/(S + K) where K = 1/Time constant, fed by stick output and the feedbacks specified by the digital optimization program. The time constants were varied from 0.1 second to as much as six seconds with good results. The only requirement is that the three control surface actuators have reasonably equal time constants. Direct lift control definitely does <u>not</u> depend on the LAMS high speed actuators.

<u>Crossfeeds</u>. The original controller design used crossfeeds between elevators and spoilers, etc., based on a study of the literature concerning conventionally designed direct lift control systems. Experimentation with the two degree of freedom simulation soon showed that these feedbacks degraded system performance. This is logical, since the N_L , 0 and 0 feedbacks provide an optimal ratio of control surface movements. Any additional items such as prossfeeds only destroy the optimality of the controllers.

Elevator Washout Circuit. The elevator controller shown on pages 64 and 90 incorporates a washout circuit for the 0 and 0 feedbacks. This circuit was used during the piloted simulation at AFFDL and results were good, as shown in Chapter VI. The purpose of this washout was to assist the pilot in rotating the aircraft if a long climb

became necessary. Later tests on the two degree of freedom simulation showed that DLC performance could be improved by eliminating the washout integrator. In other words, the low values of θ shown in the results can be reduced to practically zero. Again, the washout modified the optimal feedback ratios, and degraded performance. Although use of this washout circuit during nearly all of the data runs was unfortunate, it did demonstrate the true optimality of the digitally designed controllers.

Interestingly, the aircraft is also easier to handle on long climbs without the washout circuit. For a climb, the pilot pulls back on the stick, the ailerons go down, the spoilers go down, and the elevator goes up. At a rate of climb of 400-600 feet per minute (depending on flight conditions), the ailerons and spoilers are full down. If the pilot pulls the stick further, only the elevator is able to respond, and the aircraft rotates for a normal climb. When the desired altitude is reached, the pilot releases the stick and the controller feedbacks return the plane to a horizontal attitude. The controller then automatically returns the ailerons and elevator to neutral and the spoilers to their 20° bias position.

<u>Stick-to-Elevator Gain</u>. Pages 90 and 91 of the six degree of freedom simulation show that electrical stick output is fed directly to the spoiler and aileron servos. However, stick output to the elevator servo is fed through a potentiometer set at .3700. This gain can be established

by adding the aileron and spoiler pitching moment coefficients and dividing by the elevator pitching moment coefficient (see page 21). Analog experimentation showed this gain was acceptable in all flight conditions. Thus, initial stick movement causes little aircraft pitching. Maximum stick output was adjusted to allow full elevator deflection.

Altitude Hold Mode. An altitude hold circuit was designed which maintains altitude within a few feet, without pitching the aircraft, in the face of relatively severe turbulence. This circuit is only shown on the two degree of freedom schematics since it was designed after completion of the piloted simulation at AFFDL. The complete circuit is reproduced below, showing the ease of adding altitude hold to a DLC system. Results are shown in Fig. 6-19, page 134.



Chapter III

Two Degree of Freedom Analog Program

The purpose of this analog simulation is preliminary testing of controllers designed by the digital optimization programs. Thus, the equations used represent the short period approximation as discussed in Chapter II. The analog equations differ from the digital equations only in the addition of trim terms due to throttle and stabilizer. In addition, the analog program uses a diode function generator to simulate the actual spoiler attenuation constant. (See Fig. 3-1, next page.) Schematics are found on pages 63-68, and Appendix E contains the potentiometer and amplifier assignment sheets.

Equipment Used

Three Electronics Associates Inc. EAI TR-48 transistorized analog computers (Fig. 3-2) located in building 640, AFIT-SE (Math Dept.), were used. Auxiliary equipment included a force stick for "flying" the simulation, a noise generator, strip recorders, an X-Y plotter, and panel meters (Fig. 3-3). The meters displayed all flight parameters normally available to the pilot, plus angle of attack and movements of the three control surfaces. The noise generator, together with the filter on schematic sheet 13 simulated verti-



Fig. 3-1. Spoiler Attenuation Constant



Two Degree of Freedom Simulation

F16. 3-2.

GGC/EE/68-8



TDF Simulation Force Stick and Meters F16. 3-3.

cal turbulence. Switches were used for rapid conversion from basic to direct lift controlled aircraft and back again.

Assumptions

The short period approximation equations ignore lateral motion and eliminate the phugoid mode by assuming constant airspeed. Since direct lift control is a longitudinal phenomenon, the first assumption is well-justified. In the six degree of freedom simulation (See Chapters IV and V), the pilots had no difficulty maintaining airspeed within ± ten knots, so the second assumption is also well-justified. Chapter VI, pages 113-121, compares basic aircraft responses (flight condition 1) from the two and six degree of freedom simulations.

Angle of Attack

As explained in Chapter IV, the equations of motion are for perturbations about the three LAMS flight conditions listed on page 74. However, when the spoilers are biased up 20°, an additional angle of attack term must be added to trim the aircraft. The additional angle of attack required in the various flight conditions is:

Flight condition 1 . . . 0.30° Flight condition 2 . . . 0.36° Flight condition 3 . . . 0.38°

as verified in the six degree of freedom simulation.

Value of the Simulation

This simulation proved invaluable, especially in view

of the limited availability of the Flight Dynamics Laboratory facilities. Digitally designed controllers were tested rapidly, and the results provided a basis for manipulating the Q and R matrices in the quadratic cost function. The controllers eventually chosen (identified as 4X, where X is flight condition) were used without modification for data runs at FDL, and gave good results. Later, the 6X controllers were added to improve gust alleviation. However, the third TR-48 computer, needed for the noise filter and MAV circuits, was not available at AFIT-SE until after completion of the FDL simulation. If the additional machine had been available earlier, this controller improvement would also have been indicated by the two degree of freedom simulation.

In summary, a two degree of freedom simulation can provide a wealth of reliable data on direct lift controllers with a modest amount of equipment. The short period approximation is recommended without hesitation for time and equipment savings in preliminary direct lift controller design and/or in DLC feasability studies for various aircraft types.

Direct Lift Control for LAMS B-52

Simulation of Short Period Approximation for Preliminary Controller Checkout

at AFIT-SE-MATH DEPT. Building 640 3-EAI-TR-48 Analog Computers (10 V Ref) Machine 1 - 200 Series Numbers " 2 - 100 Series Numbers " 3 - Regular Numbers

U = Constant in each flight condition V = P = R = \emptyset = Y = 0 Q = $\hat{\theta}$

For Basic Aircraft

Swl01-R SW102-C SW103-L SW104-C SW105-L Disconnect Al20 from All1 (Prevent overloads). Change stick input, Al23 to gain 5. Turm off alleron and spoiler recording.

For Controlled Aircraft

SW101-L SW102-L SW103-R SW104-L SW105-C Reconnect Al20 to All1. Change stick input, Al23 to gain 10.

Turn on aileron and spoiler recording.

Symbol Code



GGC/ BE/68-8



-

64

GGC/EE/68-8



1023-

GOC/EE/68-8





67

.

GGC/EE/68-8



Chapter IV

Six Degree of Freedom Analog Program

The equations of motion (as shown below) and the aerodynamic coefficients for the LAMS B-52E were obtained from The Boeing Company, Wichita Division, Wichita, Kansas. It was from these equations and aerodynamic coefficients that the analog program representing a six degree of freedom simulation was derived and the schematics were drawn.

Airplane Equations of Motion

The following equations of movion were used to simulate airplane dynamics.

X-Equations.

$$\dot{\mathcal{U}} = RV - QW - g\theta + \frac{1}{m}\Sigma F_{X} \qquad (4-1)$$

where F_X includes aerodynamic and propulsive forces and can be expressed as

$$\Sigma F_{\rm X} = q S \Sigma C_{\rm X} \tag{4-2}$$

where

$$\Sigma C_{x} = \frac{T}{95} - C_{O_{CLEAN}} - C_{O_{SSP}} S_{SP} \qquad (4-3)$$

$$+ (C_{L_{CLEAN}} - C_{O_{SSP}}) + C_{x_{u}} \Delta U$$

Y-Equations.

$$\dot{V} = PW - RU + gSIN\phi + \frac{1}{m}\Sigma F_{y} \qquad (4-4)$$

where F_{Υ} includes aerodynamic and propulsive forces and can be expressed as

$$\Sigma F_{y} = g S \Sigma C_{y} \tag{4-5}$$

where

$$\Sigma C_{y} = C_{y_{p}} \left(\beta + \beta_{GUST} \right) + \frac{185}{2U_{o}} C_{y_{p}} P \qquad (4-6) + C_{y_{SSP}} S_{SP}$$

Z-Equations.

$$\dot{W} = QU - PV + g\cos\phi + \frac{1}{m}\Sigma F_{z} \qquad (4-7)$$

where F_{Z} includes aerodynamic and propulsive forces and can be expressed as

$$\Sigma F_{Z} = g S \Sigma C_{Z} \tag{4-8}$$

where

$$\begin{split} \Sigma C_{\Xi} &= -C_{i_{CLEAN}} - (C_{L_{\infty}} + C_{0})(\Delta \infty + \alpha_{GUST}) \\ &+ C_{i_{CLEAN}} - (C_{L_{\infty}} + C_{0})(\Delta \infty + \alpha_{GUST}) \\ &+ C_{i_{SSTA0}} \Delta U + C_{i_{SSF}} S_{SSP} - C_{i_{Se}} S_{e} \\ &- C_{i_{SSTA0}} - C_{i_{SSF}} S_{SSP} - C_{i_{Se}} S_{e} \\ &- C_{i_{SSTA0}} - C_{i_{SAIL}} S_{AIL} - \frac{\overline{c}}{2U_{o}} (C_{i_{S}} Q + C_{i_{\infty}} \dot{\alpha}) \end{split}$$

P-Equations.

$$\dot{P} = -QR \frac{(I_{RR} - I_{YY})}{I_{XX}} + \frac{1}{I_{XX}} \Sigma \mathcal{L} \qquad (4-10)$$

The cross product of inertia terms and the effect of spinning rotors were assumed to be negligible. $\Sigma \mathcal{L}$ includes aerodynamic and propulsive effects and can be expressed as

$$\Sigma \mathcal{L} = q S b \Sigma C_{\ell} \tag{4-11}$$

where

$$\begin{split} \Sigma C_{\mathcal{R}} &= C_{\mathcal{I}_{\beta}} \left(\beta + \beta_{GUST}\right) + \frac{185}{2U_{o}} \left(C_{\mathcal{R}_{Y}} R + C_{\mathcal{R}_{\beta}} P\right) \\ &+ C_{\mathcal{R}_{SAIL}} S_{AIL} + C_{\mathcal{R}_{SSP}} S_{SP} \end{split}$$

Q-Equations.

$$\dot{Q} = RP \left(\frac{I_{zz} - I_{xx}}{I_{yy}} \right) + \frac{1}{I_{yy}} Z \mathcal{M}$$
(4-13)

The cross product of inertia terms and the effects of spinning rotors were assumed to be negligible. $\Sigma 777$ includes aerodynamic and propulsive effects and can be expressed as

$$\Sigma \mathcal{M} = q S \overline{c} \Sigma C_{M} \tag{4-14}$$

where

$$\sum C_{M} = C_{M_{0}} + C_{M_{STAB}} \Delta_{STAB} + C_{M_{Se}} S_{e} + C_{M_{Ssp}} S_{Sp} \qquad (4-15)$$

$$+ C_{M_{SAIL}} S_{AIL} + \frac{T_{ETe}}{gSE} + \frac{\overline{c}}{2U} \left(C_{M_{g}} Q + C_{M_{sc}} \dot{Q} \right) + C_{M_{sc}} \left(\Delta \alpha + \alpha_{GUST} \right)$$

R-Equations.

$$\dot{R} = -PQ \left(\frac{I_{YY} - I_{XX}}{I_{ZZ}}\right) + \frac{1}{I_{ZZ}} \Sigma \eta \qquad (4-16)$$

The cross product of inertia terms and the effect of spinning rotors were assumed to be negligible. 297 includes aerodynamic and propulsive effects and can be expressed as

$$\Sigma \eta = g S \delta \Sigma C_N \tag{4-17}$$

where

$$\Sigma C_{N} = C_{n_{\beta}}(\beta + \beta_{SUST}) + \frac{185}{2U_{o}}(C_{n_{\gamma}}R + C_{n_{\rho}}P) + C_{n_{SSP}}S_{SSP} \quad (4-18)$$

Spoiler Equations

The spoilers are actuated by wheel position in the basic aircraft and by wheel position and/or stick position in the direct lift controlled aircraft. The effect of spoiler deflection was included in all six equations of motion az follows:

X-Equation.

$$C_{0_{S_{S_{P}}}}S_{S_{P}} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\Delta C_{0}}{K_{0}} \frac{1}{C_{0S} 32.4^{\circ}} \left\{ K_{0_{R}} \cos \left[32.4^{\circ} - (\beta + \beta_{G}) \right] + K_{0_{L}} \cos \left[32.4^{\circ} + (\beta + \beta_{G}) \right] \right\}$$
(4-19)

Y-Equation.

$$C_{Y_{SSP}} S_{SP} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\Delta C_{p}}{K_{0}} \frac{TAN 32.4^{\circ}}{COS 32.4^{\circ}} \{K_{0} \cos \left[32.4^{\circ} + (\beta + \beta_{c})\right] - K_{0} \cos \left[32.4^{\circ} - (\beta + \beta_{c})\right]\}$$

$$(4-20)$$

Z-Equation.

$$C_{L_{SSP}} S_{SP} = \frac{1}{2} \Delta C_{L_{MAX}} \left(\frac{C_R}{C_{R_{MAX}}} \right) K_{D_R} K_{D_L}$$
(4-21)

F-Rovation.

$$C_{RSSP} = \begin{pmatrix} \beta & \beta_{B} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\partial \Delta C_{RMAX}}{\partial \beta} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} C_{R} & K_{D_{L}} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 4-22 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{C_{RMAX}}{F_{CW}} \end{pmatrix} F_{CW} \begin{pmatrix} C_{RMAX} & M_{D_{L}} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 4-22 \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix}$$

Q-Equation.

$$C_{M_{SSP}}S_{SP} = \frac{1}{2} \Delta C_{M_{MAX}} \left(\frac{C_R}{C_{R_{MAX}}} \right) \left(K_{O_R} K_{O_L} \right) (4-23)$$

R-Equation.

$$C_{n_{SSP}} S_{SP} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{TAN 32.4^{\circ}}{COS 32.4^{\circ}} \frac{\Delta C_{0}}{K_{0}} \left\{ Cos \left[32.4^{\circ} - (\beta + \beta_{6}) \right] \right. \\ \left. \left[\frac{(\chi_{R_{0}} K_{DR_{0}} + \chi_{AT} K_{ORT})}{/85} + \frac{(59K_{0R0} + 48.5 K_{ORT})}{/85} \right] \\ \left. - (Os 32.4^{\circ} + (\beta + \beta_{6})) \left[\frac{59K_{0L0} + 48.5 K_{0LT}}{/85 7AN 32.4^{\circ}} \right] \\ \left. + \frac{(\chi_{LO}K_{DL0} + \chi_{LT} K_{OLT})}{/85} \right] \right\}$$

The non-linear spoiler attenuation constant, K, is shown on Fig. 3-1, page 58 as a function of spoiler position.

Quasi-Elastic Perturbation Equations

It should be noted that this is not a rigid body simulation, but rather a "quasi-elastic" simulation. This means that the aerodynamic coefficients have been modified to account for body bending and fin torsion. This was possible because of the hundreds of hours of recorded B-52E flight date available to Boeing for analysis, and their simulation with five degrees of freedom and 65 structural modes. This simulation was used to verify the "corrected" aerodynamic coefficients. A sample derivation of an elastic coefficient was obtained from The Boeing Co. and is found in Appendix C.

The equations of motion with the corresponding constant coefficients are for small perturbations about the same flight conditions used in flight testing the LAMS B-52E. These three conditions provide a variety of airspeeds and altitudes as summarized below.

	ALTITUDE	WIDIT CHIVE	SPIDED	
Flight Condition 1 (Terrain Following)	4,000 ft	350,000 lbs	370 KEAS/.57 Mach 626 ft/sec	
Flight Condition 2 (Approach/Landing)	4,000 ft	350,000 lbs	254 KEAS/.39 Mach 429 ft/sec	
Flight Condition 3 (Refueling)	32,700 ft	270,000 lbs	448 KEAS/.78 Mach 758 ft/sec	

Because of the constant coefficients, the equations of motion are perturbation equations, and it is necessary to remain close to the flight conditions listed above. Changes of plus or minus 2000 feet in altitude and plus or minus 20

knots in airspeed was considered allowable. Wit these limitations in mind, the tasks listed in Figs. 5-, 5-6, and 5-7, pages 107, 110, and 111 were selected.

Preliminary Study

It was originally planned to use only the AFFDL (Air Force Flight Dynamics Laboratory) analog computers and moving base cockpit simulator for the program checkout and the pilot-in-the-loop simulation. This was soon found to be infeasible due to a delay in checkout and acceptance by the Laboratory of the new hybrid computer system which in turn caused a backlog of programs to be completed. This also necessitated limiting the simulation to one Electronics Associates Inc. EAI 231R analog computer in order to have the remaining computers available for Government contractors. It was therefore necessary to use the Analog and Hybrid Computation Center located in Building 57. Area B, Wright-Patterson AFB, Ohio, t check out the program and to reduce the number of amplifiers needed to run the simulation. Although the program completed at Bldg. 57 is available for further use (contact Mr. Howard Jones), it is not included here. The aircraft responses obtained were used for general information only and provided data for controller design and insight concerning responses to certain step inputs.

Analog Program

The following deletions were made to further condense the program.

GGC/BE/68-8

1. Eliminate the Rudder. DLC is primarily concerned with the longitudinal equations while the rudder forces the lateral equations.

2. <u>Eliminate Use of Speed Brakes</u>. The LAMS B-52E is capable of setting the speed brakes (spoilers) in six separate and distinct positions. Spoilers were biased up 20° with all seven panels on each side moving together, rather than inboard and outboard separately.

3. Eliminate the SAS (Stability Augmentation System). The operational B-52's do not have a SAS installed.

4. Eliminate the Autopilot. Autopilot is not required for DLC.

It is with these deletions that the schematics found on pages 80-96 were drawn. With these changes in the analog program completed, a paper static check was made in all three flight conditions. This involved comparing the results obtained from the equations of motion with the derivitives of certain integrators found in the program. The static check values can be found in the appropriate columns of the potentiometer, amplifier, and multiplier assignment sheets in Appendix F, pages F-1 through F-14. Completion of the static check in all three flight conditions proved invaluable later when time in the cockpit simulator was so precious. It also added great confidence to the programmers when changing from one flight condition to another to be able to quickly static check all major amplifier outputs.

At AFFDL, the aircraft responses to step inputs of elevator, ailerons, and spoilers were made in all flight conditions. The results are found on pages 113-121 and in Appendix D. It was during the plotting of these responses with spoilers biased up 20° that a problem of trimming the aircraft developed. After researching the problem, it was determined that with the spoilers biased up 20° the aircraft required an increased angle of attack ($\Delta \alpha$) and therefore the equations of motion must be supplied with the incremental change in α in order to trim the aircraft properly. The actual values of $\Delta \alpha$ were determined for each flight condition and are listed below.

Flight Condition 1 . . . 0.30° Flight Condition 2 . . . 0.36° Flight Condition 3 . . . 0.38°

It is important to note that the aircraft responses received from The Boeing Co. and those obtained from this program are nearly identical as seen by comparing pages 113 and 114 for flight condition one, pages D-1 and D-2 for flight condition two, and pages D-7 and D-8 for flight condition three. Although the change in velocity, ΔU , is not found on the Boeing responses, it is included for general information. These responses were instrumental in determining the ratios of elevator to spoiler and elevator to aileron needed to produce zero pitch angle. They will also be used late: in comparing the two degrees of freedom simulation and the six degrees of freedom simulation.

Selection of the particular analog console to be used was based solely on the number of amplifiers available and resulted in one basic problem. The console chosen did not have function generators with which to simulate the spoiler attenuation curve as shown on page 58. An alternate function generator (pot padder) was suggested, and although it lacked a little in acouracy, was used. Basically, the pot padder is a servo multiplier cup which has potentiometers set at specific intervals. The valve set on each potentiometer is the functional value at that point of the cup. The problems evolved from the fact that it was nearly impossible to create identical functions for the left and right spoilers. In addition, the functions are simply straight lines between potentiometers. The actual curves used are shown on page 79. When a comparison is made with the curve on page 58, the inaccuracies are clearly visible. The small irregularity between the curves cused a slight rolling tendency, but this helped keep the pilcts busy and not so preoccupied with only monitoring a constant rate of climb and descent.





8-





•

OGC/EE/68-8



*

GGC/EE/68-8



83

. .

•

GGC/EE/68-8



*


85

÷

GOC/88/68-8



86







0-0C/EE/68-8



GGC/EE/68-8



GGC/EE/68-8



00C/155/68-8



GGC/EE/68-8



GOC/EE/68-8





GGC/88/68-8



SIX DE	GREE OF	FREEDOM	SIMULA	TION			
SWI	гсн 1	POSIS	TON	S			
PARAMETER	SWITCH NUMBER	STATIC TEST	BASIC SIM	ACFT. COMP	CONTR SIM	COMP	
-1.6667 Δ 8 _{SD}	00	L	С	С	R	R	
& Wheel	01	С	L	R	L	R	
X-Y Plotter	02	R=Run	-	-	-	-	
Time Base	03	R=Run	-	-	-	-	
100 0 MAV	10	R=Run	-	-	-	-	
N _L MAV	11	R=Run	-	-	-	-	
∆ U MAV	12	R=Run	-	-	-	-	
H MAV	13	R=Run	-	-	-	-	
Symmetric Aileron	20	с	R	R	L	L	
Static Test Special	21	L	C	С	c	c	
a Gust	22	c	R =	Gust	R =	Gust	
e FB, éail	23	с	С	С	As R	eqd.	
Elevator Command	30	L	R	R	c	1 0	
+ Stick	31	С	R	С	L	C	
Stabilizer Trim	32	L	С	L	c	L	
-100 T/qS	33	L	С	L	c	L	
Noise Generator	40	С	$C R = V_G$		L	L = WG	
-100 K _{DL}	41	L	L	R	L	L	
Noise Generator	42	С	R =	VG	L	= W _G	
-100 K _{DR}	43	L	L	R	L	L	

Table IV-1

Chapter V

Simulation

The pilot-in-the-loop simulation study was conducted at the AFFDL, Building 192 and 195, W-P AFB, Ohio, during February, 1958. Figure 5-1 shows the AFFDL moving base simulator used in this experiment. The moving base has limited motion capabilities in three axes (pitch, roll, and heave) and was used to provide realism to the pilots flying the simulation. Figure 5-2 shows the instruments available to the pilot and used to display appropriate parameters from the analog computer simulations of the aircraft dynamics. The instruments included were attitude director indicator, rate of climb indicator, altimeter, airspeed indicator, RPM gage, g meter, angle of attack meter, pitch angle indicators, and a sideslip meter. The throttle was connected, but a time delay between throttle movement and thrust output was not incorporated as the movements were small and the engines were operating at high RPM settings.

Pilot Experience

A total of eight pilots, seven military and one civilian, participated in this simulation with a combined total of 75 years rated experience and over 22,000 flying hours. Their experience ranged from jets (B-47's, B-52's, KC-135's,



Fig. 5-1. AFFDL Moving Base Simulator



F-86's, and T-33's) through reciprocating aircraft (C-124's T-29's, C-131's, C-47's, C-45's) and helicopters (HU-1B's, CH3C's, and HH-43's) to other light aircraft and simulators. This wide range of experience was both desired and needed to give a true evaluation of DLC and the possibilities of its use in present and future aircraft. The specific flight experience of each pilot is presented in Appendix G and Table VI-5 containing a condensation of this information is found on page 162.

Simulator Flight Planning

The original program called for ten pilots to fly the simulation with the two extra pilots coming from the standardization flight crew of the 17th SAC (Strategic Airlift Command) Bomb Wing located at Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, Ohio. This soon proved to be impossible due to a SAC alert and an unscheduled TDY (temporary duty) for the other pilot.

It had been planned that all the pilots would fly each of the three flight conditions, but due to maintenance problems and other scheduling conflicts this was impossible in the few days available. As a result, only four pilots completed all three flight conditions and the last pilot flew only one flight condition.

The three flight conditions listed on page 74 were selected from the LAMS profile and used because they simulate in-flight refueling at altitude, approach and landing, and high speed terrain following. The specific tasks completed by each pilot are listed below.

TASK	PILOTS
Terrain Following	1-2-3-5-6
Approach & Landing	1-2-3-4-5-6-7
Refueling	1-3-4-5-6-7-8

The tasks to be performed by the pilows in each flight condition included a variety of maneuvers such as those expected in actual flight. These maneuvers included rates of climb and descent at constant airspeed while either maintaining heading or making small changes in heading to correct for errors in glide path or alignment to the refueling tanker.

Flight Co dition One

In flight condition one, terrain following, rates of climb and descent of 250 fpm and 500 fpm were used without using the maximum deflection of DLC surfaces. It should be noted that rates of climb and descent in excess of those provided by DLC are attained in the conventional manner, i.e., applying more stick or column force will move the elevator more, providing a greater rate of climb or descent. It is important to note that even though the additional elevator resulted in an increase in pitch angle, the angle is less than that experienced in the basic aircraft while both pitch rate overshoot and the initial acceleration reversal were eliminated (See Fig. 1-1, page 3). The terrain following task as described in Fig. 5-3, page 107, gives the maneuver to be evaluated as well as a list of

GGC/BE/68-8

questions pertaining to the completion of the task. A simulated terrain was supplied by summing the output of a noise generator with the output of a function generator capable of providing either a sine or triangular wave form. This "terrain" was then presented to the pilot on the horizontal director needle.

After each flight the pilot was given a Pilot Evaluation Form like the one shown in Fig. 5-4, page 108. With this form and the Cooper Rating Form, (Fig. 5-5, page 109), the pilot rated and compared the basic aircraft and the DLC aircraft. For the pilots inclined to give oral rather than written reports, a tape recorder was available to collect this data.

Flight Condition Two

In flight condition two, approach and landing, rates of climb and descent of 200 fpm and 400 fpm were used, as this was representative of rates needed to correct for glide slope errors. The pilots were also asked to make small heading changes of plus or minus ten degrees to simulate corrections for final approach glide path. An ILS (Instrument Landing System) glide slope was simulated by using the output of an integrator to provide a constant rate of descent, and this was displayed on the horizontal director needle. After each flight, the pilots were again asked to evaluate the simulation and make any comments pertinent to the evaluation. A summary of the approach and landing task is found in Fig. 5-6 on page 110.

Flight Condition Three

In flight condition three, in-flight refueling, it was decided not to simulate a flight path on the horizontal and vertical director indicator needles because of the lack of visual cues, so important to this precise maneuver, such as distance and rate of closure to the tanker. Therefore, the task consisted of making olimbs and descents at 300 and 600 feet per minute while maintaining constant airspeed and making plus or minus ten degree changes in heading to simulate alignment to the refueling tanker. The refueling task card is found in Fig. 5-7, page 111.

Gangral Comments

The Cooper Rating Form (Fig. 5-5, page 109) is a standard aeronautical rating form used to evaluate aircraft and/or control systems. Although it is not the only rating system available, it has been used extensively, and provides a good basis for qualitatively comparing the basic and DLC aircraft. The form covers the range of pilot opinions from excellent to completely unacceptable, and defines a certain range in which the system could be used for emergency operation only.

Using the Cooper Rating Form, the pilots evaluated the DLC system as well as the basic aircraft, and a sample of their comments is found in Appendix I.

It was convenient to devise a run number code that would give all the pertinent information at a glance. An explanation of the code used is given next.

Run Number Code



The number was then used to identify pilot comment sheets, the strip recordings, and the list of MAV (mean absolute values), numbers which were read after each run was completed. Due to a shortage of integrators on the main console, it was necessary to use the extra integrators located on the simulator console to obtain the MAV. This presented a problem because the simulator console was operating the moving base simulator and therefore had to be kept in the "operate" mode. Thus, prior to each run, the MAV circuits were reset to zero by use of a switch which connected the outputs of the integrators being used to their respective grids. An interphone system, with a "hot mike" on the simulator side, was used to maintain communications between the main console and the moving base simulator.

A total of 109 runs were completed for record and averaged approximately five minutes per run. A short period of practice was given to each pilot to familiarize himself with the simulator and the "feel" of the stick. Although most pilots felt that more practice would be advantageous, it did

not greatly affect their performance. A complete series of runs in a particular flight condition took approximately one hour, and a sample list is given below.

15	min.	••	30	min.	Practice
4	min.	-	6	min.	Climbs & Descents (Basic Aircraft)
4	mia.	-	6	min.	Climbs & Descents (Basic Aircraft with turbulence)
2	min.	-	4	min.	Tracking Task (Basic Aircraft with turbulence, F.C. one and two)
4	min.	-	6	min.	Climbs & Descents (DLC Aircraft)
4	min.	-	6	min.	Climbs & Descents (DLC Aircraft with turbulence)
2	min.	-	4	min.	Tracking Task (DLC Aircraft with turbulence, F.C. one and two)

The order in which the pilots flew the simulation was varied, that is, some pilots flew the basic aircraft first and some flew the DLC aircraft first. But all pilots flew the task without turbulence prior to flying with turbulence. The turbulence was adjusted to give peak gusts of ten feet per second and a MAV of three to four feet per second. Although the turbulence was well behaved, a record was kept to insure that if problems developed during a run, a check could be made to verify whether or not the turbulence was realistic.

Two strip recorders were used to record 15 channels of data necessary to evaluate Direct Lift Control. These 15 channels and the particular parameters are listed on page F-18 of Appendix F.

Evaluation Maneuvers Trim aircraft for straight and level flight, 1. 4000 feet and 370 knots. 2. Climb 300 feet at 250 feet/minute. 3. Descend 600 feet at 250 feet/minute. 4. Climb 600 feet at 500 feet/minute. 5. When simulated terrain is introduced, track it by driving the horizontal director needle to zero. Maintain constant heading and airspeed. 6. Pilot Comment Checklist Were you able to perform the task easily? 1. 2. Was airspeed difficult to maintain? Was heading difficult to maintain? 3. Was there any tendency towards PIO (Pilot 4. Induced Oscillations)? What effect did turbulence have on performing 5. the task? 6. Was the information presented on the display adequate? How would you rate the Direct Lift Controlled 7. aircraft compared to the basic aircraft? How well does the moving base simulate motion? 8. Fig. 5-3. Terrain Following Task

(Flight Condition 1)

Date				
Run Number				
Task				
Cooper Rating	How	Did You Do?	Wor	k Load
Pitch	1.	Above Average	1.	Light
Lateral	2.	Average	2.	Normal
Overall	3.	Poor	3.	Heavy
	4.	Lousy	4.	Extrem
Comments: Tape_		Start	Stop_	



e	Numerical Rating	Description	Primary Mission Accomplishe
tory	Ч 0	Excellent, includes optimum Good, pleasant to fly	Yes Yes
	e	Satisfactory, but with some mildly unpleasant characteristics	Υœε
	4	Acceptable, but with unpleasant	Yes
actory	Ś	Unacceptable for normal operation	Doubtful
	۰۵	Acceptable for emergency condition only	Doubtful
	2	Unacceptable even for emergency	CN
able	8	condition Unacceptable - dangerous	No
nh i a	6	Unacceptable - uncontrollable	No
	10	Motions possibly violent enough to prevent pilot escape	No
	tory actory his	tory 2 actory 5 ble 8 his 10	tory2Good, pleasant to fly3Satisfactory, but with some3Satisfactory, but with some4Acceptable, but with unpleasant4Acceptable for normal operation5Unacceptable for normal operation6Acceptable for normal operation6Acceptable for mormal operation7Unacceptable for mormal operation8Unacceptable for emergency condition9Unacceptable even for emergency9Unacceptable - dangerous9Unacceptable - uncontrollable9Unacceptable - uncontrollable10Motions possibly violent enough

Fig. 5-5. Cooper Rating Form

Evaluation Maneuvers
1. Trim aircraft for straight and level flight,
4000 feet and 254 knots.
2. Climb 200 feet at 200 feet/minute.
3. Descend 400 feet at 200 feet/minute.
4. Climb 400 feet at 400 feet/minute.
5. When glide slope is introduced, track it by
driving the horizontal director needle to zero
while making plus or minus ten degree heading
changes to simulate azimu h correction.
6. When flare is announced, hold the horizontal
director needle to zero while maintaining level
flight for approximately 30 seconds.
7. Maintain constant airspeed.
Pilot Comment Checklist
1. Were you able to perform the task easily?
2. Was airspeed difficult to maintain?
3. Was there any tendency towards PIO?
4. What effect did turbulence have on performing
the task?
5. Was the glideslope displayed adequately?
6. How would you rate the Direct Lift Controlled
aircraft compared to the basic aircraft?

Fig. 5-6. Approach and Landing Task (Flight Condition 2)

Evaluation Maneuvers Trim aircraft for straight and level flight. 1. 32.700 feet and 448 knots. 2. Climb 300 feet at 300 feet/minute. 3. Descend 600 feet at 300 feet.minute. 4. Climb 600 feet at 600 feet/minute. 5. Make small heading changes, plus or minus ten degrees, to simulate alignment to the refueling tanker. 6. Maintain constant airspeed. Pilot Comment Checklist 1. Were you able to perform the task easily? 2. Was airspeed difficult to maintain? 3. Was there any tendency toward PIO? 4. What effect did turbulence have on performing the task? 5. How would you rate the Direct Lift Controlled aircraft compared to the basic aircraft? 6. Would it have been good to simulate the refueling tanker's position by use of the horizontal needle? 7. How well does the moving base simulate aircraft motion?

> Fig. 5-7. In-Flight Refueling Task (Flight Condition 3)

Chapter VI

Results

Comparison of Six and Two Degree of Freedom Simulations

Figures 6-1 through 6-8 are basic aircraft responses to various step control surface deflections in flight condition one. They are paired to show a comparison between the six and two degree of freedom simulations. The pairs are:

Fig.	6-1	and	6-2	٠	٠	•	Elevator 1º TE up.
Fig.	6-3	and	6-4	•	•	•	Spoilers 20° TE up.
Fig.	6-5	and	6-6	6	•	•	Ailerons 5° TE up.
Fig.	6-7	and	6-8	•	•	•	Aircraft trimmed with all spoilers
							biased at 20°, then elevator
							deflected 1° TE up

Figure 6-1A (Bosing) also shows the aircraft response to one degree of elevator deflection. The data for this figure was provided by The Boeing Company, Wichita Division. Comparison of Figures 6-1 and 6-1A (Boeing), and similar pairs in Appendix D for flight conditions two and three, demonstrates the validity of the simulation used in this thesis.

The parameters recorded from the SDF (six degree of freedom) simulation are $\triangle U$ (change in airspeed), θ (pitch angle), $\dot{\theta}$ (pitch rate), and $\triangle \alpha$ (change in angle of attack).



Fig. 6-1. Six Degree of Freedom Elevator Response



00C/EE/68-8



Fig. 6-1A (Boeing). Six Degree of Freedom Elevator Response



Fig. 6-2. Two Degree of Freedom Elevator Response



Fig. 6-3. Sir Degree of Freedom Spoiler Response

OGC/EE/68-8



Fig. 6-4. Two Degree of Freedom Spoiler Response





Fig. 6-5. Six Degree of Freedom Aileron Response



Fig. 6-6. Two Degree of Freedom Alleron Response



Fig. 6-7. SDF Elevator Response with Spoilers Up

00C/EE/68-8


Fig. 6-8. TDF Elevator Response with Spoilers Up

The parameters recorded from the TDF (two degree of freedom) simulation are the same except that Δ H (change in altitude) replaces Δ U. Similar responses in flight conditions two and three, from the six degree of freedom simulation only, are found in Appendix D.

The TDF simulation is based on the aircraft's short period approximation (Ref 3:42-43) which means that airspeed is assumed constant, eliminating the phugoid mode, and lateral motion is completely ignored. A study of the paired figures shows that the principle inaccuracy of the TDF simulation is a too-large pitch angle. However, the Direct Lift Controller uses the elevator to cancel the pitching moment generated by the spoilers and ailerons, so this problem is largely overcome.

In reality, constant airspeed is desireable in the flight conditions tested: terrain following, landing approach, and refueling. Figures 6-32 through 6-34 show that the pilots were able to control airspeed very closely (plus or minus five knots average), and that the DLC aircraft's speed was controlled significantly better than that of the basic model in flight conditions two and three. Thus, the TDF simulation's assumptions are well justified, and its accuracy is acceptable in the preliminary phases of DLC design.

In this thesis, the digital optimization programs were based on the short period approximation and the TDF analog simulation was used to test the resulting controllers and provide a basis for manipulating the Q and R matrices (See pages 42-50). The controllers so selected were used without

change during the SDF simulation, and gave good results.

The paired figures 6-9/6-10 and 6-12/6-13 show a "flight" comparison of the SDF and TDF simulations of the Casic aircraft. Note that the TDF simulation is much easier to "fly" than the SDF. Pitch angle fluctuations in the SDF ware partially due to an over-sensitive stick. This problem was corrected later.

Figures 6-14 and 6-15 are not directly comparable since the controllers and servo time constants used were slightly different. (See Chapter II for listings of controller feedbacks.) However, these DLC results show a much closer correlation between the TDF and SDF simulations that the basic aircraft. In the important 0 (pitch angle) channel, the results of the DLC simulations are identical, demonstrating the value of the TDF simulation in preliminary design work.

Results of Direct Lift Control

A comparison between the DLC and basib aircraft shows many interesting results. The most significant of these are shown in Fig. es 6-32 through 6-34, pages 155 to 157. Although these figures are for all three flight conditions, the results from any one flight condition carry over to the other flight conditions. The important parameters, such as θ (pitch angle), N_L (normal acceleration), and ΔU (change in airspeed), and α_G (turbulence) are recorded in the bar graph form. Each figure represents how well each pilot did compared to all others as well as how the "average" pilot did. In all or set, θ was reduced in the DLC aircraft, with





Fig. 6-10. 1-GGC-68-TB (Climb and Descend, No Turbulence, TDF)

GGC/EE/68-8





Fig. 6-12. 2-GGC-68-TB (Climb and Descend With Turbulence)



Fig. 6-13. 1-GGC-68-TB (Climb and Descend, With Turbulence, TDP)

GOC/EE/68-8



000/EE/68-8





Controller 61, 0.1 Second Time Constants, TDF)



GOC/EE/68-8



Fig. 6-17. Flight Condition One, Basic Aircraft With Turbulence, Hands Off Controls, TDF Simulation



TDF Hands Off Controls, With Turbulence, Controller 61, Flight Condition One, 6-18. F16.



GGC/RE/68-8



11 10 Marthania

and without turbulence. The percent reduction is shown in Table VI-1, page 158.

Theta could have been reduced even further had the washout circuit in the elevator controller been eliminated (See page 149). It should also be noted that the last olimb in all of the flight conditions was devised to use the maximum "direct lift" available. Any additional rate of climb would of necessity cause some pitching of the aircraft. In other words, the rate of climb or descent without changing pitch attitude is limited by the aerodynamic characteristic of the DLC surfaces.

All of the flight tasks were devised to hold 6 as close as possible to zero. With slightly different mechanization, 6 could be held to any constant value. For instance, if one wanted to fly a glide path, it would be advantageous to trim the aircraft for the glide path and with use of DLC, make corrections back to the glide path. This can be done basily by feeding back a $A \in A$ in place of 0. Controller gains would not be changed. Recording this $A \in A$ would have given the same type of results as seen above, and the control of the pitch angle about the trim 6 would have been similar to that shown on Fig, 6-21 or Fig. 6-23.

After studying Figs. 6-32 to 6-34, it is apparent that N_{I} (normal acceleration) is also reduced in the DLC elecant when compared to the basic elevant. Again, it was less for all the pilots in all flight conditions, with or without turbulence. The average reduction in N_{I} , varied from 52% in flight condition one, and

1.35

000/EE/68-8



Fig. 6-20. 4-GGC-68-LB (Climb and Descend, No Turbulence)





Fig. 6-22. 1-GGC-68-IB (Climb and Descend, With Turbulence)





Fig. 6-24. 7-GGC-68-LB (Glideslope With Turbulence)

GOC/EE/68-8



is shown in Table VI-1, page 158. As discussed in Chapter II, $N_{\rm L}$ can be reduced further by properly weighting the Q matrix.

The next parameter to be considered in evaluating DLC is A U (change in airspeed) caused while performing the prescribed tasks. The pilots were instructed to maintain constant airspeed. Figure 6-32 shows that while $\triangle U$ is relatively small for both the DLC aircraft and the basic B-52, airspeed in the basic aircraft was usually controlled better. This is due to a phenomena peculiar to this airplane with spoilers biased up 20°. When a climb was commanded, the increase in airspeed caused by the decreased drag as the spoilers came down was greater than the decrease in airspeed usually caused by the aircraft's rate of climb. The net result was that the plane would actually gain airspeed in a constant throttle climb and in a like manner lose airspeed in a constant throttle descent. Although this is contrary to popular opinion, the pilots soon accepted it as fact, and were able to control the airspeed better in the DLC aircraft than in the basic aircraft. This is shown in Table VI-1, page 158, as well as in Figs. 6-33 and 6-34.

It was originally planned to have the pilots fly a simulated terrain displayed on the horizontal needle, but due to a lack of time and information about the equipment being used, it was not possible to obtain enough data to evaluate this maneuver. As found in the pilot's comments in Appendix I, the distance that the needle moved vertically as well as the rate at which it moved proved unsatisfactory for

pilot evaluation.

These difficulties were soon corrected and a glide slope was presented in flight condition two for evaluation. Although the results shown in Figure 6-33 are not conclusive, it was felt that more time and practice on the part of the pilots would have decreased the glide slope error, due to the pilots' positive control of pitch angle and pitch rate. Also the reversal of airspeed changes invariably had some effect on the results.

Sample runs of all flight conditions and all pilots are found in Figures 6-9 to 6-34. They are included here as general information, providing to the reader some insight into the types of data taken as well as what the actual results looked like. It also points out the necessity of recording mean absolute values of important parameters in order to evaluate such a system. The actual MAV numbers used to draw the bar graphs (Figures 6-32 to 6-34) are found in Appendix H.



Fig. 6-26. 3-GGC-68-RB (Climb and Descend, No Turbulence)









Effect of Varying Servo Time Constants

The run shown in Fig. 6-14 (SDF) used elevator, aileron, and spoiler servo time constants of four seconds. Fig. 6-15 (TDF) shows a similar flight profile using servo time constants of one second. Fig. 6-16 (TDF) is identical to Fig. 6-15 except that all servo time constants are a tenth of a second. These three figures demonstrate one of the important points of this study: Direct Lift Control does not depend on any particular actuator speed. The only requirement is that the time constants of the various servos be relatively equal. Thus, actuator speeds can be chosen based on considerations such as stability, available hydraulic power, cost, etc. Of course, the DLC mission must also be considered . . . gust alleviation, for instance, can be improved by using faster-acting control surface actuators.

Altitude Hold Mode

Figures 6-17 through 6-19, all from the TDF flight condition one simulation, demonstrate the capability of the altitude hold mode described on page 56. Vertical turbulence averaging three to four feet per second was present in all three runs. With 10 inputs by the pilot or any controlling device, the basis B-52 quickly pitched up and olimbed 200 feet in 70 seconds (Fig. 6-17). In Fig. 6-18, the DLC aircraft (controller 61) was subjected to similar turbulence. It climbed 100 feet in 150 seconds with <u>no</u> <u>change in pitch attitude</u>. The altitude hold mode was then

added to controller 61, and the system was again flown in vertical turbulence. Fig. 6-19 shows that the airplane then flew indefinitely with altitude variations not exceeding ten feet. Again, pitch attitude was unchanged.

Effects of Washouts and Control Surface Crossfeeds

The elevator controller shown on pages 64 and 90 incorporates a washout circuit for the 0 and 0 feedbacks. This circuit was used for all the SDF simulation runs at the AFFDL. The results were good, as summarized in Figures 6-32 through 6-34. The purpose of this washout was to assist the pilot in rotating the aircraft if a rapid conventional climb or descent were required. The TDF simulation runs shown in Figures 6-13, 6-15, 6-16, 6-18, and 6-19 were made later without this washout circuit. Comparison tests on the TDF simulation showed that DLC performance was improved by eliminating the washout integrator. The already small changes in pitch attitude were reduced still further.

Interestingly, the DLC aircraft's performance in conventional climbs (with rotation) was also improved by removing the washout circuit. When a conventional climb is completed and the pilot releases stick pressure, the controller feedbacks return the plane, quickly and with little overshoot, to its original attitude. The controller then automatically returns the ailerons and elevator to neutral, and the spoilers to their 20° bias position. Unfortunately, the equipment for the SDF simulation was <u>not</u> available for

further use after this was discovered.

Early controller designs (not shown) used crossfeeds between elevators and spoilers, etc., based on a literature study of conventionally designed direct lift control systems. Experimentation with the TDF simulation soon showed that these feedbacks degraded system performance. This is logical since the digital design program establishes an optimal ratio of N_L , 0, and 0 feedbacks to the three control surfaces. Additional items such as control surface crossfeeds and washout circuits only destroy the optimality of the controllers. Although use of the washout circuit, described above, during all the SDF data runs was unfortunate, the improved performance with washout eliminated did serve to demonstrate the true optimality of the digitally designed controller.

Comparison of Responses to Initial 0

Fig. 6-30 shows the response of the basic B-52 to an initial 0 of one degree (SDF simulation, flight condition three). As expected, this initial condition excites the phugoid mode. Fig. 6-31 shows the DLC aircraft (controller 43) response to an initial <u>untrimmed</u> pitch angle. Note that the controller essentially uses only the elector to remove the pitch angle. This response was inadvertantly made with extremely slow serve actuators . . . the three time constants were all six seconds. Faster responding serves would undoubtedly have reduced the oscillations in 0 and 0. During the system equation integration at the end of the digital



GGC/EE/68-8



Fig. 6-31. Controller 43 Responses

optimization program (Appendix A, pages A-21 through A-23), this maneuver is accomplished without pitch overshoot.

Figure 6-31 also shows controller 43 responses to ten second stick inputs. Note the slight difference in performance of forward and back stick, caused by nonlinearity of the spoilers.

Pilots' Qualitative Evaluation

The simulation would not have been complete without the pilots' evaluation of Direct Lift Control. Filot comments and evaluations were obtained as explained in Chapter V and the results are presented in tabular form. Table VI-2 lists Cooper ratings for both the DLC and basic aircraft. The DLC aircraft received consistently higher Cooper ratings than the standard B-52 in all three flight conditions. Table VI-3 shows how well the pilots thought they performed the assigned tasks. Every pilot thought he did as well or better with the DLC aircraft. While studying the strip chart recordings and pilot rating forms, the authors noted strong correlation between how well a pilot did and how well he thought he did. If anything, the pilots tended to be modest in their evaluation of how well the tasks were accomplished.

Another important fact is that the majority of the pilots thought the workload in performing a given task was markedly reduced by the addition of the Direct Lift Controller. Workload data is found in Table VI-4, page 161.

In summary, the pilots felt that Direct Lift Control

increased their ability to perform the assigned maneuvers and improved aircraft qualities while reducing pilot workload.

GGC/EE/68-8



Fig. 6-32. Meavi Absolute Values (Flight Condition One)

p1




Fig. 6-34. Mean Absolute Values (Flight Condition Three)

.

nd1t1on 3 ence	Yes	80.9	45.8	26.5
v Flight Co Turbul	NO	81.9	52.1	30.3
ndition 2 ence	Yes	82.9	53.9	79.3
Flight Co Turbul	No	83.3	56.9	70.8
ndition 1 ence	Yes	73.3	36.7	3.0 Increase
Flight Co Turbul	No	74.6	64.7	L.44
PARAMETER		Percent Reduction in 0	Percent Reduction in ML	Percent Reduction in AU

Table VI-1

158

4.00

.

ut-

36C/2E/68-8

		COOP	ERAA	TINGS	*	
	* 3ee F1	g. 5-5, pa	ge 109.			
TOTTA	Flight Co	ndition 1	Flight Co	ndition ?	Filght Co	indition 3
	Basic Aircraft	DLC Aircraft	Basic Aircraft	DLC Alrcraft	Basic Aircraft	DLC Alrcraft
1	3	1.5	3	8	2.5	J
2	8	2	2	2	ŧ	ſ
6	3.5	2.5	5	5	e	-
4	1	1	3	1	2	Ъ
5	2.5	1	3	1.5	Э	г
6	3	3	3	2	3.5	2.5
2		I	6	3	4.5	٣
ø		ı	1	ł	3	т
AVERAGE	2.80	2.00	3.28	1.93	3.07	1.50

Table VI-2

.

h

		N O H	a I a	α ηοχ	* 2 0 0	
PILOT	* See F	18. 5-4, p	age 108.			
	Flight Co	ndition 1	Flight Co	ndition 2	Flight Co	ndition 3
	Basic Aircraft	DLC Aircraft	Basic Aircraft	DLC Alrcraft	Basic Aircraft	DLC Alrcraft
1	3	2	2		8	ч
2	2	2	8	1	I	1
3	3	2	3	2	5	1
4	ŧ	•	5	Ч	2	2
. 5	3	-1	8	1	2	1
9	2	2	8	8	9	N
2	1	1	9	8	e	2
8	r	1	t	I	8	
AVERAGE	2.60	1.80	2.28	1.43	2.29	1.43
	Ļ	able VI-3				

* See Fig. 5 Flight Condit	-2. pag	Flight Con	L O A D dition 2	Flight Con	dition 3
Basic Airoraft Ai	DLC	Basic Aircraft	DLC	Basic Aircraft	A
3	N	3	2	3	2
 2	N	8	8	•	•
3	~	3	5	3	8
		3	ч	8	-
2	ч	5	N	6	2
3	3	2	2	N	8
		4	8	e	8
	,	•		e	8
•					70 1

Table VI-4

			NUMB	F.R. O.F	HOUR	s		
The of WILDLER	Pilot 1	Pilot 2	Pilot 3	Pilot 4	Pilot 5	Pilot 6	Pilot 7	Pilot 8
Jet Fighter/Trainer	235	250	235	280	240	1	2000	250
Jet Bomber/Cargo	1	2200	2475	1	1		1	1
Four Engine Recip.	1800	1	1	20	3300	1	1	1
Two Engine Recip.	1200	250	350	2900	200	1	906	130
Hellcopter	8	1	1	1	1	1	1	2100
Light Aircreft	200	1	65	50	1	100	100	35
Simulator	100	I	1	1	:	850	1	50
TOTAL	3537	2700	3125	3300	3740	950	3000	2565

Table VI-5

Chapter VII

Discussion and Conclusions

LAMS Spoiler Changes

When this study was begun, the LAMS controller operated with all seven spoiler panels on both sides of the airplane biased up 20° . The DLC controller was designed using the same spoiler configuration for compatability with LAMS, due to the possibility of a flight test. The LAMS design was subsequently modified to use only the two outboard spoiler panels on each wing. The designers found that the control power of the entire spoiler bank was not required for LAMS, and the change simplified some actuator problems. However, the LAMS aircraft retains the capability of using the complete spoiler bank with a 20° bias, so a flight test is still possible without major aircraft modifications.

The digital optimization program could be changed to use less than the full bank of spoilers by simply reducing the spoiler lift and pitching moment coefficients appropriately. Of course, the maximum rates of climb and descent without pitch would be reduced if fewer spoiler panels were used. The controller could be designed for a different spoiler bias setting by recomputing the linearized lift

and pitching moment coefficients, based on the slope of the spoiler attenuation curve at the selected bias point.

Di. ct Lift Control Feasability

This study, together with the work reported in references five, six, eight, and nine, establishes beyond reasonable doubt the feasability of direct lift control. Control surfaces such as spoilers, symmetric ailerons, flaps, or canards, can be used in conjunction with the elevator to apply lift forces in the direction the pilot desires to move the airplane, without changing the pitch attitude. Direct Lift Control can eliminate the long heave crossover time and normal acceleration reversal associated with large aircraft (Ref 7:7, as quoted on pages 2 and 4).

LAMS B-52 DLC Capability

The Direct Lift Controllers described in this thesis employ the full B-52 spoiler bank with 20° authority from the 20° bias position, full 17° aileron authority, and full 17° elevator authority. The controllers can provide changes in rate of climb and descent of up to 500 feet per minute from trim condition without a change in the aircraft pitch attitude. This improves precision maneuvering capability in tasks such as terrain following, approach and landing, and in-flight refueling. The pilot's ability to make precise corrections in rate of climb or altitude is increased because DLC does not excite the phugoid mode, and visual cues are not disturbed by continually changing pitch attitude.

With large stick movements, DLC functions as a conventional control system, providing pitching moments and aircraft rotation.

In addition, DLC reduced normal acceleration of the airplane center of gravity by an average of 50%, both in and out of turbulence. This suggests an improvement in riding qualities and reduction in aircraft structural damage if DLC is used during periods of turbulence. As an added bonus, the pilots (after a short training period) were able to control airspeed more closely with DLC than with the basic aircraft.

Optimization Theory

Kalman's optimal control theory for a linear plant with quadratic cost function (Ref 2:750-780) proved wellsuited to DLC design. The B-52 "plant" was linearized by using the aircraft short period approximation and computing spoiler lift and pitching moment coefficients based on the slope of the spoiler attenuation constant curve (page 58) at the spoiler bias position. Simple magnitude scaling of the equations (page 28) completely eliminated the integration problems sometimes encountered with this theory.

Optimization theories are often criticized for producing complex controllers with an excessive number of feedbacks, some of which may not be readily available. This thesis demonstrates the opposite. The controllers consist simply of fixed-gain feedbacks of normal acceleration, pitch angle, and pitch rate to each of the control surface servos.

The system is operated by the pilot's normal longitudinal stick or column movements. The control surface crossfeeds, washout circuits, etc., normally associated with a conventionally designed DLC system are non-existent. They only serve to degrade DLC performance.

Once written, the digital optimization program is extremely flexible. The goal of the controller described in this thesis is to use spoilers, ailerons, and elevators to prevent change in aircraft pitch attitude. In practice, these controllers would be limited to short-period usage (refueling, landing approach, etc.), by the drag penalties inherent in the 20° spoiler bias. However, by increasing the cost of N_L and spoiler usage, and decreasing the cost of θ and $\dot{\theta}$ (changing four data cards), the program can be used to design a continuous duty controller which uses ailerons and elevators to improve ride and provide gust alleviation during cruise.

Some choice in the number and nature of the feedbacks has also been demonstrated. The N_L , θ , and θ feedback controllers described above were designed by optimization program D (page 36). However, optimization program A, (page 19) uses a (angle of attack), θ , and θ feedbacks, and program B (page 28) provides α , θ , θ , and N_L feedbacks. Program D was used for all data runs due to the difficulty of measuring angle of attack in an actual aircraft, desire to reduce N_L , and the obvious preference for three feedbacks rather than four. Nevertheless, the three types of con-

trollers are calable of comparable performance if the specified feedbacks are readily available. A study of the three digital programs will show that little work was required to change from one program to the next. All three programs are fast-running (see page 51).

Pilot Quantitative Evaluation

As described in Chapter VI, pages 153 to 154, the pilots of the six degree of freedom simulation at the Air Force Flight Dynamics Laboratory were uniformly enthusiastic about the benefits of DLC. Cooper Ratings of the DLC aircraft averaged 1.24 better than those of the basic airplane. "How Did You Do?" ratings averaged 0.83 better with DLC, and average workload was reduced 0.72.

Additional Comments

<u>Two Degree of Freedom Analog Simulation</u>. The two degree of freedom analog simulation described in Chapter II proved invaluable for testing digitally designed controlles 1 provided a basis for manipulating the Q and R matrices. Its merits and deficiencies are discussed in detail on pages 112 to 122. The small amount of equipment required and its simplicity make this simulation especially desireable in the early DLC design stages.

Single Fixed-Gain Controller. Although separate controllers were designed and used for each of the three LAMS flight conditions, controllers designed to the seme criteria (identical Q and R matrices) are very similar. This raises

the possibility of select ng a single fixed gain controller that would perform adeque ely throughout the entire B-52flight envelope. See pa is 44 to 45 for details.

Applicability to Other Aircraft. Kalman's optimization theory is unlimited in the number of state variables and controls that can be considered. Thus, the design method and digital optimization programs used should be applicable to other aircraft and other types of control surfaces with only minor modifications.

The authors hope to demonstrate this fact in a followon study. The Boeing Company has agreed to provide equations of motion and aerodynamic coefficients for the Boeing 367-80 (707 prototype). This research aircraft has a fly-bywire control system similar to that of the LAMS B-52, is equipped with high speed trailing edge flaps, and has flapblowing capability. A dash 80 Direct Lift Controller will be demonstrated with a two degree of freedom simulator.

Chapter VIII

Recommendations for Further Study

As mentioned in Chapter I, the feasability of Direct Lift Control was first demonstrated in 1961. Serious consideration of this principle is just beginning; the first fleetwide application is yet to be made; the opportunities for further study are practically unlimited. The following are just a few of the areas that might be investigated in follow-on AFIT theses.

Additional LAMS B-52 Projects

Much additional study could be done with the LAMS B-52 testbed. For instance, the effect of increasing normal acceleration cost (value of Q_{11} in Optimization Program D) could be investigated, using controller servos that more closely simulate fleet B-52 equipment. Another optimal control theory could be applied to determine the best single controller for use in all three flight conditions. A new computer program could be written using only normal acceleration and pitch angle feedback, or the relatively new C* (Ref 10 and 11) criteria could be applied.

Other Aircraft

Direct Lift Control designs for other aircraft would

be of interest to the aviation community. Notable among these are the SST (Supersonic Transport) and the C-5A Galaxy. In a recently announced design refinement, The Boeing Co. has added DLC using wing spoilers and canard surfaces aft of the crew compartment to the SST (Ref 12:16). DLC was added primarily as a landing aid. Since the SST rollout will be delayed by war-dictated funding cutbacks, there should be time for meaningful thesis work with this aircraft.

÷.,

As mentioned on page 7, Honeywell has designed a direct lift controller for the C-5A using conventional design techniques and slightly different criteria. Interesting comparison studies could be made with a new design based on optimal control theory. Retrofit DLC capability for the C-5A is a distinct possibility due to the longitudinal sluggishness caused by its great size and weight, so a DLC design for this ship could also be of practical as well as theoretical value.

Another comparison between conventional and optimal theory design techniques could be made using the results of NASA's Convair 990/DC-8 studies as the conventional design.

A thesis could also be aimed at specific problem aircraft to better demonstrate the value of DLC. This might include one of the jetliners which is considered difficult to handle in landing approach and a fighter design which has difficulty during in-flight refueling.

GGC/BE/68-8

Other Control Surfaces

In addition to the canard surfaces mentioned for an SST study, several other direct lift mechanisms could be used. Among these are boundary layer control, blown flaps, and thrust augmented lift.

The Boeing-80 (707 prototype) has been modified for a blown flap test program. This aircraft would be suitable for a DLC study because the results, without blown flaps, would be directly applicable to a large number of current aircraft, and the results with blown flaps would help establish the usefulness of this device. Again, a flight test program would be feasable due to the availability of a test aircraft.

Appendi. A

Sample Computer Program Outputs

Sample Output, Computer Program A

The following is a sample output of computer program A, with states alpha, theta, and theta dot. The off-diagonal elements of the Q matrix reduce backward integration time of the C matrix from three seconds to one second, but have no effect on the final controller.

A NATOLY		a and a set of a set	a constant and angle (days and an analysis and a substantian and
A WULLTU			
	-0.	-0.	
-0.	20.0000	20.0000	
-0.	20,0000	20.0000	
R MATRIX			
0.0400	-0.	-0.	
-0.	0,0400	÷0.	
-0.	-0.	0.0400	nga ara wa nang kanganganjalan si nga panukan sara ra a kangangangan ara i K
A(3)= 0. A(4)= -0.	RACTERISTIC E	QUATION	
			an a summing the significance on the state strength sign and the st
S= 0.	+J		
S= 0. S= 4.000000	OE CL +J		
COEFFICIENTS	OF CHARACTE	RISTIC EQUATION	
A(1)= 1.00	000CE 00	to date to a second table and it leaves at remaining a second second second second second second second second	n k. samme 👘 sama ana dan ana masa na sana na dan saka sa kata sa sa sa sa
A(2) = -1.20	0000E-01		
A: 31= 4.00 A: 4]= -6.39	19999E-05		n din la fin - d'air a bhainn air a chuidh an an an tha ann an bhainn a bhainn a bhainn a san an an an an an a
ROOTS OF CHA	RACTERISTIC	EQUATION	
S= 4.004801	8E-02 +J	8.2612640E-05	an to any any house the state of the second states and
5= 4.00480	82-02 +J -	8.2612640E-05	
S= 3,991209	91E-02 +J		

FLIGHT CONDITION 3

A MATRIX

-0.6939	0.	0.9904		
0.	0.	1.0000		
-2,4739	0.	-0.6518		
8 MATRIX	0-00-00 0-0-0-00			
-0.0211	0.0145	-0,0153	and an	
0.	0.	C.		
-1.6332	0.2838	- 0= 1366		
				······
ELEMENTS UP	STMMETRIC PC	FUDACK MATRI	A U	
C(1,1)	C(1,2)	C(1.3)	C(2,2)	C(2,3)
alana di aliani kata kata kata kata kata kata kata kat	- annale −		and and a second s	and a second sec
	entellen belaget w	Additioner forst of an english and design for the second second second second second second second second second		nondermalania o a concepto approximational as
TIME = 9.9	35	2 (9415 02	5 10225 01	5 12415.01
20 11202-03	-2.43802-02	-2.40416-02	5,10552-01	5.13416-01
TIME = 9.9	90			
6.1484E-03	-3.3156E-02	-3.3768E-02	5.33805-01	5,3769E-01
				1-00 - 1-0 - 100 Mark - 1-000 - 100 +
TIME = 9.8	35			
1.0033E-02	-3.4342E-02	-3.5113E-02	5. 34278-01	5.3823E-01
TIME = 9.9	30			
1.3675E-02	-3.4536E-02	-3.5279E-02	5.3428E-01	5.3824E-01
TIME = 9.1	75			
1.7084E-02	-3.4723E-02	-3, 5273E-02	5.3429E-01	5-3824E-01
TINE - 0 -	70			
2.0277E-02	-3.5030E-02	-3, 5246E-02	5-3432F-01	5.3823F-01
TIME = 9.0	55		n - Allenbergen anne - Alebana Allenbergen aleban - Calana anges	1000 00000 0 000 0 00 0 00 0 00 0 00 0
2.3265E-02	-3.5459E-C2	-3.5221E-02	5.3438E-01	5.38235-01
-				
2. 606/E-02	-3.50025-02	-3.52016-02	5. 3440E-01	5 29225-01
2.00045-02	- 3. 37765-02	J. JEVIC-UZ	J. J. 7475- VI	J+ 30235-01
TIME = 9.5	55	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	an a the or she has been an transmission and a source of the state of	nijelih Malandin - nijelih kinist - nijelihiki da dalamat kapatendari u se
2.8683E-02	-3.6615E-02	-3.5185E-02	5.3464E-01	5.3822E-01
	.			anna a sta a gan a g
TIME = 9.5	-2 72105 C2		E 3403E 03	E 20225 AT
3.11305-02	-3.1310E-02	- 3e 3173E= UZ	2: 3483E-01	2. 3822E-01

TIME = 9. 3.3432E-02	45 2 - 3 8066E-02	- 3. 5165E-02	5.3508E-01	5.38228-01
TIME = 9	40			
3.5581E-02	2 -3.8868E-02	-3.5160E-02	5.3538E-01	5.3821E-C
TIME = 9	35			
3.7594E-0	2 -3.9708E-02	-3.5157E-02	5.3573E-01	5- 3821E-01
TIME = 9.	30			
3-9478F-0	2 -4.0574E-02	-3.5157E-02	5.36138-01	5.3821E-0
arten andalaria ante da ante ante ante ante ante ante ante a				
n martan - maga mengapatan deningki menjangi menging in ol		- 50 alpha 10 ar 100 da 100 apr for 4 200000 44000		
TIME = 9	. 25			
4-1242E-0	2 -4. 1460E-02	-3.5159E-02	5.3658E-01	5. 3821F-0
TIME = 9	. 20			
4.2894E-C	2 -4.2359E-02	-3.5162E-02	5.3706E-01	5.3822E-0
TIME = 9	• 15			
4.4440E-0	2 -4.3263E-02	- 3.5168E-02	5, 3759E-01	5-3822E-0
TIME = 9	. 10			
4,5887E-0	2 -4.41675-02	- 3.5174E-02	5.3816E-01	5.38228-0
TIME = 9	•05			a fact air or
4.7243E-C	2 -4.5067E-02	-3.5181E-02	5.3876E-01	5.3823E-0
	00			
4 95125-0	• UV 2 - 4 59595-02	- 3 51995-02	5. 30395-01	5. 28235-0
4.03120-0	2 -4.59592-02	- 3. 31876-02	3. 3430E-01	5+ 5025E-0
FEEDBACK M	ATRIX C			
C.048	5 -0.0460	-0,0352		
-0.046	0.5394	Q. 5382		
-0.035	2 0.5382	0.5423		
CONT201	DIBTC			
-1.411	2 21.0624	1 1 2 2 4		
0.232	0 -3.8023	- J. 8348.		
-0.101	6 1.8209	1.8388		
A-BRIBTC				Nort-Aldelan - ar aldelanssigation Alban
-0.659	2 -0.5464	0.4396		8
0.	0.	1.0000		
-0.089	2 -37.1814	-38,1229		

•

COEFFICIENTS OF CHARACTERISTIC EQUATION

Al	1)=	1.00000CE 00	
AC	2)=	3.878213E 01	
A	31=	6.235126E 01	
A (4)=	2.446138E 01	
		and and a second s	
ROC	TS OF	CHARACTERIST	IC EQUATION

41.10 1010	S=	-	1.008	6060E	00	+J	ð.	
	S=	-	6.533	35560E-	01	+J	0,	
	S=	-	3.712	20164E	01	+J		•

NOTE, CONTROLS IN DEGREES AND ANGLES IN RADIANS

SPOILERS BIASED UP 20 DEGREES.

USING OUTBOAPD SPOILERS ONLY (0.56K)

TIME	ALPHA	THETA	THETA DUT	ELEVATOR	SPOILERS	AILERONS
••	-0-	0.1000	-0-	0,	20 0000	С,
0.0500	-0.0038	0.0973	-C.C818	19.0096	16-7243	1-5557
0.1000	-0.0082	C.0929	-0.0906	2,6825	19, 5569	0.1957
0.1500	-0.0123	0.0884	-0.0882	C. 4639	19, 9437	0.0085
0•2000	-0.0161	0.0841	-0.0842	0.4238	19 9526	0 0027
0.2500	-0.0195	0.0800	-0.0801	0.6991	19.9067	0 0234
0.3000	-0.0227	0.0761	-0.0762	1.0003	19-8560	0 0464
0.3500	-0.0255	0.0724	-0.0725	1.2836	19.8084	0.5682
0.4000	-0.0281	0.0689	-0.0689	1.5435	19-7646	0.0882
0.4500	-0.0305	0.0655	-0.0655	1.7803	19. 7246	0 1065
0. 5000	-0.0326	0.0623	-0.0623	1,9955	19-6833	0.1232
0.5500	-0.0345	0.0593	-0.0593	2.1904	19. 6554	0.1383
0.6000	-0.0362	0.0564	-0.0564	2.3663	19 6256	0.1520
0.6500	-0.0377	0.0536	-0.0536	2.5244	19.5938	C. 1644
0. 7000	-0*0390	0.0510	-0.0519	2.6660	19 5748	0 1756
0.7500	-0*0*0-	0.0485	-C. C485	2.7920	19,5533	C. 1855
0. 8000	-0.0411	0.0462	-0.0461	2.9036	19.5343	0,1944
0.8500	-0.0420	0.0439	-0.0439	3.0016	19~5175	0 2023
0.9000	-0.0427	0.0418	-0.0417	3.0872	19, 5028	r.2092
0.9500	-0.0433	0.0397	-0.0397	3.1610	19,4901	2 2153
1.0000	-0.0437	C+ C378	-0.0378	3.2239	19.4792	C. 2205
1.0500	-0.0441	0.0360	-0.0359	3.2767	19.4700	5 2249
1.1000	-0.0444	0.0342	-0.0342	3.3201	19.4624	0.2287
1.1500	-0.0446	0.0325	-0.0325	3.3549	19.4562	0.2318
1.2000	-0-0447	0.0310	-0.0309	3.3815	19.4514	0.2342
1.2500	-0.0447	0.0294	-0.0294	3.4007	19:4478	0,2361
1.3000	-0-0446	0.0280	-0.0280	3.4130	19, 4454	0.2375
1.3500	-0+0445	0.0266	-0.0266	3.4189	19.4440	0.2384
1.4000	-0.0443	0.0254	-0.0253	3.41.89	19.4437	0.2385
1.4500	-0-0441	0.0241	-0.0241	3.4135	19.4442	0.2389
1.5000	-0.0438	9.0229	-0.0229	3.4032	19-4456	C. 2385
1.5500	-0.0434	0.0218	-0.0218	3.3883	19.4477	0.2378
1.6000	-6+0431	0.0208	-0.0207	3.3692	19.4506	C+2368
1. 6500	-0.0427	0.0198	-0*0157	3+3463	19° 4541	0.2355

A-5

.

			-																																	
AILERONS	0.2339	0.2321	0.2301	0.2278	0° 2254	0.2228	0.2201	0.2172	0,2142	0.2112	0-2080	0.2047	0.2014	C. 1981	0,1947	0.1912	C,1877	0.1843	0-1807	0.1772	0-1737	0.1702	C.1667	C.1632	0.1598	C.1563	0,1529	C.1496	0.1462	0.1429	0.1396	0.1364	0.1332	0.1301	0.1270	0,1239
SPOILERS	19.4582	19,4628	19-4679	19.4734	19.4793	19.4856	19.4922	19.4990	19~5061	19.5134	19.5209	19.5286	19. 5364	19-5443	19.5523	19,5604	19.5685	19.5766	19,5848	19. 5930	19.6012	19: 6093	19-6174	19.6255	19, 5335	19.6415	19.6494	19.6572	19° 6649	19.6726	19-6801	19.6876	19.6949	19.7022	19.7093	19.7164
ELEVATOR	3.3200	3.2905	3.2582	3.2232	3.1860	3.1467	3.1056	3. C629	3.0187	2.9732	2.9267	2.8793	2,8311	2.7823	2.7329	2.6832	2e6332	2.5830	2+5328	2.4825	2.4324	2.3823	2.3326	2.2830	2.2339	2.1851	2.1368	2.0889	2.0415	1.9947	1.9485	1.9029	1.8579	1.8136	1.7699	1.7269
THETA DOT	-0.0187	-0.0178	-0.0169	-0.0161	-0.0153	-0.0146	-0.0139	-0.0132	-0.0126	-0.0119	-0.0114	-0.0108	-0.0103	-0.0098	-0.0093	-0.0089	-0.0084	-0+0080	-0.0076	-0.0073	-0*0069	-0-0066	-0.0062	-0.0059	-0.0057	-0.0054	-0-0051	-0.0049	-0.0046	-0.0044	-0.0042	-0*00*0-	-0.0038	-0.0036	-0.0034	-0.0033
THETA	0.0188	0.0179	0, 0170	0.0162	0.0154	0.0147	0.0139	0.0133	0.0126	0.0120	0.0114	0.0109	0.0103	0.0098	0.0094	0.0089	0.0085	0.0081	0.0077	0.0073	0.0070	0.0066	0.0063	0.0060	0.0057	0.0054	0.0052	0.0049	0.0047	0.0045	0+0042	0*00*0	0.0038	0.0037	0.0035	0.0033
ALPHA	-0.0422	-0.0417	-0.0412	-0*0*0-	-0+01-	-0.0396	-0*0390	-0.0384	-0.0377	-0.0371	-0.0365	-0.0358	-0.0352	-0.0345	-0.0339	-0.0332	-0-0326	-0-0319	-0.0313	-0.0306	-0.0300	-0.0293	-0.0287	-0.0280	-0.0274	-0.0268	0.0262	-0.0256	-0.0250	-0.0244	-0-0238	-0.0232	-0.0227	-0.0221	-0.0216	-0.0210
TIME	1.7000	1.7500	1.8000	1.8500	1.9000	1.9500	2.0000	2.0500	2,1000	2.1500	2.2000	2.2500	2.3000	2.3500	2.4000	2.4500	2 5000	2.5500	2.6000	2.6500	2.7000	2.7500	2.8000	2.8500	2.9000	2.9500	3.0000	3.0500	3.1000	3.1500	3.2000	3.2500	3.3000	3.3500	3.4000	3.4500

A-6

.

$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		TIME	ALPHA	'THETA	THETA DOT	ELEVATOR	SPOILERS	AILERONS	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		3.5000	-0.0205	0.0032	-0.0031	1.6846	19,7233	0.1209	
3.600 -0.0195 0.0023 -0.0024 1.6022 19.7434 0.1122 3.7700 -0.0119 0.0023 -0.0023 -0.0023 1.722 0.11234 3.7700 -0.0117 0.0023 -0.0023 1.722 0.11234 3.7700 -0.0117 0.0023 -0.0023 1.7664 0.11234 3.7700 -0.0116 0.0021 -0.0021 1.7224 0.11234 3.7700 -0.0116 0.0021 -0.0013 1.0012 1.0103 3.7700 -0.0116 0.0021 -0.0013 1.0101 1.7712 0.7081 4.0500 -0.0114 0.0014 -0.00114 0.0014 0.0011 1.7712 0.7081 4.1500 -0.0114 0.0014 -0.00114 0.0014 0.0011 0.7011 4.7500 -0.0114 0.0014 -0.0011 1.7712 0.7081 4.7500 -0.0114 0.0014 -0.0011 <td></td> <td>3.5500</td> <td>-0.0200</td> <td>0.0030</td> <td>-0.0030</td> <td>1.6431</td> <td>19.7301</td> <td>0.1179</td> <td></td>		3.5500	-0.0200	0.0030	-0.0030	1.6431	19.7301	0.1179	
3.6500 -0.0190 0.0021 -0.0023 -0.0023 -0.0023 -0.0123 -0.1122 0.1122 3.7700 -0.0116 0.0023 -0.0023 -0.0023 -0.0023 -0.0124 0.1024 3.7700 -0.0116 0.0021 -0.0022 -0.0022 -0.0023 -0.0023 -0.0023 -0.0124 0.1024 0.1024 3.9600 -0.0162 0.0021 -0.0021 -0.0022 -0.0023 -0.0013 -0.00		3. 6000	-0.0195	0.0029	-0.0028	1.6022	19.7368	0.1150	
3.7000 -0.0185 0.0025 -0.0024 1.527 19.7562 0.1074 3.7500 -0.0180 0.0023 -0.0021 1.4461 19.7562 0.1029 3.8500 -0.01171 0.00221 -0.0021 1.4461 19.7685 0.1029 3.8500 -0.0162 0.0021 -0.0021 1.3724 19.7685 0.1029 3.9500 -0.0162 0.0021 -0.0021 1.3017 19.7862 0.0961 3.9500 -0.0149 0.0019 -0.0017 1.2715 19.7917 0.90961 4.0500 -0.0144 0.0014 -0.0017 1.2715 19.7917 0.99817 4.1500 -0.0144 0.0014 -0.0017 1.2712 19.7917 0.90911 4.1500 -0.0134 0.0014 -0.00114 110711 19.8078 0.0014 4.1500 -0.0134 0.0014 -0.0012 10.7111 19.8078 0.01944 </td <td>1</td> <td>3.6500</td> <td>-0.0190</td> <td>0.0027</td> <td>-0.0027</td> <td>1.5621</td> <td>19-7434</td> <td>0.1122</td> <td></td>	1	3.6500	-0.0190	0.0027	-0.0027	1.5621	19-7434	0.1122	
3.7500 -0.0180 0.0025 -0.0023 1.4461 19.7562 0.1039 3.8000 -0.0116 0.0023 1.4461 19.7662 0.1039 3.8000 -0.0116 0.0023 1.4461 19.7652 0.10396 3.9000 -0.0116 0.0021 -0.0021 1.3307 19.7653 0.03961 3.9500 -0.01164 0.0021 -0.0021 1.3307 19.765 0.03961 3.9500 -0.01164 0.0021 -0.0021 1.3017 19.765 0.09817 4.1050 -0.01149 0.0017 -0.0011 1.2677 19.7012 0.09817 4.1050 -0.0114 0.0017 -0.0011 1.2712 19.772 0.09817 4.1050 -0.0114 0.0017 -0.0117 1.2340 19.772 0.0919 4.1500 -0.0114 0.0014 -0.0011 1.2711 19.8130 0.01797 4.1500 -0.0113 0.0014 -0.0117 1.2340 19.8130 0.01797 <td></td> <td>3. 7000</td> <td>-0.0185</td> <td>0.0026</td> <td>-0.0026</td> <td>1. 5227</td> <td>19.7498</td> <td>0.1094</td> <td></td>		3. 7000	-0.0185	0.0026	-0.0026	1. 5227	19.7498	0.1094	
3.8000 -0.0176 0.0023 -0.0022 1.4461 19.7624 0.1013 3.8500 -0.0116 0.0022 -0.0022 1.4089 19.7685 0.10956 3.9500 -0.0116 0.0020 -0.0020 1.3367 19.7681 0.0936 3.9500 -0.01162 0.0020 -0.0019 1.3367 19.7783 0.0941 4.0000 -0.01158 0.0019 -0.0019 1.3367 19.7781 0.0911 4.0000 -0.0114 0.0015 -0.0018 1.2607 19.7917 0.0911 4.1500 -0.0114 0.0015 -0.0014 11071 19.7917 0.0911 4.1500 -0.0114 0.0015 -0.0013 1.0771 19.8019 0.0794 4.1500 -0.0130 0.0013 -0.0013 1.0771 19.8190 0.0775 4.1550 -0.0127 0.0013 -0.0013 1.0771 19.8777 0.0775 4.4000 -0.0120 0.0012 -0.0013 1.0771 <td< td=""><td></td><td>3.7500</td><td>-0.0180</td><td>0.0025</td><td>-0.0024</td><td>1.4840</td><td>19.7562</td><td>0.1066</td><td></td></td<>		3.7500	-0.0180	0.0025	-0.0024	1.4840	19.7562	0.1066	
3.8500 -0.0171 0.0021 -0.0031 -0.0031 <th< td=""><td></td><td>3. 8000</td><td>-0.0176</td><td>0.0023</td><td>-0.0023</td><td>1.4461</td><td>19.7624</td><td>0,1039</td><td></td></th<>		3. 8000	-0.0176	0.0023	-0.0023	1.4461	19.7624	0,1039	
3,9000 -0.0166 0.0021 -0.0020 -0.0162 0.0020 -0.0162 0.0020 -0.0162 0.0020 -0.0162 0.00961 0.0961 0.0961 0.0961 0.0961 0.0961 0.0961 0.0961 0.0961 0.0961 0.0961 0.0961 0.0961 0.0961 0.0961 0.0961 0.0961 0.0981 0.0981 0.0981 0.0981 0.0981 0.0981 0.0981 0.0981 0.0981 0.0981 0.0981 0.0981 0.0981 0.09841 0.09841 0.09841 0.09841 0.0014 <	i.	3.8500	-0.0171	0.0022	-0.0022	1.4089	19, 7685	0.1012	
3.9500 -0.0162 0.0020 -0.0019 -0.0019 -0.0019 0.0019 0.0019 0.0013 0.0035 0.0035 4.0000 -0.0154 0.0013 -0.0017 -0.0013 1.2240 19.7917 0.0031 4.1500 -0.0144 0.0015 -0.0013 1.2017 19.7917 0.0031 4.1500 -0.0144 0.0015 -0.0015 1.2712 19.8078 0.03441 4.1500 -0.0134 0.0015 -0.0015 1.1691 19.8130 0.0319 4.2500 -0.0134 0.0014 -0.0013 1.0771 19.8130 0.01919 4.2500 -0.0134 0.0013 -0.0013 1.0771 19.8130 0.07754 4.4500 -0.0123 0.0012 -0.0012 1.0771 19.8130 0.07754 4.4500 -0.0123 0.0012 -0.0012 1.0771 19.8229 0.07754 4.4500 -0.0123 0.0012 -0.0012 1.0771 19.8277 0.07754 4.4500 -0.0123 0.0012 -0.0012 0.0012 0.0771 19.8277 0.0774 4.4500 -0.0123 0.0012 -0.0012 0.0012 0.0771 19.8277 0.0774 4.4500 -0.0123 0.0012 -0.0012 0.0012 0.0012 0.0771 19.8277 0.0774 4.4500 -0.0123 0.0012 -0.0012 0.0012 0.0012 0.0012 0.0012 0.0012 0.0012 </td <td></td> <td>3.9000</td> <td>-0.0166</td> <td>0.0021</td> <td>-0.0021</td> <td>1.3724</td> <td>19.7745</td> <td>0,0986</td> <td></td>		3.9000	-0.0166	0.0021	-0.0021	1.3724	19.7745	0,0986	
4.00000 -0.0158 0.0019 -0.0011 -0.00113 1.2675 19.7861 0.0911 4.1000 -0.0149 0.0017 -0.0017 1.2675 19.772 0.0887 4.1000 -0.0149 0.0017 -0.0017 1.2615 19.8078 0.0887 4.1000 -0.0149 0.0017 -0.0017 1.2712 19.8078 0.0817 4.1500 -0.0149 0.0017 -0.0017 1.1377 19.8130 0.0819 4.2500 -0.0134 0.0015 -0.0013 1.0771 19.8130 0.0819 4.2500 -0.0127 0.0013 -0.0013 1.0771 19.8130 0.0819 4.2500 -0.0127 0.0012 -0.0013 1.0771 19.8130 0.0819 4.4500 -0.0127 0.0012 -0.0012 1.0771 19.8277 0.0819 4.4500 -0.0127 0.0012 -0.0012 1.0177 19.8277 0.0774 4.4500 -0.0120 0.0012 -0.0012 1.0177 19.8277 0.0714 4.4500 -0.0120 0.0012 -0.0012 1.0177 19.8277 0.0714 4.4500 -0.0110 0.0012 -0.0012 0.0012 0.0754 0.0774 4.4500 -0.0110 0.0012 0.0012 0.9443 19.8274 0.0754 4.4500 -0.0110 0.0011 -0.0012 0.9443 19.8453 0.0653 4.7500 -0.0110 0.0010 <td>ť.</td> <td>3.9500</td> <td>-0.0162</td> <td>0.0020</td> <td>-0.0020</td> <td>1.3367</td> <td>19.7803</td> <td>0,0961</td> <td></td>	ť.	3.9500	-0.0162	0.0020	-0.0020	1.3367	19.7803	0,0961	
4.0500 -0.0154 0.0018 -0.0018 -0.0017 -0.0014 0.0017 0.00114 0.0017 0.00114 0.0014		4.0000	-0.0158	0.0019	-0.0019	1.3017	19.7861	0.0936	
4.1000 -0.0149 0.0017 -0.0016 1.2340 19.7972 0.0887 4.1500 -0.0141 0.0015 -0.0016 1.2612 19.8078 0.0841 4.1500 -0.0134 0.0015 -0.0015 1.1691 19.8078 0.0841 4.2500 -0.0138 0.0015 -0.0013 1.1071 19.8130 0.01819 4.2500 -0.0138 0.0013 -0.0013 1.0071 19.8130 0.01757 4.3500 -0.0130 0.0013 -0.0012 1.0071 19.8277 0.01757 4.3500 -0.0120 0.0013 -0.0012 1.0771 19.8277 0.0774 4.4500 -0.0123 0.0012 -0.0012 0.0137 1.0771 19.8277 0.0774 4.4500 -0.0123 0.0012 -0.0012 0.0137 1.0771 19.8277 0.0754 4.4500 -0.0123 0.0011 -0.0122 0.0012 1.0771 19.8273 0.0774 4.5500 -0.0116 <th< td=""><td></td><td>4.0500</td><td>-0.0154</td><td>C.0018</td><td>-0.0018</td><td>1.2675</td><td>19.7917</td><td>0.0911</td><td></td></th<>		4.0500	-0.0154	C.0018	-0.0018	1.2675	19.7917	0.0911	
4.1500 -0.0145 0.0017 -0.0016 -0.0016 1.2012 19.8120 0.0841 4.2000 -0.0134 0.0016 -0.0014 1.1377 19.8180 0.0375 4.2000 -0.0134 0.0014 -0.0014 1.0771 19.8180 0.0797 4.2000 -0.0134 0.0014 -0.0014 1.0771 19.8279 0.0797 4.3500 -0.01137 0.0014 -0.0013 1.0771 19.8277 0.0797 4.4500 -0.01137 0.0012 -0.0012 1.0771 19.8277 0.0774 4.4500 -0.01127 0.0012 -0.0012 1.0192 19.8277 0.0774 4.4500 -0.0112 0.0012 -0.0012 1.0192 19.8277 0.0774 4.4500 -0.0112 0.0012 -0.0012 1.0192 19.8277 0.0774 4.4500 -0.0112 0.0012 -0.0012 1.0192 19.8376 0.0774 4.4500 -0.0113 0.0012 -0.0012 1.0192 19.8376 0.0576 4.5500 -0.0113 0.0011 -0.0011 0.9443 19.8459 0.0657 4.7500 -0.0113 0.0010 -0.0010 0.9144 19.8459 0.0657 4.7500 -0.0104 0.0009 0.0009 0.9144 19.8642 0.0657 4.7500 -0.0104 0.0009 0.0009 0.0009 0.0057 0.0570 4.7500 -0.0008 -0.0009 </td <td></td> <td>4.1000</td> <td>-0.0149</td> <td>0.0017</td> <td>-0.0017</td> <td>1.2340</td> <td>19,7972</td> <td>0.0887</td> <td></td>		4.1000	-0.0149	0.0017	-0.0017	1.2340	19,7972	0.0887	
4.2000 -0.0141 0.0016 -0.0016 1.1691 19.8078 0.0819 4.2500 -0.0138 0.0015 -0.0014 0.0114 0.01197 19.8130 0.01197 4.3500 -0.0138 0.0013 -0.0013 0.0013 0.01754 0.0777 4.3500 -0.0137 0.0013 -0.0013 1.0771 19.8130 0.07754 4.3500 -0.0127 0.0013 -0.0012 1.0771 19.8120 0.07754 4.4500 -0.0127 0.0012 -0.0012 1.0771 19.8120 0.07754 4.4500 -0.0112 0.0012 -0.0012 1.0771 19.8130 0.07754 4.4500 -0.0112 0.0012 -0.0012 1.0771 19.8127 0.07754 4.4500 -0.0112 0.0011 -0.0012 1.0771 19.8127 0.0714 4.5500 -0.0111 0.0011 -0.0112 0.0112 1.0774 19.8459 0.06576 4.5500 -0.0110 0.0111 -0.0011 0.9114 19.8653 0.06576 4.7500 -0.0	ŧ.	4.1500	-0.0145	0.0017	-0.0016	1.2012	19.8026	9.0864	
4.2500 -0.0138 0.0015 -0.0015 1.1377 19.8130 0.0177 4.3500 -0.0134 0.0014 -0.0013 1.0771 19.8180 0.0777 4.3500 -0.0134 0.0014 -0.0013 1.0771 19.8180 0.0777 4.3500 -0.0127 0.0013 -0.0012 1.0771 19.8279 0.0775 4.4500 -0.0123 0.0012 -0.0012 1.0771 19.8277 0.0774 4.4500 -0.0120 0.0012 -0.0012 1.0771 19.8277 0.0774 4.4500 -0.0116 0.0011 -0.0012 1.0792 19.8277 0.0774 4.5500 -0.0113 0.0011 -0.0012 0.0714 0.0774 0.0774 4.5500 -0.0113 0.0011 -0.0011 0.0774 19.8377 0.0754 4.5500 -0.0113 0.0011 -0.07010 0.0751 19.8543 0.07656 4.5500 -0.0114 0.0010 0.9114 19.8543 0.0603 0.6658 4.7507 -0.0116 0.00009 0.00009 <td></td> <td>4.2000</td> <td>-0.0141</td> <td>0.0016</td> <td>-0.0016</td> <td>1.1691</td> <td>19.8078</td> <td>0.0841</td> <td></td>		4.2000	-0.0141	0.0016	-0.0016	1.1691	19.8078	0.0841	
4,3000 -0.0134 0.0014 -0.0013 1.0711 19,8180 0.0175 4,3500 -0.0127 0.0013 -0.0013 1.0771 19,8277 0.0754 4,3500 -0.0127 0.0013 -0.0012 1.0771 19,8277 0.0754 4,4500 -0.0123 0.0012 -0.0012 1.0711 19,8277 0.0754 4,4500 -0.0123 0.0012 -0.0012 0.0012 1.0711 19,827 0.0714 4,4500 -0.0120 0.0011 -0.0012 0.0012 0.0714 0.0754 4,5500 -0.0110 0.0011 -0.0012 0.9843 0.0754 4,5500 -0.01104 0.0010 0.9314 19,8533 0.0653 4,5500 -0.0104 0.0010 0.9114 19,8533 0.0653 4,5500 -0.01074 0.0009 0.8613 19,8543 0.0603 4,5500 -0.0019 0.98137 19,8662 0.0603 4,5500 -0.00098 0.8137<		4.2500	-0.0138	0.0015	-0.0015	1.1377	19.8130	0.0819	
4.3500 -0.0130 0.0014 -0.0013 1.0171 19.8229 0.01754 4.4500 -0.0127 0.0013 -0.0012 1.0192 19.8277 0.0754 4.4500 -0.0127 0.0013 -0.0012 1.0192 19.8277 0.0754 4.4500 -0.0120 0.0012 -0.0012 0.0012 0.0714 0.0754 4.4500 -0.0120 0.0011 -0.0012 0.0012 0.0714 0.0754 4.5500 -0.0116 0.0011 -0.0012 0.0012 0.9543 0.0675 4.5500 -0.0113 0.0011 -0.0010 0.9344 19.8415 0.0675 4.5500 -0.0113 0.0010 -0.0010 0.9386 19.8459 0.0675 4.7500 -0.0113 0.0010 -0.0010 0.9386 19.8543 0.0655 4.7500 -0.0113 0.0010 -0.0009 0.8386 19.8543 0.0663 4.7500 -0.0104 0.0009 0.8386 19.8653 0.0663 4.7500 -0.0098 0.00009 0.8372 19.8653		4.3000	-0.0134	0.0014	+100-0-	1.1071	19,8180	7610.0	
4.4000 -0.0127 0.0013 -0.0012 1.0478 19.877 0.0754 4.4500 -0.0123 0.0012 1.0192 19.8370 0.0714 4.5500 -0.0120 0.0012 -0.0012 0.9011 0.0754 0.714 4.5500 -0.0113 0.0011 -0.0012 0.9443 19.8370 0.0114 4.5500 -0.0113 0.0011 -0.0010 0.9374 19.8370 0.0114 4.5500 -0.0113 0.0011 -0.0010 0.9314 19.8415 0.0675 4.5500 -0.0113 0.0010 -0.0110 0.0101 0.9344 0.01675 4.5500 -0.0111 0.0010 0.9314 19.8543 0.0675 4.7500 -0.0104 0.0010 0.9314 19.8543 0.0603 4.7500 -0.0104 0.0003 0.8813 19.8543 0.0603 4.7500 -0.0104 0.0003 0.8137 19.8653 0.0603 4.8000 -0.00038 -0.00038 <td>1</td> <td>4.3500</td> <td>-0.0130</td> <td>0.0014</td> <td>-0,0013</td> <td>11.0771</td> <td>19.8229</td> <td>0.0775</td> <td></td>	1	4.3500	-0.0130	0.0014	-0,0013	11.0771	19.8229	0.0775	
4.4500 -0.0123 0.0012 -0.0012 0.9913 19.8370 0.0714 4.5500 -0.0120 0.0011 -0.0012 0.9443 19.8415 0.00714 4.5500 -0.0113 0.0011 -0.0110 0.9114 19.8415 0.0544 4.5500 -0.0113 0.0011 -0.0010 0.9374 19.8459 0.0656 4.5500 -0.0113 0.0010 -0.0010 0.9314 19.8459 0.06556 4.5500 -0.0113 0.0010 -0.0010 0.9114 19.8543 0.06556 4.7500 -0.0104 0.0010 -0.0009 0.88613 19.8543 0.06538 4.7500 -0.0104 0.00019 -0.0009 0.88613 19.8543 0.06538 4.7500 -0.0104 0.0009 -0.0009 0.8372 19.8543 0.0603 4.7500 -0.0101 0.0009 -0.0009 0.8372 19.8543 0.0603 4.8500 -0.0098 0.0009 0.8372 19.8653 0.05638 0.05638 4.9500 -0.0099 0.00008 -0		4.4000	-0.0127	0.0013	-0.0013	1.0478	19,8277	0,0754	
4, 5000 -0.0120 0.0012 -0.0012 0.9413 19,8370 0.0714 4, 5500 -0.0116 0.0011 -0.0010 0.9643 19,8415 0.06694 4, 5500 -0.0113 0.0011 -0.0010 0.95114 19,8415 0.06675 4, 5500 -0.0113 0.0011 -0.0010 0.95114 19,8543 0.0675 4, 5500 -0.0104 0.0010 -0.0009 0.8860 19,8543 0.0633 4, 7500 -0.0104 0.0010 -0.0009 0.8860 19,8543 0.0633 4, 7500 -0.0104 0.00019 -0.0009 0.88613 19,8543 0.0633 4, 7500 -0.0104 0.00019 -0.0009 0.8813 0.0633 4, 7500 -0.0104 0.00019 0.8872 0.0633 4, 7500 -0.0010 0.8813 0.6634 0.0633 4, 8500 -0.0010 0.8137 19,8623 0.0603 4, 8500 -0.0009 0.8137 19,8623 0.0603 4, 9500 -0.0098 -0.0008 0.7701 <		4.4500	-0.0123	0.0012	-0.0012	1.0192	19, 8324	2.0734	
4.5500 -0.0116 0.0011 -0.0011 0.9643 0.9644 19.8415 0.0694 4.5000 -0.0113 0.0011 -0.0010 0.9374 19.8459 0.0655 4.6500 -0.0113 0.0011 -0.0010 0.9114 19.8501 0.0638 4.6500 -0.01110 0.0011 -0.0010 0.9114 19.8501 0.0638 4.7500 -0.0104 0.00019 -0.0009 0.8813 19.8543 0.0638 4.7500 -0.0104 0.00019 -0.00019 0.8813 19.8642 0.0638 4.7500 -0.0019 0.00018 -0.00019 0.8372 19.8642 0.0538 4.8500 -0.0098 -0.0008 -0.0008 0.77907 19.8642 0.0576 4.9000 -0.0093 0.00018 -0.70017 0.7684 19.8649 0.0576 4.9000 -0.0093 0.00018 -0.70017 0.7684 19.8649 0.0576 4.9000 -0.0098 -0.00017 0.7684 19.8677 0.0554 0.0554 5.0070 -0.0097 <td< td=""><td></td><td>4. 5000</td><td>-0.0120</td><td>0.0012</td><td>-0.0012</td><td>0.9913</td><td>19,8370</td><td>0.0714</td><td></td></td<>		4. 5000	-0.0120	0.0012	-0.0012	0.9913	19,8370	0.0714	
4.6000 -0.0113 0.0010 -0.0010 0.0374 19.8459 0.0675 4.6500 -0.0110 0.0010 -0.0010 0.9114 19.8543 0.0638 4.7500 -0.0107 0.0010 -0.0009 0.8860 19.8543 0.0638 4.7500 -0.0104 0.0009 -0.0009 0.8860 19.8543 0.0638 4.7500 -0.0104 0.0009 -0.0009 0.8860 19.8543 0.0603 4.7500 -0.0104 0.0009 -0.0009 0.8372 19.8543 0.0603 4.7500 -0.0104 0.0009 -0.0009 0.8372 19.8623 0.0603 4.8500 -0.0098 -0.0008 -0.0008 0.7586 0.0570 4.99000 -0.0099 0.0008 -0.7601 0.7684 0.0570 4.9500 -0.0099 0.0001 0.7684 19.8699 0.0570 5.0070 -0.0097 0.7661 19.8807 0.0554 0.0554 5.0500 -0.0087 0.7764 0.7254 19.8807 0.0523	1	4.5500	-0.0116	0.0011	-0.0011	C +96 *0	19.8415	0.0694	
4.6500 -0.0110 0.0010 -0.0010 -0.0114 19.8543 0.0638 4.7000 -0.0107 0.0010 -0.0009 0.8613 19.8543 0.0638 4.7000 -0.0107 0.0010 -0.0009 0.8613 19.8543 0.0638 4.7500 -0.0104 0.0009 -0.08372 19.8563 0.0638 4.7500 -0.0104 0.0009 -0.8613 19.8623 0.0638 4.8000 -0.0109 0.8372 19.8623 0.0603 4.8500 -0.0098 -0.0008 0.8137 19.8662 0.0570 4.9000 -0.0099 0.0008 -0.0008 0.7684 15.8736 0.0570 4.9500 -0.0093 0.0008 -0.0007 0.7664 19.8677 0.0556 5.0070 -0.0097 0.7664 19.8077 0.0538 0.0558 5.0567 -0.0087 0.7254 19.8807 0.0558 0.0558		4.6000	-0.0113	0.0011	-0.0010	0.9374	19.8459	0.0675	
4.7000 -0.0107 0.0010 -0.0009 0.8860 19.8543 0.0638 4.7500 -0.0104 0.0009 -0.0009 0.8613 19.8583 0.0638 4.7500 -0.0104 0.0009 -0.0009 0.8613 19.8583 0.0638 4.7500 -0.0104 0.0009 -0.0009 0.8372 19.8623 0.0603 4.8000 -0.0098 0.0008 -0.0008 0.8372 19.8623 0.0603 4.8500 -0.0095 0.0008 -0.0008 0.8137 19.8662 0.0576 4.99000 -0.0099 0.0008 -0.0008 0.77907 19.8662 0.0576 4.99000 -0.0099 0.00008 -0.0008 0.7664 19.8697 0.0576 5.0000 -0.0096 0.0007 -0.7607 0.7466 19.8807 0.0554 5.0560 -0.0087 0.7254 19.8807 0.05538 0.05538		4.6500	-0.0110	0100 0	-0.0010	0.9114	19.8501	2.0656	
4.7500 -0.0104 0.0009 -0.0009 0.8613 19.8583 0.0620 4.8000 -0.0101 0.0009 -0.0009 0.8372 19.8623 0.0603 4.8000 -0.0098 -0.0008 -0.0008 0.8372 19.8623 0.0603 4.8500 -0.0095 0.0008 -0.0008 0.8372 19.8652 0.0563 4.9500 -0.0095 0.0008 -0.0008 0.8137 19.8653 0.0570 4.9500 -0.0095 0.0008 -0.0008 0.7664 19.8677 0.0570 5.0000 -0.0095 0.0007 0.7664 19.8772 0.0554 5.0500 -0.0087 0.7254 19.8807 0.0523		4.7000	-0.0107	0.0010	-0,0009	0.3860	19.8543	0.0638	
4.8000 -0.0101 0.0009 -0.8372 19.8623 0.0603 4.8500 -0.0098 0.0008 -0.0008 0.8137 19.8662 0.0566 4.8500 -0.0095 0.0008 -0.0008 0.8137 19.8662 0.0576 4.8500 -0.0095 0.0008 -0.0008 0.8137 19.8662 0.0576 4.9500 -0.0095 0.0008 -0.0007 0.7684 15.8657 0.0576 5.0500 -0.0095 0.0007 0.7664 19.8772 0.0538 5.0500 -0.0087 0.7254 19.8807 0.0538		4.7500	-0.0104	0.0009	-0.0009	0.8613	19.8583	0.0620	
4.8500 -0.0098 0.0008 -0.0008 0.8137 19.8662 0.0586 4.9000 -0.0095 0.0008 -0.0008 0.7907 19.8699 0.0570 4.9000 -0.0095 0.0008 -0.0008 0.7684 19.8699 0.0570 4.9500 -0.0095 0.0008 -0.7684 19.8699 0.0554 5.0000 -0.0096 0.0007 -0.7664 19.8772 0.0554 5.0500 -0.0087 0.7254 19.8807 0.05538		4.8000	-0.0101	600000	-0.0009	0.8372	19.8623	0.0603	
4.9000 -0.0095 0.0008 -0.0008 0.7907 19.8699 0.0570 4.9500 -0.0093 0.0008 -0.0007 0.7684 15.8736 0.0554 5.0000 -0.0096 0.0007 -0.0007 0.7664 19.8772 0.0538 5.0500 -0.0087 0.0007 -0.0007 0.7254 19.8807 0.0538		4.8500	-0.0098	0.0008	-0.0008	0.8137	19.8662	0.0586	
4.9500 -0.0093 0.008 -0.0001 0.7684 15.8736 0.0554 5.0000 -0.0096 0.0007 -0.0007 0.7466 19.8772 0.0538 5.0500 -0.0087 0.7007 -0.0007 0.7254 19.8807 0.0523		4.9000	-0.0095	0.0008	-0.0008	0°7907	19.8699	0.0570	
5.0500 -0.0090 0.0007 -0.0007 0.7466 19.8772 0.0538 5.0500 -0.0087 0.0007 -0.0007 0.7254 19.8807 0.0523		4.9500	-0.0093	0.0008	-0.0007	0.7684	19.8736	0.0554	1
5.050C -0.0087 0.0007 -0.0007 0.7254 19.8807 C.0523		5.00r0	-0.0090	0.0007	-0.0007	0.7466	19.8772	0.0538	
		5.0500	-0.0087	10000.0	-0.0007	0.7254	19,8807	0.0523	

Sample Output, Computer Program B

The following is a sample output of computer program B. The states used are $X(1) = \alpha$ (Angle of attack), $X(2) = \theta$ (Pitch angle), $X(3) = \hat{\theta}$ (Pitch rate), and $X(4) = N_L$ (Normal acceleration, positive in the up direction).

Q MATRIX

1.0000	-0.	-C.	-0.
-C.	20.0000	-0.	-0.
-0.	-0.	10.0000	-0.
-0.	-0.	-0.	0.5000

R MATRIX

0.0300	-0.	-0.
-0.	0.0300	-0.
-0.	-0.	C.030C

Q MATRIX

COEFFICIENTS OF CHARACTERISTIC EQUATION

AC	1)=	1.000000E	00
AL	21=	-3.150000E	01
AL	3)=	2.455000E	02
AL	4)=	-3.150000E	02
AC	5)=	9.999997E	01

ROOTS OF CHARACTERISTIC EQUATION

S= 1.0000003E 00 +J 0.	
S= 4.9999970E-01 +J 0.	
S= 2.0000006 01 +J 0.	
S= 9.99999968 00 +J 0.	
FLIGHT CONDITION 1	~
A MATRIX	
-0-8859 0.	0.9838
0. 0.	1.0000
-2-8067 0-	-1.0414
-5.1924 0.	5.3502
8 MATRIX	
-0-0255 0-0279	-0.0165
0. 0.	C.
-1.8858 0.5596	-0.1282
-0.3324 0.2114	-0.1043

A-3

0• 0• 0• 0•

FEEDBACK	MATRIX	С	TIME	= 19.50	
0.6	708	0.12	38	-0.0009	-0.2328
0.1	238	8.91	39	0.2396	-0.1418
-0.01	009	0.23	96	0.2770	-0.0149
-0.2	328	-0,14	18	-0.0149	0.2268
FEEDBACK	MATRIX	С	TIME	= 19.00	
2.1	957	1.06	98	0.0620	-0.7303
1.00	698	14.08	80	0.4122	-0.6048
0.0	620	0.41	.22	0.2835	-0.0406
-0.7	303	-0.60	48	-0.0406	0.4110
FEEDBACK	MATRIX	С	TIME	= 18.50	
4.68	36:9	2.60	49	0.1583	-1.3843
2.60)49	16.73	46	C. 5228	-1.I025
0.15	583	0.52	28	0.2887	-0.0688
-1.38	343	-1.10	25	-0.0688	0,5902
FEEDBACK	MATRIX	С	TIME	= 18.00	
8.01	29	4.16	52	0.2692	-2.1558
4.16	52	18.10	09	0.5943	-1.5101
0.26	92	0.59	43	0.2930	-0.0959
-2.15	58	-1.51	01	-0.0959	0.7727
FEEDBACK	MATRIX	С	TIME	= 17.50	
11.97	57	5.49	09	0.3839	-3.0059
5.49	09	18.79	98	0.6406	-1.8157
0.38	39	0.64	06	0.2966	-0.1211
-3.00	59	-1.81	57	-0.1211	0.9569
FEEDBACK	MATRIX	С	TIME	= 17.00	
16.39	Ľ6	6.52	79	0.4975	-3.9050
6.52	79	19.154	41	0.6707	-2.0367
0.49	75	0.670	7	0.2996	-0.1446
-3.90	50	-2.030	57	-0.1446	1.1408
FEEDBACK	MATRIX	C	TIME	= 16.50	
21.12	10	7.30	55	0.6085	-4.8338
7,30	55	19.332	24	0.6906	-2.1941
0.60	85	0.690)6	0.3023	-0.1665
-4.83	38	-2.194	•1	-0.1665	1.3237
FEEDBACK	MATRIX	С	TIME	= 16.00	
26.06	57	7.87	52 ·	0.7169	-5-7808
7.87	52	19.42	19	0.7038	-2.3055
0.71	.59	0.70	38	0.3047	-0.1874
-5. 78	08	-2-30	55	-0-1874	1.5053

.

FEEDBACK	MATRIX	C	TIME	= 15.50		
31.19	585	8.28	70	0.8230	-6.7391	
8-21	870	19-46	67	0.7128	-2.3840	
0.8	230	0.71	28	0.3069	-0-2074	
-4 7	201	-2 29	40	-0.2074	1. 4957	
-0.1:	7 41	-2030	40	-0+2074	1.00)/	
FEEDBACK	MATRIX	С	TIME	= 15.00		
36.3	534	8.58	24	C.9273	-7.7044	
8.5	824	19.48	90	0.7189	-2.4395	
0.9	273	0.71	89	0.3090	-0.2268	
-7.7	044	-2.43	95	-0.2268	1.8651	
FEEDBACK	MATRIX	С	TIME	= 14.50		
41.61	94	8.79	31	1.0302	-8.6744	
8.79	931	19.50	02	0.7231	-2.4785	
1.03	302	0.72	31	0.3110	-0.2457	
-8.61	744	-2.47	85	-0.2457	2.0438	
FEEDBACK	MATRIX	С	TIME	= 14.00		
46.93	348	8.94	31	1.1321	-9.6474	
8-94	+31	19.50	58	0.7260	-2-5061	
1.13	321	0.72	60	0.3130	-0.2644	
-0.64	74	-2 50	41	-0.2666	2 2210	
- 30 0-		-2000	01	-0.2044	202217	
FEEDBACK	MATRIX	С	TIME	= 13.50		
52.28	348	9.04	95	1.2332	-10.6224	
9.04	+95	19.50	86	0.7280	-2,5256	
F.23	332	0.72	80	C.3149	-0-2828	
-10.62	224	-2.52	56	-0.2828	2.3996	
FEEDBACK	MATRIX	С	TIME	= 13.00		
57.65	91	9.12	49	1.3338	-11.5988	
9-12	249	19.51	00	0-7294	-2.5393	
1.33	38	0.72	94	0-3168	-0.3011	
-11-59	88	-2.53	93	+0.3011	2-5770	
FEEDBACK	MATRIX	C	TIME	= 12.50	. 205110	
43 AS	0.5	0.17	0.4			
03-03		9+1/3	09	1.4341	-12.5762	
9011	64	19-210	07	Ce7304	-2.5490	
1.43	44 L	0.73	04	0.3186	-0.3193	
-12.57	192	-2.54	90	-0.3193	2.7542	
FEEDBAC	K MATRI	хс	TIME	=12.00		
68.45	39	9.210	52	1.5340	-13-5543	
9.21	62	19.51	11	0.7311	-2.5559	
1.53	40	0-731	11	0.3208	-0. 2274	
-12-55	43	-2.661	50	-0 2274	- 0. 3374	
-13003	73	-2033	77	-0.5514	2.9313	

FEEDBACK	MATRIX	С	TIME	= 11.50	
73.86	58	9.24	29	1.6338	-14.5328
9.24	29	19.51	12	0.7316	-2.5607
1.63	818	0.73	16	0.3223	-0.3554
-14.5	328	-2.56	07	-0.3554	3.1082
FEECBACK	MATRIX	С	TIME	= 11.00	
79.20	837	9.26	19	1.7334	-15.5116
9.20	619	19.51	13	C.7320	-2.0041
1.7	334	0.73	20	C+ 3242	-0.5754
-15.5	116	-2.56	41	-0.3734	3.2000
FEEDBACK	MATRIX	С	TIME	= 10.50	
84.7	058	9.27	52	1.8329	-16.4907
9.2	752	19.51	14	0.7322	-2.5000
1.8	329	0.73	22	C. 3260	-0.3914
-16.4	907	-2.56	:66	-0.3914	304010
FEEDBACK	MATRIX	С	TIME	S = 10.00	
90.1	308	9.28	47	1.9323	-17.4699
9.2	847	19.51	14	C.7324	-2.5683
1.9	323	0.73	324	0.3278	-0.4093
-17.4	699	-2056	583	-0.4093	3.6386
FEEDBACK	MATRIX	С	TIME	E = 9.50	
95.5	580	9.29	14	2.0317	-18.4492
9.2	914	19.51	14	0.7325	-2.5695
2.0	317	0.73	325	0.3296	-0.4273
-18.4	492	-2.56	595	-0.4273	3.8153
FEEDBACK	MATRIX	C	TIME	E = 9.00	
100-9	866	9.29	961	2.1311	-19.4286
9.2	961	19.51	114	0.7326	-2.5703
2.1	311	0.73	326	0.3314	-0.4452
-19+4	286	-2.5	703	-0.4452	3.9920
FEEDBACH	(MATRI)	C C	TIM	E = 8.50	
106-4	4163	9.2	995	2.2305	-20.4081
9.	2995	19.5	114	0.7327	-2.5709
2.01	2305	0.7	327	0.3333	-0.4631
-20.4	4081	-2.5	709	-0.4631	4.1687
FEEDBAC	K MATRE	хс	TIM	E = 8.00	
111-	8467	9.3	018	2.3298	-21.3875
9.	3018	19.5	114	0.7327	-2.5714
2.	3298	0.7	327	0.3351	-0.4810
-21.	3875	-2.5	714	-0.4810	4.3453

GGC/EE/58-8

FEEDEACK MATRIX	C TIME	= 7.50	
117.2777	9.3035	2-4291	-22-3671
9. 2075	19.5114	0.7327	-2.5717
2 6 2 0 1	A 7327	0 3360	-0 4000
2.7271	0.1521	0.3309	-0.4989
-22.3671	-2.5717	-0.4989	4.5220
FEEDBACK MATRIX	C TIME	= 7.00	
122.7090	9.3047	2.5284	-23.3466
9-3047	19.5114	0-7328	-2-5719
2.5284	0.7328	0.3387	-0-5168
-23-3466	-2-5719	-0-5168	4-6987
EEEDBACK MATOLY	С	6 50	
FECUCACK MAIKIA	C TIME	= 0.50	
128.1406	9.3055	2.6277	-24.3262
9.3055	19.5114	0.7328	-2.5720
2.6277	0.7328	0.3405	-0.5347
-24.3262	-2.5720	-0.5347	4.8753
FEEDEACK MATRIX	C TIME	= 6.00	
133.5724	9.3061	2.7270	-25.3057
9.3061	19.5114	C. 7328	-2-5721
2.7270	0-7328	0-3423	-0. 5527
-25-3057	-2.5721	-0.5527	- 00 JJ21
			20020
FEEDBACK MATRIX	C TIME	= 5.50	
139.0042	9.3065	2.8263	-26.2853
9.3065	19.5114	C.7328	-2.5722
2.8263	0.7328	0-3442	-0-5706
-24-2853	-2-5722	-0-5706	5-2286
FEEDBACK MATRIX	C TIME	= 5.00	
144.4362	9.3068	2.9256	-27.2649
9.3068	19.5114	C.7328	-2.5722
2.9256	0.7328	C. 346C	-0.5885
-27.2649	-2.5722	-0.5885	5.4053
FEEDBACK MATRIX	C TIME	= 4.50	
149.8683	9.3070	3.0248	-28.2445
9-3070	19.5114	0.7328	-2.5723
3-0248	0.7328	0.3478	=0-6064
- 20 2445	-2 6722	-0 6066	5 5910
-2002443	-2.0123	-0.0004	201014
FEEDBACK MATRIX	C TIME	= 4.00	
155.3004	9.3072	3.1241	-29.2241
9.3072	19-5114	0.7328	-2.5723
3-1241	0.7328	0-3496	-0-6243
-20.2241	-2.5722	-0.6243	5.7584
-2706671	-201123	-0.0243	201200

FEEDEACK MATRIX	C	TIME	= 3.50	
160.7325	9.30	73	3.2234	-30.2036
9.3073	19.51	14	0.7328	-2.5723
3.2234	0.73	28	0.3514	-0.6422
-30.2036	-2.57	23	-0.6422	5.9352
FEEDBACK MATRIX	С	TIME	= 3.00	
166.1647	9.30	73	3.3227	-31.1832
9.3073	19.51	14	0.7328	-2.5723
3.3227	0.73	28	0.3532	-0e 6601
-31.1832	-2.57	23	-0.6601	6.1119
FEEDBACK MATRIX	С	TIME	= 2.50	
171.5968	9.30	74	3.4220	-32.1628
9.3074	19.51	14	0.7328	-2.5724
3.4220	0.73	28	0.3550	-0.6780
-32.1628	-2.57	24	-C.678C	6.2885
FEEDBACK MATRIX	С	TIME	= 2.00	
177.0290	9.30	74	3.5212	-33.1424
9.3074	19.51	14	0.7328	-2.5724
3.5212	0.73	28	0.3569	-0.6959
-33.1424	-2.57	24	-0.6959	6.4652
FEEDEACK MATRIX	С	TIME	= 1.50	
182.4612	9.30	74	3.6205	-34.1220
9.3074	19.51	14	0.7328	-2.5724
3.6205	0.73	28	0.3587	-0.7138
-34.1220	-2.57	24	-0.7138	6.6418
FEEDBACK MATRIX	С	TIME	= 1,00	
187.8934	9.30	75	3.7198	-35.1016
9.3075	19.51	14	0.7328	-2.5724
3.7198	C.73	28	C. 36C5	-0.7317
-35.1016	-2.57	24	-0.7317	6.8185
FEEDBACK MATRIX	С	TIME	= 0.50	
193. 3255	9.30	75	3.8191	-36.0811
9.3075	19.51	14	0.7328	-2.5724
3.8191	0.73	28	0.3623	-0.7496
-26 0011	-2 67	24	-0.7494	6.9951

NOTE ... ACTUAL STATE X(4) IS .01+N SUB L.

CONTROLS -RIBTC

4.4618	25.4666	17.7112	-0.2540
3.2558	-4.1983	-5.0272	-1.7607
-3.0162	-0.7036	1.0381	1.3135

A-BRISTC

-0.8582	-0.7542	0.3754	-0.0643
0.	0.	1.0000	0.
-9.0118	-50.2829	-37.3863	-0.6748
-5.6726	-9.2786	-1.7076	-0.4248

COEFFICIENTS OF CHARACTERISTIC EQUATION

A(1)= 1.000000E 00 A(2)= 3.866978E 01 A(3)= 1.004800E 02 A(4)= 5.145437E 01 A(5)= -2.368927E-03

ROOTS OF CHARACTERISTIC EQUATION

S=	-3.5911700E 01	+ J	
S=	-2.0638085E 00	+ J	0.
S=	-6.9431396E-01	+ J	0.
S=	4-60352408-05	+ J	

NOTE, CONTROLS IN DEGREES AND ANGLES IN RADIANS.

d	h	r.			
2	ĥ	Ł			
1		ъ	ċ.		
2	2	÷	•	٠	

TIME	ALPHA	THETA	THETA DOT	N ACCEL	ELEVATOR	SPOILERS	AILERONS
•0	-0-	C. 1000	-0-	-0-	0.8111	20.0000	-0-5204
0.0500	-0- 0049	0.0964	-0.1105	-3.8461	27.7910	31.6098	-12.5032
0.1000	-0-0102	C. 0905	-0-1198	-6.8457	8-8793	37.7462	-14.1687
C. 1500	-0.0148	0.0846	-0-1131	-9.3798	6. 3364	38.8994	-14.6303
0.2000	-0+0185	0.0792	-0-1044	-11-5468	6.4181	39.1544	-14.8272
0.2500	-0.0224	C. C742	-0.0962	-13, 3944	6.8527	39.1986	-14.9232
0.3000	-0.0254	0.0696	-0.0886	-14.9590	7.2723	39.1539	-14.9525
0•3500	-0.0278	0.0653	-0.0817	-16,2720	7.6241	39 • 0478	-14.9274
0.4000	-0-0295	C. C614	-0.0754	-17.3614	7.9069	38.8911	-14.8554
0.4500	-0.0316	0.0578	-0.0697	-18.2523	8.1271	38.6914	-14.7430
0•5000	-0.0330	0.0544	-0.0645	-18.9675	8.2917	38.4548	-14.5958
0.5500	-0.0341	C. 0513	-0-0597	-19.5271	8.4075	38.1870	-14.4187
0.000	-0.0350	0.0484	-0.0553	-19.9493	8.4802	37.8928	-14.2162
C. 6500	-0.0356	0.0458	-0.0514	-20.2503	8.5152	37.5767	-13.9922
G. 7000	-0°C360	C. 0433	-0.0477	-20.4449	8.5172	37.2425	-13.7503
C. 7500	-0.0362	0.0410	-0.0444	-20.5460	8.4904	36.8936	-13.4935
0.8000	-0-0363	0.0388	-0.0413	-20, 5653	8.4387	36.5332	-13.2247
0.8500	-0.0363	C. 0368	-0-0385	-20.5134	8.3655	36.1640	-12.9462
0006 •0	-0.0361	0.0350	-0.0360	-26, 3996	8.2736	35.7882	-12.6604
0.9500	-0.0359	C.0332	-0.0336	-20.2321	8.1660	35.4080	-12.3690
1.0000	-0.0355	0.0316	-0.0315	-20.0186	8.0449	35.0253	-12.0738
1.0500	-0.0351	C. 0301	-0.0295	-19.7656	7.9124	34.6416	-11.7762
1.1000	-0.0346	0.0287	-0.0276	-19.4791	7.7706	34.2583	-11-4775
1.1500	-0.0341	0.0273	-0.0260	-19.1643	7.6211	33.8768	-11-1790
1.2006	-0.0335	C. 0261	-0-0244	-18.8260	7.4653	33.4979	-10.8815
1.2500	-0.0329	0° 02 49	-0.0230	-18.4683	7.3046	33.1227	-10.5859
1.3000	-0.0322	0.0238	-0.0216	-18,0949	7.1402	32.7520	-10.2930
1.3500	-0.0316	C.0227	-0.0204	-17.7090	6.9731	32.3863	-10.0034
1.4000	-0-0309	0.0217	-0.0193	-17.3137	6.8042	32.0264	-9°7176
1.4500	-0-0302	0.0208	-0.0182	-16.9113	6.6342	31.6725	-9.4362
1.5000	-0.0294	6510°0	-0.0172	-16.5042	6.4640	31.3252	-9.1594
1.5500	-0.0287	1610-0	-0.0163	-16.0944	6.2941	30.9848	-8-8877
1-6000	-0.0280	C. 0183	-0°0155	-15.6835	6.1250	30,6515	-8.6212

TIME	ALPHA	THETA	THETA DOT	N ACCEL	ELEVATOR	SPOILERS	AILERONS
1.6500	-0.0273	C.0175	-0.0147	-15.2731	5.9572	30-3254	-8-3602
1.7000	-0-0266	C.0168	-0.0139	-14-8644	5-7911	30-0069	-8-1049
1.7500	-0.0258	G.0161	-0-0132	-14-4587	5-6271	29-6959	-7-8553
1.8000	-0.0251	0.0155	-0.0126	-14-0569	5.4653	29-3925	-7-6117
1.8500	-0.0244	C.0149	-0-0120	-13.6598	5, 3061	29.0968	-7.3739
1.9000	-0.0237	0.0143	-0.0114	-13.2682	5.1496	28.8088	-7.1421
1.9500	-0.0230	C.0137	-0•0109	-12,8826	4.9961	28.5283	-6-9163
2.0000	-0.C224	0.0132	-0.0104	-12.5036	4.8457	28.2555	-6.6964
2.0500	-0.6217	C.0127	-0° 0066	-12.1316	4°6984	27.9903	-6.4825
2-1000	-0.021C	C.0122	-0+0065	-11.7670	4.5544	27.7324	-6.2744
2.1500	-0.C204	C.0118	-0-0090	-11-4099	4.4137	27.4819	-6.0722
2.2000	-0.C158	0.0113	-0-0587	-11.0607	4.2763	27.2387	-5.8757
2-2500	-0.0192	C.0109	-0.0083	-10.7195	4.1423	27.0026	-5.6848
2.3000	-0.C186	0.0105	-0+0079	-10.3864	4.0118	26.7734	-5.4995
2.3500	-0.0180	C.0101	-0.0076	-10.0614	3.8846	26.5512	-5.3197
2.4000	-0.C174	1600.0	-0.0073	-9.7447	3.7609	26.3356	-5.1453
2.4500	-0.0169	0°0094	-0.0070	-9.4361	3. 6405	26.1266	-4.9761
2.5000	-0.0164	0• 00 90	-0.0067	-9.1358	3.5234	25.9241	-4.8121
2.5500	-0.0158	C. 0087	-0.0064	-8,8436	3.4396	25.7278	-4.6531
2 • 6000	-0.C153	0.0084	-0.0062	-8-5594	3.2991	25.5376	-4.4990
2.6500	-0.C148	C. 0081	-0+0059	-8.2832	3.1918	25.3535	-4.3497
2.7000	-0-C143	C. 0078	-0.0057	-8.0149	3.0876	25.1751	-4.2051
2.7500	-0-0135	0•0075	-0.0355	-7.7543	2.9865	25.0024	-4.0651
2.8000	-0.Cl34	0.0072	-0.0053	-7.5014	2.8884	24.8352	-3.9295
2.8500	-0-0130	C. 0070	-0.0051	-7.2559	2.7934	24.6734	-3.7982
2.9000	-0.0126	0.0067	-0-0049	-7.0178	2.7012	24.5168	-3.5711
2.9500	-0+0122	C+ 0065	-0.0047	-6.7869	2.6118	24.3653	-3.5482
3.0000	-0.C118	C. 0063	-0-0045	-6.5631	2.5253	24.2186	-3.4291
3.0500	-0.0114	0.0060	-0•0043	-6.3461	2.4414	24.0768	-3.3140
3.1000	-0.0110	0.0058	-0.0042	-6.1358	2.3602	23 . 9396	-3.2026
3.1500	-0.0106	C. 0056	-0+00+0-	-5,9321	2.2815	23.8069	-3.0948
3.2000	-0-0103	C+0054	-0-0039	-5.7348	2.2054	23.6785	-2.9906
3.2500	5600-0-	0.0052	-0.0037	-5.5438	2.1316	23.5544	-2.8898
3.3000	-0-0066	0.0051	-0-0036	-5.3588	2.0603	23.4344	-2.7923

TIME	ALPHA	THETA	THELA DOT	N ACCEL	ELEVATOR	SPOILERS	AII, ERONS
				F051 3-	1.9912	23.3183	-2.6980
3.3500	-0.0093	C+00+3	-0-0035	161700-	1 0266	1900-20	-2-6069
3.4000	-0-00-00	0.0047	-0-0033	+000 ·C -	10200 ·	100200	-2.5188
2.4500	-0-0087	0-0045	-0.0032	-4.8386	86C9 • 1	0140007	7007097
		0-0044	-0-0031	-4.6763	1.7972	2200428	0000
3. 5000		0000	-0-0030	-4.5192	1.7367	22.8914	-2.3512
3.5500	1800-0-	20000	-0.0029	-4-3672	1.6782	22.7934	-2.2716
3.6000	R/ 00•0-			-4-2202	1.6216	22.6987	-2.1946
3.6500	-0-0016			-4-0781	1-5669	22.6072	-2.1202
3.7000	-0-0013	0.0035		3.9406	1-5140	22.5188	-2.0483
3.7500	-0-0071	0.0031		-3-8076	1-4628	22.4333	-1.9788
3.8000	-0.0068	0.0036		- 3- 6701	1.4133	22.3507	-1.9117
3.8500	-0.0066	0.0034	-200 O	- 2. 5547	1-3655	22.2708	-1.8468
3.9000	-0.0064	0.0033		2454 5-	1-3193	22-1937	-1.7840
3.9500	-0.0062	0.0032			1. 2746	22-1191	-1.7234
4.0000	-0.0059	C• 0031	-0.0022	- 30 JC 02	1 3214	22-0471	-1-6649
4-0500	-0.0057	0.0030	-0.0021	- 3+ 2000	L10701	21 0776	-1-6083
4-1000	-0.0055	0.0029	-0.0020	-3.0974	1681 •1	C116017	1 5526
4-1500	-0-0054	0.0028	-0.0019	-2•9925	1•1493	21.9102	0002 1
0000 9	-0-0052	0-0027	-0.0019	-2.8910	1.1103	21.8455	000C+T-
0000 V	-0-0050	0-0026	-0.0018	-2. 7930	1.0726	21.7825	
00000		0-0025	-0-0017	-2.6982	1.0362	21.7218	-1-4004
4. 3000		0.0026	-0-0017	-2-6066	1.0010	21.6632	-1.3528
4. 3500		0000	-0-016	-2-5181	0-9670	21.6066	-1.3067
4.4000	-0-0042		-00010	-2-4326	0-9341	21.5519	-1.2622
4.4500	-0-0044	6200 °D	010000-	0.971.87			
	C 7 U U U U	G_0022	-0.0015	-2,3500	0.9024	21.4991	-1-2195
	1900-0-	0-0021	-0-0015	-2.2701	0.8717	21.4480	011101-
		0-0020	-0-0014	-2.1929	0.8421	21.3987	-101311
0000		0-0020	-0-0014	-2.1184	0.8134	21e3511	-1°0484
0000-6		010000	-10013	-2-0463	0.7857	21.3050	-1°001-
4. 7000	10000-	6100 0	-0-0013	-1-9767	0- 7590	21.2606	-1+0253
4.7500	-0.0035	0.0010		1 0005	0-7332	21-2176	+066 *0-
4.8000	-0-0034	0.0018	2100-0-	10202	2002-0	21.1761	-0-9566
4.8500	-0-0033	0.0017	-0.0012		200100	1961-12	-0-9241
4-9000	-0.0032	0.0016	-0-0011	-10/01-		10073	-0-8926
4.9500	-0-0031	0.0016	-0-0011	-1-7211	000000	0000	-0-8621
5-0000	-0-0030	0.0015	-0-0011	-1.6625	0.6383	4460012	-0- 8328
5-0500	-0-0029	0.0015	-0.0010	-1.6059	0.0100	0070017	

Sample Output, Computer Program D

The following is a sample output of computer program D, with states $X(1) = N_L$ (Normal acceleration), $X(2) = \theta$ (Pitch angle), and $X(3) = \theta$ (Pitch rate). The feedbacks specified by this run (CONTROL = RIBTC, referred to as controller 61) are similar to those used for flight condition one testing with the six degree of freedom simulation at the Flight Dynamics Laboratory.

Q MATRIX

-0.	-0.
40.0000	-0.
-0.	20.0000
	-0. 40.0000 -0.

R MATRIX

0.0400	-0.	-0.
-0.	0.0400	-0.
-0.	-0.	0.0400

Q MATRIX CHECK

COEFFICIENTS OF CHARACTERISTIC EQUATION

 $\dot{A}(1) = 1.000000E 00$ A(2) = -6.100000E 01 A(3) = 8.600000E 02A(4) = -8.000000E 02

ROOTS OF CHARACTERISTIC EQUATION

S=	9.9999998E-	01	+ J	
S=	3.9999999E	01	+J	0.
S=	2.000000E	01	+J	0.

R MATRIX CHECK

COEFFICIENTS OF CHARACTERISTIC EQUATION

A(1)= 1.000000E 00 A(2)= -1.200000E-01 A(3)= 4.800000E-03 A(4)= -6.399999E-05

ROOTS OF CHARACTERISTIC EQUATION

S=	4.0048018E-02	+ J	8.2612640E-05
S=	4.0048018E-02	+.1	-8.2612640E-05
S=	3.9912091E-02	+ J	

FLIGHT CONDITION 1

A MATRIX

-5.1924	0.	5.3076
0.	0.	1.0000
-2.8067	0.	-1.4612

B MATRIX

-0.3324	0.2114	-0.1043
0.	0.	0.
-1.8858	0.5596	-0-1282

TIME = 7,50

FEEDBACK MATRIX C

0.1117	~0.0825	-0.0339
-0.0825	1.7.6124	0.3873
-0.0339	0.3873	0.4499

TIME = 7.00

FEEDBACK MATRIX C

0.1132	-0-1582	-0.0357
-0.1582	26.2411	0.5899
-0.0357	0.5899	0.4546

T1ME = 6.50

FEEDBACK MATRIX C

0.1135	-0.1834	-0-0363
-0.1834	29.0097	0.6550
-0.0363	0.6550	0.4562

TIME = 6.00

FEEDBACK MATRIX C

0.1135	-0.1904	-0.0365
-0.1904	29.7697	0.6729
-0.0365	0.6729	0.4566

TIME = 5.50

FEEDBACK MATRIX C

0.1135	-0.1922	-0.0365
-0.1922	29.9691	0.6776
-0.0365	0.6776	0.4567

NOTE ... ACTUAL STATE X(1) IS .01+N SUB L.

CONTROL= -RIBTC		
-0.7777	30.3457	21.2263
-0.0892	-8.4637	-6.1963
0.1791	1.6701	1.3683

A-BRIBTC

-4.9714	-12.0495	-3.2001
0.	0.	1-0000
-1.4130	-62.1751	-45.1317

COEFFICIENTS OF CHARACTERISTIC EQUATION

AL	1)=	1.000000E	00
AL	21=	5.010310E	01
AL	31=	2.820211E	02
AL	41=	2.920704E	02

ROOTS OF CHARACTERISTIC EQUATION

S=	-4.9326298E	00	+ J	0.		
S=	-1.3512778E	00	+J	0.		
S=	-4.3819191E	01	+ J			
DILERS BIAS	ED UP 20 DEGR	EES.				
-------------	---------------	---------	------------	----------	----------	----------
TIME	N ACCEL	THETA	THET'S DU.	ELEVATOR	SPOILERS	AILERONS
	Ť	0-1000	-0-	••	20.0000	••
0.0500	-4-0531	0.0959	-0.1196	23.1158	16.1555	-0.6143
0.1000	-6-3444	0.0897	-0-1241	7.8861	20.8761	-1.7951
0-1500	-7.8591	0.0837	-0.1165	7.2960	21.1865	-1-9333
0-2000	-8-8454	0.0781	-0.1083	7.9512	21.0469	-1.9286
0-2500	-9.4387	0.0728	-0.1006	8.4492	20.8910	-1.8888
0.3000	-9.7371	0.0680	-0.0936	8.7072	20.7600	-1.8318
0-3500	-9.8160	0.0635	-0.0871	8.7730	20.6530	-1.7639
0.4000	-9.7335	0.0593	-0.0811	8.6960	20.5654	-1.6891
0.4500	-9.5342	0.0563	-0.0756	8.5155	20.4934	-1.6104
0.5000	-9.2525	0.0517	-0-0705	8.2621	20.4337	-1.5299
0-5500	-8-9147	0.0483	-0.0658	1656-1	20.3840	-1.4492
0-6000	-8-5406	0-0451	-0-0614	7.6241	20.3422	-1.3696
0-6500	-8-1454	0.0421	-0.0573	7.2706	20.3067	-1.2919
0-1000	-7.7405	0.0394	-0.0535	6.9085	20.2765	-1.2167
0-7500	-7.3342	0.0368	-0-0499	6.5455	20.2504	-1-1444
0-8000	-6.9327	0-0344	-0.0466	6.1868	20.2278	-1.0753
0-8500	-6.5405	0.0321	-0.0435	5.8365	20.2080	-1-0004
0006-0	-6.1606	0.0300	-0-0407	5.4973	20.1906	-0-9469
0-9500	-5-7952	0.0481	-0-0380	5.1711	20.1752	-0.8877
1-0000	-5.4456	U. 0262	-0.0355	4.8590	20.1614	-0.8318
1.0500	-5-1124	0.0245	-0.0332	4.5616	20.1491	1617.0-
1-1000	1961-4-	0.0229	-0-0310	4.2793	20.1379	-0.7295
1.1500	-4-4966	0.6214	-0.0290	4.0120	20.1278	-0.6829
1.2000	-4.2136	0.02/30	-0.0271	\$652*	20.1186	-0.6390
1.2500	-3.9468	0.0187	-0.0253	3.5214	20.1101	-0.5979

NOTE, CONTROLS IN DEGREES AND ANGLES IN RADIANS.

SPOIL

1

TIME	N ACCFL	THETA	THETA DOT	ELEVATOR	SPOILERS	AILERONS
1-3000	-3.6955	0-0175	-0.0236	3.2972	20.1024	-0.5593
1 3500	-3-4592	0-0163	-0.0221	3.0863	20.0953	-0.5231
1 -4000	-3.2373	0.0153	-0-0206	2.8883	20.0888	-0-4892
1.4500	-3-0289	0-0143	-0-0193	2.7024	20.0827	-0-4575
1-5000	-2.8335	0.0133	-0-0180	2.5280	20.0771	-0.4278
1-5500	-2.6503	0.0125	-0.0168	2.3645	20.0719	-0.4000
1.6000	-2.4787	0.0117	-0-0157	2.2114	20.0671	-0.3740
1.6500	-2.3179	0.0109	-0~0147	2.0680	20.0626	-0.3496
1.7000	-2.1674	0.0102	-0.0138	1.9337	20.0585	-0.3268
1-7500	-2.0265	0.0095	-0.0129	1.8080	20.0546	-0-3055
1-8000	-1.8947	0-0089	-0.0120	1.6904	20.0510	-0.2856
1-8500	-1.7713	0.0083	-0.0112	1.5803	20.0476	-0.2670
1-9000	-1.6559	0.0078	-0.0105	1.4774	20.0445	-0.2496
1.9500	-1.5480	0.0073	-0-0098	1.3811	20.0415	-0.2333
2-0000	-1-4471	0.0068	-0.0092	1.2910	20.0388	-0.2181
2.0500	-1.3527	0.0063	-0-0086	1.2068	20.0363	-0-2038
2.1000	-1.2645	0.0069	-0.0080	1.1281	20.0339	-0-1905
2-1500	-1-1819	0-0055	-0.0075	1.0545	20.0317	-0.1781
2.2000	-1.1048	0-0052	-0.0070	0.9857	20.0296	-0.1665
2.2500	-1.0327	0.0048	-0.0065	0.9213	20.0276	-0.1556
2.3000	-0.9653	U. 0045	-0-0061	0.8612	20.0258	-0-1454
2.3500	-0.9022	0.0042	-0-0057	0.8049	20.0241	-0.1359
2.4000	-0-8433	0+00+0	-0.0053	0.7524	20.0226	-0.1270
2.4500	-0.7883	0.0037	-0*0050	0.7033	20.0211	-0.1187
2-5000	-0.7368	0*0035	-0-0047	0.6573	20.0197	-0.1110
2.5500	-0./3887	0.0032	-0-0044	0.6144	20.0184	-0.1037
2-6000	-0-15437	0.00.0	-0.0041	0.5743	20.0172	-0.0970
2.6500	-0.6016	0.0028	-0.0038	0.5368	20.0161	-0-0906
2.7000	-0.5623	0.0026	-0.0036	0.5017	20.0150	-0-0847
2.7500	-0.5256	0-0025	-0-0033	0.4689	20.0141	-0-0792
2-8000	-0.4913	0.0023	-0.0031	0.4383	20-0131	-0-0740
2.8500	-0.4592	0.0022	-0.0029	0.4097	20.0123	-0.0692
2.9000	-0.4292	0-0020	-0.0027	0.3829	20.0115	-0-0646

.....

* *

6.1	N ACCEL	ТНЕТА	THETA DOT	ELEVATOR	SPOILERS	ATLERONS
2.9500	-0-4011	0-0019	-0.0025	0.3579	20.0107	-0-0604
3.0000	-0.3749	0.0018	-0.0024	0.3345	20.0100	-0.0565
3.0500	-0.3504	0.0016	-0.0022	0.3126	20.0094	-0.0528
3.1000	-0.3275	0.0015	-0.0021	0.2922	20.0088	-0.0493
3.1500	-0.3061	0.0014	-0.0019	0.2731	20.0082	-0.0461
3.2000	-0.2861	0.0013	-0.0018	0.2553	20.0077	-0.0431
3.2500	-0.2675	0.0013	-0.0017	0.2386	20.0072	-0.0403
3.3000	-0.2500	0.0012	-0.0016	0.2230	20.0067	-0.0377
3.3500	-0.2336	0.0011	-0.0015	0.2085	20.0062	-0.0352
3.4000	-0.2184	0.0010	-0.0014	0.1948	20.0058	-0.0329
3.4500	-0-2041	0.0010	-0-0013	0.1821	20.0055	-0.0307
3-5000	-0.1908	0.0009	-0-0012	0.1702	20.0051	-0.0287
3.5500	-0.1783	0.0008	-0.0011	0.1591	20.0048	-0.0269
3.6000	-0.1667	0.0008	-0-0011	0.1487	20.0045	-0.0251
3.6500	-0.1558	0.0007	-0.0010	0.1390	20.0042	-0.0235
3.7000	-0.1456	0 0007	-00000-	0.1299	20.0039	-0.0219
3.7500	-0.1361	0.0006	-0.0009	0.1214	20.0036	-0.0205
3.8000	-0.1272	0.0006	-0.00r8	0.1135	20.0034	-0.0192
3.8500	-0.1189	0.0006	-0.0008	0.1061	20.0032	-0.0179
3. 9000	-0-1111	0.0005	-0.0007	1660.0	20.0030	-0.0167
3.9500	-0.1039	0.0005	-0.0007	0.0927	20.0028	-0.0156
4.0000	-0.0971	0.0005	-0-0006	0.0866	20.0026	-0.0146
4.0500	-0.0907	0.0004	-0-0006	0.0809	20.0024	-0.0137

A-23

GOC/EE/68-8

τ.

Appendix B

Digital Computer Subroutines

COMPUTER OPTIMIZATION PROGRAM SUBROUTINES

\$18	FTC SUB1 DECK+XR7
	SUBROUTINE FCN(KP, J2, X, F)
С	FCN(NO. EQN, EQN SET, VAR. VALUE, VAR. DERIV)
	COMMON A(3,3),B(3,3),D(16,3),Q(3,3),R(3,3),C(3,3),WKA(3,3),
	$ZWKB(3,3) \bullet WKC(3,3) \bullet WKD(3,3) \bullet RIBT(3,3) \bullet M \bullet N \bullet BRIBT(3,3)$
	DIMENSION $F(6) (3, 3) (3, 3) (3, 1) (3, 1)$
	GO TO (1,2,3),J2
С	MATRIX C IS SYMMETRIC PER ATHENS AND FALB
1	CONTINUE
2	C(1,1)=X(1)
	C(1,2)=X(2)
	C(1,3) = X(3)
	C(2,1)=X(2)
	C(2,2)=X(4)
	C(2,3)=X(5)
	C(3+1)=X(3)
	C(3+2)=X(5)
	C(3,3) = X(6)
	(F(JZ-EQ-Z) GO TO TO
	CALL GMPRD(BRIBT+C+WKB+N+N+N)
	CALL GMPRD(C+WKB+WKC+N+N+N)
	CALL MXPM(WKC)Q,WKB,N,N,-1)
	CALL GMTRA(A,WKC,N,N)
	CALL GMPRD (WKC+C+WKA+N+N+N)
	CALL MXPM(WKB,WKA,WKD,N,N,-1)
	CALL GMPRD(C+A+WKB+N+N+N)
	CALL MXPM(WKD,WKB,CD,N,N,-1)
	F(1) = CD(1+1)
	F(2) = CD(1+2)
	F(3) = CD(1+3)
	F(4) = CD(2+2)
	F(5)=CU(2+3)
	F(6)=CD(3+3)
10	D CONTINUE
	RETURN
3	DO 4 I=1,N
4	XX(1+1) = X(1)
	CALL GMPRDIWKA + XX + DUM + N + N + 1 /
-	
2	P(1)=DUM(1)1)
	END

SIBFT	C SUB2 DECK , XR7	
	SUBROUTINE RUNGE (N, J2, Y, X, DX)	
C CAL	L (NO. EQN, EQN SET, VARIABLE, START TIME, DEL TIME)	
20	DIMENSION Y(6), YO(6), YT(6), YP(6), PO(6), PI(6), P2(6), P3(6)	
1	XO=X	
	X=X+DX	
	H=DX	
2	IF(ABS(H).GT.ABS(X-XO)) H=X-XO	
	DO 4 I=1.N	
4	YO(I)=Y(I)	
	HT=H	
	XT=XO	
	RMAXP = 1.E37	
	DO 5 I=1.N	
5	YT(1)=YO(1)	
	ASSIGN 6 TO K	
	GO TO 20	
6	DO 7 1=1.N	
7	YP(1)=Y(1)	
8	HT=0.5+H	
	ASSIGN 9 TO K	
	GO TO 20	
9	DO 10 I=1.N	
10	YT(1)=Y(1)	
	XT=XO+HT	
	ASSIGN 11 TO K	
20	CALL FCN(N, J2, T, PO)	
	DO 21 I=1.N	
21	Y(1)=YT(1)+0.5*HT*PO(1)	
	CALL FCN(N+J2+Y+P1)	
	DO 22 I=1.N	
22	Y(1)=YT(1)+.5+HT+P1(1)	
	CALL FCN(N, J2, Y, P2)	
	DO 23 1=1.N	
23	Y(1)=YT(1)+HT*P2(1)	
	CALL FCN(N, J2, Y, P3)	
	DO 24 I=1.N	
24	Y(I)=YT(I)+HT*(PO(I)+2.*(P1(I)+P2(I))+P3(I))/6.	
	GO TO K.(6.9.11)	
11	RMAX=0.	
	DO 12 I=1.N	
12	RMAX=AMAX1(RMAX++07*ABS((Y(I)-YP(I))/Y(I)))	
	IF ((RMAX.GT.1.E-06).AND.(RMAX.LT.RMAXP)) GO TO 17	
	XQ=XO+H	
	IF(XO.EQ.X) RETURN	
	IF((RMAX.LT.1.E-7).OR.(RMAX.GT.RMAXP)) H=H+H	
	GO TO 2	
17	H=HT	
~.	XT=XQ	
	DO 19 I=1.N	
18	YP(I)=YT(I)	
19	YT(1)=YO(1)	
	RMAXP = RMAX	
	GO TO 8	
	END	

B-2

21

```
SIBFTC SUB3
                DECK .XR7
      SUBROUTINE MXPM(A,B,C,M,N,NSGN)
  A + OR - B = C. M IS NO. ROWS. N IS NO. COLS. NSGN INCIDATES + OR
С
      DIMENSION A(M+N)+B(M+N)+C(M+N)
      IF(NSGN.LT.O) GO TO 3
      D01 I=1,M
      DO 1 J=1+N
      C(I,J)=A(I,J)+B(I,J)
 1
      RETURN
      DO 2 I=1,M
  3
      DO 2 J=1,N
      C(I,J)=A(I,J)-B(I,J)
 2
      RETURN
      END
SIBFTC SUB4
                DECK+XR7
       SUBROUTINE GMTRA(A+B+M+N)
  B=A TRANSPOSE. M = NO. ROWS IN A = NO. COLS IN B.
N = NO. COLS IN A = NO. ROWS IN B.
С
С
      DIMENSION A(M,N),B(N,M)
      DC 3 I=1.M
       D() 3 J=1,N
      B(J_{i}I) = A(I_{i}J)
 3
       RETURN
       END
$IBFTC SUB5
                DECK + XR7
       SUBROUTINE GMPRD(A, B, C, NA, NB, NC)
   A*B=C NA=NO. ROWS IN A=NO. ROWS IN C. NB=NO. COLS IN A=NO. ROWS IN
С
   NC= NO. COLS IN B=NO. COLS IN C.
С
       DIMENSION A(NA,NB),B(NB,NC),C(NA,NC)
       DO 7 I=1+NA
       DO 7 J=1,NC
       SUM =0.
       DO 5 L=1.NB
       SUM=SUM+A(I,L)+B(L,J)
 5
 7
       C(I,J)=SUM
       RETURII
       END
```

SIBFT	C SUB6 DECK, XR7
	SUBROUTINE MTXINV(A, B, N)
С	MATRIX INVERSION SUBROUTINE
C B=	A INVERSE. N IS ORDER OF MATRICES.
	DIMENSION A(N,N),B(N,N),K(100),P(100)
	NN=N
20	DO 30 I=1.NN
	K(I)=I
	DO 30 J=1.NN
30	$B(I_{\bullet}J) = A(I_{\bullet}J)$
	DO 330 T=1-NN
	$I \ge NN - I + I$
	PF=0
	DO 120 11=1-12
	TPF=B(11,1)
	IF (ABS(PE)-ABS(TRE)) 100-100-120
100	PE=TPE
-00	TP=T1
120	CONTINUE
	IF (PE) 160-510-160
160	
170	$P(J-1)=R(IP_{A})/PE$
	P(NN)=1-O/PE
	IP=K(IP)
	12=0
	DO 310 I=1-NM
	IE (K(1) - ID) 260.250 260
250	12=1
	60 TO 310
260	
200	
300	
500	P(11,MM) = TDE = P(MM)
310	CONTINUE
210	
320	B(NN=1)=D(1)
330	
550	
400	
400	
410	
410	
510	
210	WRITE (0)1001)
	CALL FALMIDIUI
1001	FORMAT (ACHOCHOROLITING MINNE STUDE CONTACT
1001	END

\$11	BFTC SUB7 DECK+XR7
c	SUBROUTINE CHRPOL (A,B,N) FIND CHARACTERITIC FOULTION OF REAL MATRIX (A) BY BOCHED FORMULA DE
č	234 OF DERUSSO.
С	A IS GIVEN MATRIX, B HAS COEFFICIENTS OF CHARACTERISTIC EQUATION.
С	N IS ORDER OF A.
С	T(1) = SUM OF MAIN DIAGONAL ELEMENTS OF (A). T(2) = MAIN DIAGONA
С	(A) SQUARE P(E)=E(N+B(1)+E(N-1 + B(2)+E(N-2 ++ B(N-1)+E +
	DIMENSION A(3,3),B(4),T(3),C(3,3),D(3,3)
С	COMPUTE T MATRIX
	DO 2 I=1,N
	DOZ J=1,N
2	$C(I_{9}J) = A(I_{9}J)$
	SUM = U.
2	$\frac{1}{1} \frac{1}{1} \frac{1}$
2	SUM = SUM + A(1)
	DO = K = 2.N
	CALL GMPPD (A.C.D.N.N.N.
	$DO 5 I = 1 \cdot N$
5	$SUM = SUM + D(L_AL)$
	T(K) = SUM
	DO 6 I=1.N
	DO 6 J = 1 N
6	$C(I_{J}) = D(I_{J})$
4	CONTINUE
С	COMPUTE B COEFFICIENTS
	$B(1) = 1_{\bullet}$
	B(2) = -T(1)
	DO 7 K=2,N
	SUM = T(K)
	DO 8 L=I+NP
0	
7	SUM=SUM+B(L+1)+I(NS) B/K+1) = () (ELOAT(K)) HOUND
-	DINTIJ = (-I+/FLUAI(K))*SUM
	EION
5 I 8	FTC SUB8 DECK+XR7
	SUBROUTINE ROOTS(IDIOT, A, D)
C	IDIOT IS DEGREE OF POLYNOMIAL. (A) HAS COEFF OF A(1) *X(N + A(2) *X(N
С	(D) HAS COMPLEX ROOTS OF POLYNOMIAL.
	DIMENSION $A(4)$, $B(4)$, $C(3)$, $D(3,2)$
	MDITE (6.11)
	WRITE (OFILL)

111 FORMAT(//,1X,39HCOEFFICIENTS OF CHARACTERISTIC EQUATION,//)

.

	DO 109 I=1.M
109	WRITE(6,110) I.A(I)
110	FORMAT(1X+2HA(+12+2H)=+1PF(14+6)
	WRITE (6.112)
112	FORMAT(//.1X.32HROOTS OF CHARACTERISTIC FOUATION.//)
6	IF(A(M))76.8.76
0	PI=0.
0	
	KK = KK + I
	D(KK) = 0
	WRITE(0,93) RI
_	GO TO B
1	SUM=U.
	DO 12 I=1.M
	X=A(I)
	IF(X)9,12,10
9	X=0X
10	SUM=SUM+ALOG(X)
12	DOG=M
	DOG=1e/DOG
	SUM=DOG+SUM
	CAT=EXP (SUM)
	DO 14 I=1,M
14	A(I)=A(I)/CAT
	X=ABS (A(2)/A(1))
	Y=ABS (A(M-1)/A(M))
18	IF(X-Y)19,22,22
19	DO 20 I=1,M
20	B(1)=A(1)
	J=M
	DO 21 I=1,M
	A(I)=B(J)
21	J=J-1
	NO=0-NO
	GO TO 23
22	NO=NO
23	TOL=1.0E-07
58	P=0.
	Q=0.
	R=Q
	10=2
	B(1)=A(1)
	C(1)=A(1)
	DO 100 K=1.20
	R(2) = A(2) - (P + R(1))
	DO 25 1=3.M
25	B(I) = A(I) = ((D+B(I-1)) + (O+B(I-2)))
63	$C(2) = \Theta(2) = (D + C(1))$
	J-M-2 15(1-2)26,27,27
27	
29	C([]=B([)=((D=C([=)))=(O=C([=2))))
26	C(M=1)=((D=C(M=2))+(O=C(M=2))
20	C(M=1) = -((M=2)) = ((M=2)) = ((M=1)) = ((M=2))
	JE(DENON120,20,20

.

30	B(M)=ABS(B(M))
40	POW=M-1
	POW=2./POW
20	
29	PI=P+(((B(M-1)/*C(M-2))-(B(M)*C(M-3)))/DENOM)
	UI=U+(((B(M)*C(M-Z))-(B(M-I)*C(M-1)))/DENOM)
	IF (A(M-1)/32,31,32
31	X=ABS (B(M-1))
34	IF(X-TOL)37,37,38
32	RAT1=ABS (B(M-1)/A(M-1))
41	IF(RAT1-TOL)37,37,38
37	RAT2=ABS (B(M)/A(M))
43	IF(RAT2-TOL)60,60,38
38	P≖PI
	Q=QI
44	GO TO (100.50).10
50	DO 51 I=2.M
51	B(I) = A(I) + R + B(I-1)
	N = M - 1
52	C(T) = P(T) + P + C(T - 1)
26	$\mathbf{F}(\mathcal{L}(\mathbf{N})) = \mathbf{F}(\mathbf{C}(\mathbf{N})) = \mathbf{F}(\mathbf{C}(\mathbf$
52	
25	
54	
24	
	RI = R - (B(M) / C(N))
	RAIJ=ABS (B(M)/A(M))
56	IF(RAT3-TOL)80,80,100
100	R=RI
	TOL=TOL+10.
	IF(TOL-1.0E-03)58,59,59
59	WRITE(6,95) KK
	GO TO 81
60	IF(NO)61,61,62
61	PI=PI/QI
	QI=1+0/QI
62	RR1=-PI/2.
	RR2=RR1
	RAD = ((PI + PI)/4) - QI
	IF(RAD)63,64,65
63	CR1=SQRT (-RAD)
	CR2=-CR1
	GO TO 69
65	1F(PI)66.66.67
66	RP1=PP1+SORT (RAD)
67	BRI-RRI-SORT (RAD)
68	
64	
~	
60	KK-KKT1 CUT-A
07	D/KK-1) - DO1
	D(KK,2) = CD
	U(KN)z) = (K)
	ULKKOI) # RR2

.

.8

•

D(KK+2) = CR2	
WRITE (6,93) RR1, CR1	
WRITE (6,93) RR2,CR2	
M=M-2	
IF(M-1)81,81,82	
DO 70 I=2+M	
A(I)=B(I)	
IF(M-3)78,71,7	
PI=A(2)/A(1)	
QI=A(3)/A(1)	
GO TO 60	
IF (NO) 73.73.74	
RI=1./RI	
KK = KK + 1	
D(KK,1) = RI	
$D(KK_{2}) = 0.$	
WRITE(6,93) RI	
M=M-1	
IF(M-1)81,81,83	
DO 79 I=2+M	
A(I)=B(I)	
IF(M-2)81,75,76	
RI = -A(2)/A(1)	
GO TO 80	
FORMAT(E28.8)	
FORMAT(1X,2HS=,1PE15,7,3X,2H+J,1PE15,7)	
FORMAT(36HROOTS SUBROUTINE FAILED AFTER ROOT 12)	
CONTINUE	
DETHON	
KEIUKN	
	D(KK+2) = CR2 WRITE (6,93) RR1, CR1 WRITE (6,93) RR2,CR2 M=M-2 IF(M-1)81,81,82 DO 70 I=2,M A(I)=B(I) IF(M-3)78,71,7 PI=A(2)/A(1) GO TO 60 IF(NO)73,73,74 RI=1./RI KK = KK + 1 D(KK,1) = RI D(KK,2) = 0. WRITE(6,93) RI M=M-1 IF(M-1)81,81,83 DO 79 I=2,M A(I)=B(I) IF(M-2)81,75,76 RI=-A(2)/A(1) GO TO 80 FORMAT(E28.8) FORMAT(1X,2HS=,1PE15,7,3X,2H+J,1PE15,7) FORMAT(36HROOTS SUBROUTINE FAILED AFTER ROOT ,12) CONTINUE

Appendix C

Sample Derivation

Quasi-Elastic Aerodynamic Coefficients



GGC/BE/68-8

The following sample derivation of a quasi-elastic aerodynamic coefficient was provided by The Boeing Company. In the basic system, the only elastic degree of freedom is fin torsion. When accounting for spanwise variations of lift distribution and surface rigidity, the method becomes more complex. However, the form of the equations is very similar to that shown below.





Let 1/K = Elastic Deflection in Deg/Ft-Lb Then: $\sum M_{EA} = K \times \Delta \infty_{EL}$

Or: Δc

 $\Delta \propto_{EL} = \frac{\sum M_{EA}}{K}$



Taking moments:

$$\Sigma M E.A. = (C_{L_{\alpha}})_{RIG} (\approx_{RIG} + \Delta \propto_{EL})_{g} S X_{AC}$$

From the basic definition:

$$\Sigma M_{E,A,} = K \Delta \infty_{EL}$$

Thus:

$$K_{\Delta \propto EL} = (C_{L_{\infty}})_{RIG} (\sim_{RIG} + \Delta \propto_{EL}) g SXAC$$

Solving for

$$\Delta \infty_{EL} = \frac{(C_{L})_{RIG}}{K - (C_{L})_{RIG}} \frac{\langle S \rangle_{AC}}{\langle S \rangle_{RIG}}$$

Working with lift equations: By definition:

$$\Sigma L = (C_{L_{\infty}})_{EL} \propto_{RIG} gS$$

From lift summation:

$$\Sigma L = (C_{L_{\alpha}})_{RIG} (\alpha_{RIG} + \Delta \alpha_{EL}) g S$$

Thus:

$$(C_{L_{\alpha}})_{EL} \propto_{RIG} qS = (C_{L_{\alpha}})_{RIG} (\propto_{RIG} + \Delta \propto_{EL}) qS$$

Or:

$$(C_{L_{\alpha}})_{EL} = (C_{L_{\alpha}})_{RIG} \frac{(\alpha_{RIG} + \Delta \alpha_{EL})}{\alpha_{RIG}}$$

GGC/EE/62-8

Or:

$$(C_{L_{\infty}})_{EL} = (C_{L_{\infty}})_{RIG} \left[1 + \frac{\Delta \propto EL}{\sigma \subset RIG}\right]$$

From the moment equation:

$$\frac{\Delta \propto_{EL}}{\propto_{RIG}} = \frac{(C_{L_{\infty}})_{RIG}}{K} - (C_{L_{\infty}})_{RIG} S X_{AC}$$

Substituting:

$$(C_{L_{\alpha}})_{eL} = (C_{L_{\alpha}})_{RIG} \left[1 + \frac{(C_{L_{\alpha}})_{RIG}}{K} - (C_{L_{\alpha}})_{RIG} \frac{g S X_{AC}}{g S X_{AC}} \right]$$

Rearranging:

$$(C_{L_{\infty}})_{EL} = (C_{L_{\infty}})_{RIG} \left[\frac{1}{1 - (C_{L_{\infty}})_{RIG}} \frac{85 X_{AC}}{K} \right]$$

.

Appendix D

Basic Aircraft Responses Flight Conditions Two and Three Six Degree of Freedom Simulation



00C/EE/68-8



D-2



D-3

00C/EE/68-8





GCC/EE/68-8



D-5









D-9

GOC/EE/58-8



D-10

.



D-11





Appendix E

Amplifier and Potentiometer Assignment Sheets <u>Two Degree of Freedom Analog Program</u> (Short Period Approximation)



DIRECT LIFT CONTROL POTENTIOMETER ASSIGNMENT SHEET											
			POTE	NTIOMETE	R ASSIGN	MENT SHE	ET				
POT. No.	PAGE NO.	PARAMETER	GAIN	FLIGHT CON	OUTPUT	SETTING	OUTPUT	SETTING	OUTPUT		
00	2	2G Sail	1	. 1360	0544	,2000		.2012			
01	3	9 Meter Bias	1	.3353		.3353		.3333			
02	2	2(4+4)	1	.7310	4664	.7780		.9590			
03	2	5 C. Se	21	,5260	0420	.7890		,7290			
04	2	Ca Trim	1	- 4	s f	Requ	ire	4			
05	2	Sa Jack	0.1	.2690	0810	. 4380		.2670			
06	2	SEL VUELOW	0.1	.0650	0020	. 1060		.0650			
07	2	.02 9	0.1	. 6440	6440	. 6440	-	.6440			
08	2	.001 4	1	. 6266	1880	. 4292		.7576			
09	2	.002 45/m	1	.3044	.2392	. 1482	-	.2195			
10	IA	O FE to Se	10	- V	ar	iab	le				
11	2	Constant	10	,2500		.2500		.2500			
12	2	. OI Dag/Rad	1	.5730	_	.5730		.5730			
13	6	Time Slope	1	.0500		,0500		.0500	-		
14	3	Meter Bias	1	.5000	5000	,5000	_	. 5000	-		
15	2	100/4.	10	. 1596		.2330		. 1320			
16	2	100/4.	1	. 1596		.2330		,1320			
17	3	Constant	1	.5000		.5000	-	.5000			
12	3	4./1000	1	.6266		. 4292		. 7570			
19	3	å Trim	a1	- A	s R	eq u	ire	d			
20	3	-5 - 3 Cm	01	. 1860	0040	.3110		. 1880			
21	3	-20 Gu Sail	01	.4800	1920	.7200		. 8200			
22	3	Constant	1	. 5000	-	.5000		. 5000			
23	3	Constant	10	.2000		.2000	-	.2000			
24	3	Meter Bias	1	. 5000		. 5000		. 5000			
25	3	-Sen Steha	1	. 1150	0345	. 1915		.1165			
26	IA	OFE to Se	10	- V	ar	iab	le		-		
27	3	-0.5 Cm Se	1	.1725	0138	.2585	-	.2.420			
28	3	-0.2 Cmd	1	.1090	0695	.1524	-	. 1516	-		
29	3	al[ssE/Iyy]	10	.5481	-	.2575		. 3310	-		
100	18	1/Taileron	1	.2500		,2500		.2500	-		
101	IA	Spoiler Bins	1	.3333	·	.3333		.3333	-		
102	26	AG Caken	1	.0922	.0235	. 1230		.1518			

E-1

GOC/RE/68-8

			POTE	DIRECT	LIFT CO	MENT SHE	ET		
0-1	Der		- 1	FUSHTCOM	DITION 1	FLIGHTCOM	DITION 2	FLIGHT CO	VDITION 3
NO.	NO.	PARAMETER	GAIN	SETTING	OUTPUT	SETTING	OUTPUT	SETTING	OUTPUT
103	6	DEm (se/ce)	1	.0873	. 0223	.1195	-	.1010	_
104	IA	-Se limit	SJ		5934	Outp	1+ -	-17°	-
105	IB	Congarator	-	- 1	ts F	2 e 9	air	e d	-
106	IB	Se limit, basic	1	.5934	-	.5934	_	. 5984	-
107	IA	1/Te	1	.2000	_	.2000	-	.2000	-
108	18	O FE to Sail	1	-	Var	1 a	61	e -	-
109	IB	+Sail limit	55	+ .1	927	- +	17° (T.E. Do	wn)
110	IA	@ FB to Ssp	10		-Va	r i	ab	le -	
111	IA	OF to Sse	10		- Va	r i	a b	le -	
112	IB	OFE to bail	Van	-	- Va	r i	ab	1e -	-
113	IB	A FB to Suil	10		Va	ri	ab	1e -	
114	IB	-Sail limit	SJ	1	927	⇒ -	17° (T.E. U	e)
116	18	Comparator	1	- A	s R	equ	ire	d —	
117	IA	1/Tse	1	.2500	-	.2500	-	.2500	-
118	IA	of FB to Sse	1		- Va	ri	ab	le -	-
119	IA	AI25 Trim	0.1	— A	s R	eq u	ire	d	-
120	IA	1/Tunshout	1.	. 1000	-	.1000	-	. 1000	-
121	IA	d FB to Sse	Var.	-	- Va	ri	abl	e -	-
122	IA	1/Twashout	1	.1000		.1000	-	.1000	-
123	18	of FB to Sail	1	-	Va	ri	abl	e -	_
124	IA	+ Se limit	SJ	+.5	934	Outp	ut =	>+1	7° —
125	IA	Stick to 250	1	.7400	-	.7400	-	.7400	-
127	IA	n. FB to Sar	10	-	Va	ri	abl	e -	-
128	IA	n. FB to Se	10	-	+ V a	ri	abl	e -	-
129	IA	Sse limit	-	Output	. 5000	⇒ 30° 1	0000 >>	60 . 83	3 = 50
200	13	Noise Adjust	1	- A	s R	eq u	ire	d	-
201	13	Constant	1	.0100	-	.0100		.0100	
202	13	10 4 3 10	10	.6900	-	.5710	-	.7580	-
203	13	to taut	10	.6900	-	.5710	-	. 7580	-
205	13	w	1	.6264	-	.4300	-	.7570	-
206	13	we	1	.6264	-	.4300	-	.7570	-
207	13	0.2 Wo	10	. 12 53	-	.0860	-	. 1518	-

E-2

				A	DIR	ECT LI	SIGNA	NTROL ENT SHEET
							STA	TIC CHECK VALUES
FR	AMPL.	AGE	DUTPUT VADIARIE	F.C.1	CALC.	F.C. 1	MEAS.	F.C. 2 CALC. F.C. 2 MEAS. IF.C. 3 CALC. IF.C. 3 MEAS.
2	No.	NO	Cuiral Manage	OUTPUT	DERIV	OUTPUT	DERIV	OUT PUT DERIN OUT PUT DERIN OUT PUT DERIN
1	00	2	Input resistors to M2	١	۱	ł	1	
1	10	2	Input resistors to N2	1	1	1	1	
S	02	2	.002 W	.1320	1	.1307	1	
S	03	2	-2 ×	-0211	1	9020	1	
S	04	2	0.5 (At + 4g)	.0439	1	.0638	1	
S	05	2	-S(A+ 4a) tes	630	1	6375	1	
н	90	2	005 W	- 4000	0330	- 4000	10326	
н	07	9	Time Base	1	1	1	1	
S	80	m	Rate of Climb Meter Dr.	1	1	1	1	PLIGHT CONDITIONS 2 & 3
S	60	2	. os (dx + x6) De.	3656	1	3651	1	
S	10	m	O Meter Drive	1	1	1	1	
S	=	2	* Meter Drive	!	1	1	1	
86	12	8	- Ca	.7254	1	.7154	1	
S	13	m	.002 n	۱	1	1	1	
S	14	m	9 Meter Drive	1	1	1	1	
	15							
	16							
	17							
H	18	5	-24 = -2 6	3040	16190	3000	1.665	
н	-	5	O (Rad)	1.0000	1500	1.0005	PP49	

E-3

					DIRI	ECT 111	T CO.	NTROL							
				A	MPLIFI	ER AS	SIGNM	ENT SH	IEET		+				
							STAT	ric (HECH	(VAI	San				
QU	AMPL	AGE	Our Many DI C	F.C.1	CALC.	F.C. 1	MEAS.	F.C. 2	CALC.	F.C. 2	MEAS.	F.C. 3	CALC	FC.3	MEAS.
2	No.	NO.	UNITUL VARIABLE	OUTPUT	DERIV.	OUTPUT	DERIV.	QUTPUT	DERIV.	Оштел	DERIV.	QUITEVA	DERIV.	OUTFUT	DERIN.
RG	20	m	- CM	. 1477	ł	. 1467	1								
S	21	m	•&	- 2095	1	. 8035	1								
	22														
	23														
	24														
	25														
S	26	M	•0	1		1	1								
	27														
S	28	IA	Elevator Controller				١		25	0 8 1	Å T 1	ш С)	5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5		
	29								н 1 1 1	E+ 171	C N D D	LLI	1:5 2	ه ه	
H	30	M	- h/1000 (ft/sec)	1		1	1								
н	31	M	h /2000 (ft)	1	1		1								
HC	100	9	Function Generator	۱	1	۱	(
HG	101	ف	+ K (Spoilers)	.2550	١	, 2550	1								
S	102	I A	.0167 Ssp (Deg)	.3340	١	.3341	1								
S	103	18	Ailern Time Custant		١	1	1								
	104														
S	105	18	Ailemn Meter Drive	1	1	١	1								
н	106	18	+ Sail			1									
1-1	0	IA	Elevator Washout	۱		۱	1								

E-4

.
				A	DIRE	ER ASS	T CON	VTROL ENT. Sh	EET						
							STAT	10 01	HECK	VAL	NES				
Q	AMPL.	Ace	DITPUT VADIABIE	E.C. 1	ALC.	17.33	LEAS.	F.C. 2	CALC	FC.2	MEAS.	FC.3	CALC.	FC 31	IEAS.
2	No.	No.	Calral Valivore	Outeur	DERIV.	Dureur	DERIN.	Quart	DERIN.	Quran	DERIV	Outern	DERIV	Oureur	DERIV
	108														
S	109	IA	Elevator Time Content	1	l	1	1								
S	011	18	Aileron Controller	1	1	1	1								
S	111	IA	Elevator Controller	1	1	1	1								
S	112	4	Elevator Time Custont	۱	I	(1								
S	113	IA	Elevator Time Constant	1	1	۱	1								
HG	114	18	Comparator	١	۱	١	١								
HG	115	18	Compara tor	١	!	1	1								
	116								N	0 3 7	ATI	E C	E C K S		,
S	117	18	Ailenn Time Constant	1	1	١	1		PLIG	E E	COND	O I L I	N S S	4	
	811														
н	611	IA	+2 Se (Rad)	.0800	1	.0900	I								
S	120	IA	Elevator Controller	1	١	1	1								
S	121	IA	Elevator Time Custant	1	۱	ļ	I								
	122														
S	123	18	+ Stick	۱	ł	1	1								
H	124	IA	0167 & Sse (bes)	1	۱	ı	1								
S	125	IA	Speiler Controller	1	1	I	1								
	126														
	127									Ì					

E-5

•

ĸ

Appendix F

Six Degree of Freedom Analog Program

- * Potentiometer Sheets
- # Amplifier Sheets
- # Multiplier Sheet
- * Computer Interconnect Trunking
- * MAV Circuits
- * Recorder Assignment Sheet
- # Limiter List

			Port	DIRECT	ER ASSIG	CONTROL	EET		
POT. No.	PAGE NO.	PARAMETER	GAIN	FLIGHT CO. SETTING	NOITION 1 OUTPUT	FLIGHT CO. SETTING	OUTPUT	FLIGHT CO SETTING	OUTPUT
POD	1	153140	1	.6266	6266	.4292	42.92	.7570	7570
P01	1	I.C.	-	.4000	+.4000	.4000	+.4000	. 4000	4.4000
P02	1	CONSTANT	1	.5000	1266	. 5000	-,/350	. 5000	/350
P03	1	CONSTANT	1	.1000	0132	.1000	0420	. 1000	0335
P04	1	CONSTANT	10	.2000	0120	.2000	0120	,2000	0120
P05	10	I.C.	-	.7000	+.7000	.7000	+.7000	.7000	+.7000
206	5	MAV.	1	,1000		.1000		.1000	-
P07	2	I.C. (TR)	1	.0000	.0000	,0000	.0000	1.0000	+1.0000
PU8	17	M.A.V.		. 1000		. 1000		. 1000	-
P09	17	CONSTANT	10	. 5000		.5000		.5000	
P10	4	CONSTANT	10	.2500	+.0140	.2500	0005	.2500	4.0174
P11	4	2 CM	1	.2286	+.0073	.2654	+.0124	.2898	+.0077
P12	1	.019	1	.322.0	27//	.3220	2711	.3220	27/1
P13	4	2×10 2 800	10	.3680	0003	.1729	+.0055	.2140	0002
P14	9	OI TANER (Ko	10	.8/97	+.0014	.7692	4.0022	.7692	+.0013
P15	13	Kve	1	Noise	AAJUSTME	T			
P16	3	I.C.	-	.5000	+.5000	.5000	+.5000	.5000	+. 5000
P17	3	.05 352	10	.2741	+. 0409	.1288	+.0324	.1690	+.0293
P18	3	CONSTANT	10	.4000	1533	.4000	/226	.4000	1102
P19	10	.2 Kä	10	.1700	1028	.1700	1028	.1940	1173
P20	1	CONSTANT	10	.2000	0400	.2000	0400	.2000	0400
P21	1	-02 Cyp	10	.1478	0047	.1497	0070	.1758	0046
P22	1	CONSTANT	10	.2000	+.0424	.2000	+.0306	.2000	+.0502
P23	1	CONSTANT	10	.2000	0360	.2000	0360	.2000	0360
P24	3	.01 756	10	.3098	+.0516	.1460	+.0504	.1730	+.0361
P25	4	CONSTANT	10	.5000	0354	.5000	0255	.5000	0419
P26									
P27	5	CONSTANT	1	.5000	+.0845	.5000	+.0845	.5000	+0845
P28	10	CONSTANT	10	.2000	1400	.2000	MOO	.2000	1400
P29	10	CONSTANT	10	.3750	/395	.3750	/395	.3750	0863
PSO	8	2 Pagent Ce	1	.0734	0018	.0734	0027	.0734	0015
P31	3	I.C.	-	,6000	+.6000	.6000	+.6000	. 6000	+.6000
F32	1	2×1040.	10	.1253	+.0040	.0859	+.0040	.1515	+.0040

			Por	DIRECT	T LIFT (ER ASEIGI	CONTROL	EET		
Por.	PAGE	PARAMETER	Carl	FLIGHT CO	NDITION 1	FLIGHTCO	NDITION 2	FLIGHT CO	WOITION 3
NO.	NO.	I ANAMEIEK	Grin	SETTING	OUTPUT	SETTING	OUTPUT	SETTING	OUTPUT
P33	9	Cos 32.4°	1	.8443	8443	.8443	8443	.8443	8443
P34	4	I.C.	-	.3000	+.3000	.3000	+.3000	. 3000	+.3000
P35	2	-200C=	1	.1350	0540	.4190	1676	. 1549	0620
P36	13	.216	10	.1253		.0860	-	.1518	-
P37	13	10.10	10	.7740		.9340	-	.7029	
P38	10	CONSTANT	10	.2000	+.0210	.2000	+.0210	.2000	+.0197
<i>P3</i> 9	13	101 2 Mg	10	.6900		.5710	_	.7580	
P40	6	CONSTANT	10	.1348		.1348		./348	_
PHI	1	I.C.	-	.2000	+.2000	.2000	+.2000	.2000	+.2000
P42	9	Cos 32.4°	1	.8443	8443	.8443	-,8443	.8443	8443
P43	8	Almanna (Sea	1	.0437	0341	.0598	0466	.0541	0422
P44	13	10 / 2 46	10	.6900		.5710		.7580	_
P45	5	I.C.	-	.0845	+.0845	.0845	+.0845	0845	+.0945
P46	10	I.C. TRIM	1	.2349	+.2349	.2349	+.2349	. 2349	+. 2349
P47									
P48	11	STICK TO Se	1	.3700		.3700		.3700	-
P49	11	1/TSP	1	.2500	-	.2500	-	.2500	-
P50	4	RTAIM	1	.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000
P51									
P52	3	-2.5 Conser	1	.0600	0141	.0900 .	0211	.1050	0247
P53	3	2 Cm	1	.2880	0288	.3164	03/6	.3440	0344
P54	3	5 Cm	1	.1725	0301	. 2585	0451	.2420	0422
P55									
P56									
P57	3	En /c	1	.0673	+.0067	.0673	+.0067	.0725	+.0073
P58	3	-5 20 20	1	. 0186	0043	.03/1	0048	.0188	0034
P59	3	2 Cm	1	.1090	0522	.1524	1044	. 15/6	-,0600
P60	2	OCTAIN FOR SAME	1	.0324	.0000	.0271	0000	.0505	.0000
P62	3	2 20 200	1	.0231	+.0069	.0580	+.0174	.0262	+.0079
P63	3	-5 Cesul	1	.1003	+.0105	.1003	+.0105	.1003	+.0105
PGY	2	CLOURN	1	.2//0	2110	.4500	4500	.2930	2930
P65	7	STAAILIZER TRIM	1	.5500	+.1000	.5500	+.1000	.5500	+.1000
P66	7	Manual Tugarne	1	.1000	1000	. 1000	1000	.1000	1000

GOC /EE/68-8

			Por	DIREC	T LIFT	CONTROL	IFFT		
A	Pag	F	T	FUGHT	NOITION 1	Eucur Co	LET AL	IC ware C	
NO.	NO.	PARAMETER	GAIN	SETTING	OUTPUT	SETTING	OUTPUT	SETTING	OUTPUT
200	21	CONSTANT	1	.2000	0800	.2000	0800	.2000	0800
QO	1	$2 \times 10^3 \left(\frac{2 C_{Da}}{U_0} \right)$	1	.0920	0368	.2000	0900	.0850	0340
QO	21	.005 <u>B3</u> M	1	.7610	6344	.3580	3463	.5492	-,4307
QO:	31	COCLEAN	10	.0143	0/43	.0215	0215	.0162	0162
QOY	16	CONSTANT	1	.3333	3333	. 3333	3333	. 3333	-, 3333
Q05	4	CONSTANT	1	. 3333	0010	.3333	0567	.3333	+.0357
Q06	13	M.A.V.	1	.0500		.0500	_	.0500	
Q07	2	I.C.	-	.3000	+.3000	.3000	+.3000	.3000	+.3000
Q08	10	<u>17 x 200</u> 85 50	1	.8000	8000	.8000	8000	.8000	8000
Q09	6	CONSTANT	-	.1000	1000	.1000	1000	.1000	1000
Q10	1	2 CLCLERAN - Car	1	.2920	+./398	.5690	+.3974	.2910	+.1152
Q11	4	=0 200 200	1	.0260	+.0156	.5030	3018	.0260	+.0156
Q12	4	-20 21 20 200	1.	.2810	0843	. 4750	-,1425	.2910	0873
Q13	1	.0059	10	.1610	+. 0136	.1610	+.0136	.1610	+.0136
Q14	4	Imp	1	.1773	0532	.1773	0532	.2257	0677
Q15	13	CONSTANT	1	.0100	-	.0100	-	.0100	
Q16	3	-5 2110 28520	1	.1150	0575	.1915	0958	.1165	0583
Q17	13	100/5 MINUTES	1	.3333		.3333		.3333	-
Q18	3	ILYY IYY	1	.0974	0175	.0974	0175	.0974	0175
Q19	2	100/10	1	.1596	+.2261	.2330	+. 1558	./320	+.1782
Q20	1	CONSTANT	1	.5000	+.0995	.5000	+.1635	.5000	+.0619
Q21	1	CONSTANT	1	.1000	0003	. 1000	0005	. 1000	0003
Q22	1	.001 85	1	.1522	+.0082	.0716	00/8	. 1098	+.0053
Q23	1	+D U XADU	1	.0105	0063	. 1595	+.0957	.0025	0015
Q24	3	-2Cm	1	.2/64	0069	.2933	0137	.2870	0076
Q25	13	Kwe	1	Noise	ADJUSTA	INT			
Q26	13	CONSTANT	1	.0100	-	.0100		.0100	
Q27	5	CONSTANT	1	.4000	+.1010	. 4000	+.1010	.4000	+,1010
Q28	13	Wo	1	.6264	-	. 4300	-	.7590	
Q29	13	10/21/	10	. 6900	-	.5710		.7580	
Q30	8	10 Few Care	1	.1210	.0000	.1653	.0000	.1770	.0000
Q31	3	10 20 × 1/200	1	.2980	1788	.6040	3624	.3680	2208
Q32	3	Iter -Ind	1	.0984	+.0147	.0984	+.0147	.0994	+.0147

GCC/EE/68-8

			Pore	DIRECT	LIET C	ONTROL	EET		
Por.	PAGE	Provertee	· · · · ·	FLIGHT CON	NDITION 1	FLIGHTCON	DITION 2	FLIGHT CO	WUTTION 3
No.	NO.	TARAMETER	GAIN	SETTING	OUTPUT	SETTING	QUTPUT	SETTING	OUTPUT
Q33	9	(SIN 32.4/5	1	.1072	+.0034	.1072	+.0050	.1072	+.0028
Q34	6	SPOILER BIAS	1	. 3333	+.3333	.3333	+.3383	.3838	+. 3383
Q35	13	Wo	1	. 6264		.4300		.7590	
Q36	13	116	1	. 62.64	-	.4300		.7590	_
Q37	2	2.5 CLEAN	1	.1700	0399	.2500	0587	.2650	-,0622
Q38	10	CONTROLLER	1	.2000	2000	.2000	2000	.2000	2000
Q39	7	CONSTANT	10	.0175	+.0175	.0175	+.0175	,0175	+.0175
Q40	3	CONSTANT	1	.5000	+.5000	.5000	+.5000	.5000	+.5000
Q41	13	.2 Wo	10	.1253		.0860		.1518	
Q42	9	(SIN 32.4)/5	1	.1072	0034	.1072	0050	.1072	0028
Q43	8	2 Gener	1	.0460	0359	,0615	0479	.0759	0592
Que	13	Wo	1	.6264	-	.4300		,7590	
Q45	1	I.C. (+TR)	1	.3598	+.3598	. 3598	+.3598	. 3597	+.3597
246	10	+TR (TRIM)	1	.9700	+.9700	.9700	+.9700	.9826	+.9826
Q47	11	5 Dor To Se	1	CON	TRO	LLER	V A	RIA	BLE.
048	11	STICK To SEP	1	1.0000		1.0000		1.0000	_
Q49	11	5 Der To Ser	10	CON	TRO	LLER	VA	RIA	BLE
Q50	6	TIME BASE SLOPE	1	.0033		.0033		.0003	
Q51									
Q52	11	20 To Se	10	CON	TRO	LLER	VA	RIA	BLE
Q53	11	2.0 To Sep	10	CON	TRO	LLER	V A	RIA	BLE
Q54	11	O TO SSP	10	CON	TRO	LLER	VA	RIA	BLE
Q55	11	O To Se	10	CON	TRO	LLER	VA	RIA	BLE
Q56	11	1/4 WASHOUT	1	.1000		.1000		.1000	
257									
Q58	11	1/T WASHOUT	1	.1000		.1000		.1000	-
Q59	4	MAX	1	1.0000		1.0000	-	1.0000	
Q60	1	CONSTANT	10	.5000	+.0750	.5000	+.0750	.5000	+.0750
Q61	5	I.C.	-	.1000	1000	.1000	1000	.1000	1000
Q62	5	CONSTANT	10	.2500	1052	.2500	1052	.2500	1052
Q63	11	.01 ML TO SEP	10	CON	TRO	LER	V A	RIA	BLE
Q64	2	CONSTANT	10	.2000	0500	.2000	0600	.2000	0600
Q65	5	CONSTANT	SIN COS	.2865	+.2865	.2865	+.2865	.2865	+.2865

P-4

. . . .

.

			Pore	DIR	ECT	LIF	T C	ONTA	T SH	EET				
0-	PACE			FIIGHT	Cor	DITIO	11	FLIGH	TCO	VDITION	12	FLIC	SHT CO	WOITICN 3
NO.	NO.	PARAMETER	GAIN	SETTI	NG	OUTP	UT	SETT	ING	OUTPO	IT	SET	TING	OUTPUT
Q66	5	CONSTANT	1	.2000	>	053	34	.20	00	053	4	.2	.000	0534
Q67	5	CONSTANT	1	.2000)	+.004	15	.20	00	+.004	5	.2	2000	+.0045
Q68	5	I.C. (-TR)	1	.9472	2	947	12	.94	172	94	72	.9	9472	9472
Q69	4	CONSTANT	10	.200	0	+.06	00	.20	00	+.06	Ø	.2	2000	+,0600
Q70	2	CONSTANT	1	.250	2	+.35	32	.26	00	+.167	2		2500	+.3375
Q71	2	.2(C1 + C.)	1	.73/	0	35	00	.77	80	54	34		9590	3798
Q72	2	.2CL	1	.087	8	00	88	.05	964	00	96		038	0104
Q73	2	.002 85	10	.304	4	+.198	34	.14	32	+.174	15		2196	+,1703
Q74	2	CONSTANT	10	.400	0	+.04	80	.40	00	4.04	90		4000	+.0480
Q75	2	+5C150	0.1	.526	0	09	18	.78	90	/3	77		7290	/272
Q76	2	5 20 825	0.1	.065	0	014	7	.10	60	016	6		0650	0120
Q77	2	5 20 200	0.1	.269	0	134	5	. 43	80	2/	90	.2	2670	1335
Q78	2	.029	1	.644	10	34	77	.64	140	34	77		6440	3477
Q79	2	2×10-44	10	.125	3	+.060	0	.08	159	+.060	0		1515	+.0600
Q80	12	.01 ML To Sall	10	CC) N	TR	0	LL	E		A	R	IA	BLE
Q81	12	YTALL	1	.250	2	-		.25	00	-		.2	2.500	-
Q82	2 2	CONSTANT	10	.1146		05	99	.11	16	080	0		146	0454
Q83	11	.01 ML TO Se	10	CC) N	TR	0	L L	E	R V	A	R	IA	BLE
Q84	12	O TO SAIL	1	CC) N	TR	0	LL	E	R V	A	R	IA	BLE
Q85	12	5 Da To SAIL	1	CC) N	TR	0	LL	E		A	R	IA	BLE
Q86	12	20 To SAIL	1	CC) N	TR	0	LL	E		A	R	IA	BLE
Q87			-							<u> </u>		+		4
QBB	11	1/re	1	.200	0			.200	00	-		.2	000	
Q89														
090	1	M.A.V.	1	.010	0			.01	00			.0	00100	-
Q9	12	MAV.	1	.100	0	-		.100	0			.1	000	-
Q93	7	.005 200 ACo	10	.260	71	06	59	.24	39	06	59		2439	0659
Q94	17	4 (1000)	1	.05	12_		•	. 12:	36				0480	1-
Q9!	5											-	-	
Q96	5		-				_		_					
09	77	OI ZKA COL JU	1	.8/9	1	00	26	.76	92	00	39		76 92	0022
Q9	89	CONSTANT	1	.560	0	+.2/	84	.56	00	+.21	34		5600	+.2184
09	99	CONSTANT	1.1	.560	0	+.2/	84	.56	00	+.216	34	1.	5600	+.2184

				A	DIRE	ER AS	SIGNM	VTROL ENT SI	IEET						
							STAT	10 0	HECH	VAL	SEN				
a u	AMPL.	Rèe	Durour Vaniable	E.C.1	CALC.	F.C. 2.1	MEAS.	F.C. 2	CALC.	E.C.2.	MEAS.	F.C. 3	CAL:	FC.31	YEAS.
0	No.	NO.	UNITUL VARIABLE	Oureur	DERIV.	Output	DARIN	Quarta	DERIN	Quarent	DERIV	Quareun	DERIV.	Ourpur	DERIV.
H	A00	7	-0.5 DU	4000	+.0/32	4000	+.0/30	4000	+.0420	- 4000	+.0424	1.00h	+:0335	4000	+. 0337
S	AQI	7	+0.1 U	+,7066	· ·	+.7068	1	+.5092	1	+.5083	1	+.8370	1	+,8369	1
S	A02	T	-10 ⁸ C _x	- 8334	1	-8334	1	-,9674	۱	-,9658	1	7842	1	7830	1
S	A03	7	+5ů	-,1316	1	1320	1	79/4-	1	-,4204	i	-,3353	1	-,3344	1
S	A04	9	+ 1.667 See (pee)	+.4333	1	+.4305	۱	+://333	1	+.4303	1	+ 4/333	I	+,4333	1
I	AOS	4	+4/3000	1.0000	+.0001	1.0000	+.0002	1.0000	-,0059	1.0000	0055	1.0000	+.0036	1.0000	4.0040
I	A06	13	TURBULENCE FILTER	IVRMS	1	I	1	IV Rms	1	1	1	V. Rms	l	1	1
S	AOT	10	+200[64]RIENT	5900	۱	5903	1	5900	1	5899	۱	-5900	1	5894	1
RG	A08	4	ķ	080	I	-,0037	1	1700	1	-,1715	١	+.1070		+,1076	1
S	A09	17	HARIZONTAL NEEDLE ERROR	1	۱	1	1	1	1	1	1	1		1	
Ι	AIO	4	-500 R	3000	1400	-,3000	/380	-3000	+.0045	-3000	+00%	-3000	1735	-,3000	-1728
S	ALI	4	+05 %	+5535	۱	+.5549	1	+.4550	1	+.4545	1	+.6190	1	+.6197	1
RG	A12	4	-103CN	0007	١	0006	١	+.0318	1	\$160.+	1	9000-	1	0007	1
S	A13	4	+200Å	+.0558	1	+.0555	1	00/8	Ι	0017	1	+.0694	1	+.0693	1
HG	A14	თ	+103 Cusse Ssp	+.0002	l	+.0002	Ι	+.0003	1	+.0003	I	+.0002		+.0002	[
I	A15	13	Ve FILTER	1	١	1	1	1		ι	1	1		I	
Ι	A16	3	-2009	5000	4.5328	5000	+1.5354	5000	1.2256	-5000	1.2277	5000	4.1020	-4999	H.1027
S	A17	3	-10 ² C _M	+,/462	١	+./463	1	+.2515	1	+2520	1	+.1732	1	+.1732	
S	A 18	m	+50 à	3832	1	-3835	1	3064	1	0208-	1	-2755		-,2750	1
S	A19	10	ROLL SAS	3720	1	3739	۱	- 3720	1	3730	1	2270	1	2278	1

				A	DIRE	ER AS	SIGNM	NTROL ENT SI	IEET						
							STA	110	HECH	(VAL	Sau				
2	AMPL	AGE	Autour Van ABI 5	F.C.1	CALC.	EC. 1	MEAS.	F.C. 2	CALC.	5C.21	MEAS.	F.C.3	ALC.	FC31	MEAS.
0	No.	NO	UNITUL VARIABLE	OUTPUT	DERIV.	OUTPUT	DERIV.	OutPut	DERIV.	Oureur	DERIV	Ourput	DERIV.	OUTPUT	DERIV.
H	A 20	T	5V	2000	0895	2000	0990	2000	1635	-2000	1635	-2000	0619	2000	0610
19	A21	1	+ 500 (P+ Ac)	+.0319	I	+. 03/9	1	+.0466	1	+.0466	1	+.0264	1	+.0261	1
S	A22	1	- 10°Cy	+.0537	۱	+.0538	1	0254	1	0257	1	+.0482	1	+,0483	I
S	A23	7	·> +	+./969	۱	+.1982	1	+.3269	I.	÷ 3275	1	+. /238	t	+.1225	1
S	A 24	3	- 10 ³ CA	+.1665	1	+.1667	1	+.3455	1	+.3468	1	+.2085	1	+,2088	1
H	A25	10	ROLL SAS	7000	3.720	7000	3.739	-,7000	3.720	HOOL -	3.730	7000	+2.270	-7000	+2.274
H	A26	5	- 10 ² 0	0845	-,0845	-,0845	0842	0845	0845	0845	0842	0845	0845	0845	+++80'-
S	A27	5	000 ÷	+,1690	۱	+./690	١	+./690	1	+,1690	1	+.1690	1	+./690	1
S	A28	07	ROLL SAS	1.4000	1	1.4009	1	1.4000	1	1.3999	I	+/+	1	+/.3996	1
S	A29	10	-200[Sui] &	0060	1	0010	1	0060	1	0010	1	5467	1	5470	1
H	A30	13	WE FILTER	1	۱	1	١	۱	1	1	1	۱	1	1	1
H	A31	8	-102 P	-6000	+.5305	-,6000	+.5307	6000	+.5/9/	-,6000	+.5/99	6000	+3754	6000	+3764
S	A32	3	+102 P	5305	1	5304	1	5/9/	1	5/96	1	-,3754	1	3762	1
S	A 33	0	+10 ² cos[32.4°+(p+Aa)]	+,6409	1	+.8410	1	+.8393	۱	+.8395	1	+.8415	1	+148+	1
S	A34	9	- 1.667 Ssp (DEG)	4333	1	-,4268	1	4333	1	427H	1	4333	1	4333	1
H	A 35	13	- 16	١	۱	1	۱	١	۱	۱	۱	۱	1	1	1
H	A 36	13	Ve FILTER	1	1	۱	1	1	1	۱	1	1	1	1	1
8	A37	10	- 40 Suit (Terral)	-,2349	1	2352	1	2349	1	2351	1	2349	1	2345	1
\$	A 38	10	-200 SAIL	+1050	1	e+0/.+	1	+.1050	1	1.1042	1	+.0987	1	+,0966	1
S	A 39	01	+200[Sau]LEFT	5900	i	5900	۱	5900	1	5684	1	5900	1	5884	1

				A	DIRE	ER AS	FT CO.	NTROL ENT SI	VEET						
							STA	1/2	CHECH	r Val	UES				T
QU	AMPL.	Rec	August house 1	EC.1	CALC.	F.C. 1	MEAS.	F.C. 2	CALC	FC.2	MEAS.	FC3	CALC	FC3	MEAS.
0	No.	NO.	UUI FUI VARIABLE	Outren	DERIV.	QUTPUT	DERIN.	Quareur	DERIV.	Ouren	DERIV	Outreun	DERIV.	Outrout	DERIV.
H	A 40	13	- W6	i	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	l	1	1
I	A 41	13	We FILTER	١	1		1		1	1	1	۱	1	l	1
S	A 42	0	+102 Cos[32.4°-(A+ Ro]]	+8477	1	6148:	ι	+ 8493	1	2648°+	I	1248+	1	1748.+	1
S	A 43	00	-10 ² (Non + Kor)	7800	1	-7768	1	-,7800	1	-1111-	1	-7800		Serr-	1
1	AHH	2	Innut RESISTONS To A72	1	ļ	1		1	1	• [1	1	1	. 1	1
S	A45	Ħ	SPOILER CONTROLLER	١	۱	1	1	۱	1	1	۱		1	۱	1
H	A46	Ħ	- 1.667 & Ssp	۱			1	۱	l	1	1	۱	l	۱	l
RG	A47	2	+ Me Fe/sec ²	+1.0584	I	+{0583	1	+9386	1	+,9387	1	+1.4176	١	02.14.14	١
S	A 4/8	77	ELEVATOR CONTROLLER	1	۱	I	1	1	1	I		۱		l	I
S	A 49	9	10 1185 TAN 22.4 185	2/84	1	2/80	1	-2184	1	-2712	1	-2/84	1	2/86	1
I	A50	9	TIME BASE	1			1	1	1	1	l	۱		1	1
H	A51	Ħ	ELEVATOR CONTROLLER	1		۱	1	1	1	1	1	1	I	1	l
S	A 52	Ħ	ELEVATOR CONTROLLER					1	1	1	1	1	۱	1	1
1	A53	3	INPUT RESISTORS TO A 17	1				1				1		l	1
RG	A54	4	0333 h	+.0001	I	+. 0002	I	1.0057	1	+.0058	1	0036	1	0036	1
S	A55	9	-CONTROLLER SEP COMM.	000/+	1	+.0993	1	+.1000	1	+./002	1	+, 1000	1	000/+	1
S	A56														
S	A59	5	+102 SIN Ø	+.84/8	1	0148.4	1	+.8418	1	11/18:+	1	+.84/8	1	+,8409	I
H	A60	5	+ 102 \$ RND.	+,0000	+.6045	00007+	+6050	-/.0000	+.6046	4/0400	+6048	+/0000	+.6045	+/ 0000	4.6049
H	A61	5	+ 102 \$ RAD	+.1000	+:0634	000/.+	+.0638	+.1000	+.0534	1001.4	A0636	+.1000	+0634	+.1000	+.0537

F-8

GOC/EE/68-8

		-		- T		1	T	T	T	SI	T	T		T			T		T	T		I	
		YEAS.	DERW	I	1	1	1	1	1	3374	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
		FC 3	Jurean	-2665	1	1	1	+5804		-3000	+,7755	1,3500	+.3966	1100+	+.0014	6660+	1	1	+.4643	1	3411-	8415	+,6000
		ALC. 1	DERIV.	1	I	1	1	1	1	.3375	1	1	1	i	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
		5.30	men	2676	1	1	ī	+.5900	-6045	3000	+.7755	1.3498	.3960	1,0015	0000.	4.1000	1	1	-4640	1	-1745	8415	4.6000
	SJN	YEAS.	DERIV. (1	1	1	1	1	i	0491-	1	-	1	I	1	1	1	I	1	1	I	1	I
	VAL	F.C.21	Durreur	2664	1	1	1	+5904	6045	3000	1.2100	.6611	.6992	1.0024	4.00/9	+.0998	1	1	+.80/2	1	1745	-8396	4.6000
EET	HECK	CALC 1	DERIV.	1	1	1	1	1	1	1672	1	1	1	ł	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
TROL	10 01	50.2	Durrent	2672	†	1	1	+.5900	6045	3000	1.2/85	A.66.89	v.6984	+.0027	0000	+./400	1	1	1.8000	1	1745	-8393	+.6000
T CON	STAT	LEAS.	DERIV.	1	1	1	1	1	1	.3637	1	1	I	1	1	1	١	1	1	1	1	1	1
ER ASS		11.33	ותבעת	-2667	1	I	1	+.5903	-6046	.3000	.6528	01141	. 4800	1.00/8	1000-	4.1000	١	1	+.5502	1	EHLI'-	-8410	+.600l
DIRE		ALC. 1	DERIV.	1	1	١	I	1	I	-3532	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	- 1		1	I	1
À		F.C. 1 0	Ourren	-2672	I	١	ł	+,5300	6045	-3000	+.65/9	4.4163	+.4788	+.0018	0000.	+.1000	J	١	+,5490	1	1745	-8409	+.6000
			OUTPUT VARIABLE	- 500 Y PAD/SEC.	ELEVATOR CONTROLLER	SPOILER CONTROLLER	+ 1/2 (t)	- 200[San] RIGHT	- 102 & RAB/SEC.	- 0.5 W	- 10 ² Ce	+2 ŵ	+ 500(doc +06)	+ 10 3 Cere Ssp	- 102 (Kor - Kor)	+ 100 7/95	ALLERON CONTROLLER	ALLERON CONTROLLER	+10 (200 + 000) 256.	ELEVATOR CONTROLLER	-2006	-10 ² Cos[32.4°+(P+Ac)]	+102P
		Acc	NO	5	п	11	13	10	5	2	2	2	2	00.	00	2	12	12	2	П	2	0	3
		AMPI	No.	A62	A63	AGY	A65	A66	A69	A 70	A 72	A 73	A74	A75	A 76	A 79	A,80	A81	A82	A83	A84	A85	A86
		3	18	S	S	S	S	S	S	H	B	S	HG	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S

F-9

4

1	10			A	DIR	ECT L'II	T CO	NTROL ENT SI	teet				6		
							STA	710	HEC	(VAL	SEN				
1	AMPI	Ake		FC.1	CALC.	12.23	MEAS.	F.C. 2	CALC.	F.C.2	MEAS.	FC.3	CALC	FC 31	MEAS.
P	No.	NO	UUTPUT VARIABLE	OUTPUT	DERIV.	Output	DERIV.	OutPut	DERIN.	Ouren	DERIN	Очтен	DERIV	OutPut	DERIV.
I	A 90	11	+ 100 Se (RAD)	1	١	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
H	A 91	12	+100 A SAM	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
P	A 92	1	+ 104 Cyces 55P	0032	I	003/	1	0051	1	0046	1	0029	1	MCOO-	1
16	A 93	1	-2x10 Coses Ssp	2532	ı	-2530	1	2700	1	2695	1	2700	I	2701	1
S	A94	9	-10 186 734 224 196	2184	1	-2181	1	2184	i	.2178	1	2/84	1	2/85	1
S	195	0	+ 1.667 Sep (perc)	*#333	.1	+.4221	1	CEEA'+	1	4.4212	1	+ 4333	ı	+.4300	1
S	A96	6	-10 ² cos[32.4-(P+ Pc)]		1	61.48-	1	-8493	۱	-8495	1	1148-	1	-,8469	1
S	A99	1	-500.4	- /000	1	-,/000	1	/000	1	-//000	i	/000	1	-1002	1
S	R09	3	+2000	+,5000	۱	+5000	1	+.5000	1	+5000	1	+.5000	1	6684+	1
S	R17	2	-10 SIN \$	8118-	1	0148-	۱	-8418	1	-,8410	1	-8418	1	-8409	1
S	R19	5	-10°Cos \$	-5400	1	-5402	1	-5400	1	-5402	ı	5400	1	-5402	1
SIN	R25	5	-102 SIN \$	-84/8	1	1148-	1	-8418	I	8411	1	-,8418	1	84/1	1
Cos	R26	5	-102Cos \$	-5400	1	5402	1	5400	1	5402	1	5400	1	5402	1
S	R28	12	AILERON CONTROLLER	1	1	1	۱	۱	1	۱	1	۱	1	1	1
S	R29	9	+ 50 Switch	0000	1	.0000	1	.0000	1	.0000	1	0000	1	0000	1
S	R38	17	ELEVATOR CONTROLLER	1	T	I	۱	1	1	1	1	۱	1	1	1
S	R48	10	-20 A SAIL	+,2000	1	+.2000	1	+.2000	:	+2000	1	+2000	1	+.2000	1
S	R49	1	-10" Kas Cos [32.4"+(8+ A.)]	-,3280	1	3275	1	3273	1	-3270	۱	-,3282	1	3277	1
S	M5/H	4	-1024	1000	1	1000	ī	-1000	1	- 1000	1	-1000	ι	-,1000	1
S	HEL /	2	-500 (Ant tole)	4788	1	- 4800	1	6984	۱	6992	1	-,3960	۱	-3966	۱

the start

• •

		EAS.	ERIV.	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	I	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
		C. J.M	d men	1786	04/86	1086	346	7697	0264	8368	3000	000	3685	BOOM	1000		3000	000		1	Ì	2402	0068
		4C. 1F.	RIV. OC	i I	4	+	4	Ŧ	ľ	· ·	Ŧ	4	+	+	÷		+	¥ 1				+	1
		3 C.A	PUR DE	82	33	00	- 94	92	-	- 028	8	8	8	8	8		8	8	-	1		8	- 00
	1.	: F.C	v. Our	- 11	4.94	+.35	90.≁	+06	0	8	+30	+.20	+:39	+.30	04:4	1	+.30	+.8	1	1	1	+.54	- 36
	TUES	MEAS	DERI	1	1	1	1	1		1	1	1	1	1			1	1	1	1	1	1	-
	< VA	E.C. 2	Oureu	- 1532	+.0467	+.3880	1.0946	+.0482	OHGS	-5080	+3000	+.2000	+.3896	+,3003	+.4000	1	+.3006	+, 7999	1	1	1	+.5402	- 2900
IEET	HECH	CALC.	DERIN.	T	I	1	1	1	I	١	1	۱	1	1	1	l	Ľ	۱	1	l	1	I	1
TROL NT SH	10 0	-C. 2	Durrent	- 1558	SHO	3900	.0845	61.40	-0466	.5092	3000	.2000	-3900	3000	.4000	1	3000	8000	1	I	I	5400	2900
r Con	STAT	EAS. V	BRIV. (1	1	-	-	1	1	-		-*	T I	-	-	1	1			1	1		
P ASS		C. I.M	TPUT D	2267	2480	3894	3490	2361	0319	7066	1008	2000	3895	9004	1000	1	3000	8000	-			2400	3900
DIREC		LC. F.	RIV. O	-7- 	*	+	· •	- 4	<u> </u>	1	+	+	_+` 	+	4	1	+	f			-	- f	
AME		10	PUT DE	261	. 14	900	546	369	3/9	- 390	- 000	000	. 00	- 000	. 000	-	000	000	-	-	-	200	ouc
		1	Our	2	4.03	+.3	*0	4.0	0	7	+31	+21	+.35	+.3	**	- 2	+.3	+,8			1	454	-30
		0	UUTHUI VARIABLE	- 200 á	+ 102 CNEED SEP	+ 102 KOR	+ 10 ² O	+ 102 CLERE SEP	- 500(B+Bc)	n/	+500 R	+ .5 V	+ 102 Ka	+.5W	+ .5 DU	SPOILER CONTROLLEN	+ 500 R	+200 SAIL (WHERL)	VG FILTER	WG FILTER	+WG	+102 Cos \$	-112 Kai
		Res	NO	2	8	2	7	8	7	ε	2	2	7	2	7	П	4	10	/3	13	13	5	2
		AMPI	No.	M68	122	725	H58	M78	M6 728	M5 7 29	130	M89	60M	M8 771	M69	SLW	M88	F60	F61	F62	F63	F64	F71
		2	2	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S

 k_1'

.

*

		-						-	_					-				-		-	_
OLE "S" Simulator	OUTPUT VARIABLE	Base Drive (Elev)	Base Drive (Ailaman)	Heave Drive	RPM Ind. Drive	Roll (Attitude Ind.)	Yaw (Attitude Ind.)	Pitch (Attitude Ind.)	+ Roll												
SNO :+:	AGE	14	15	14	16	16	16	jG	16												
c k p	AMPL. No.	S4I	S42	S43	S44	S45	S46	S47	S48												
Ŭ	FB	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S												
+	OUTPUT VARIABLE	Stick Drive CAt	Stick Drive Ckt	Stick Position Drive	Wheel Drive CKt.	Wheel Drive CKt.	Wheel Position Drive	Rudder Drive Ckt.	Rudder Drive Ckt.	Rudder Drive Ckt.	Altimeter Drive.	Al pha Meter Drive	+ Stick	-50 Swheel	9 Meter Drive	HG, Horis Needle MAV	HG, DU MAV		HG, K MAV	HG, Leust MAV	HG + Stick MAV
Shee	Ace	14	14	14	15	15	15	5	15	15	16	16	14	15	16	17	17		17	17	17
ROL	AMPL. No.	521	S22	S23	S24	S25	S26	527	S28	S29	530	S3I	S32	S33	S34	S35	536	S37	S38	539	S40
LNO.	FB	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	HG	HG		HG	HG	¥
DIRECT LIFT C Amplifier Assi	OUTPUT VARIABLE	Airspeed (Knots)	Beta Meter Drive	0 Meter Drive	Rate of Climb (fom)	-Altitude (ft)	9 Meter Cht.	HG, O MAV	HG, n. MAV	Terrain Model	+500 SSTAB	Roll Trim	Throttle Ckt.	BMAV	n. MAV	Horiz. Needle MAV	DU MAV		h MAV	Least MAV	+ Stick MAV
	Acc.	16	/6	16	16	16	10	17	17	17	14	5	16	17	17	17	17		17	17	2
•	AMPL.	Sol	502	So3	504	505	505	S07	508	Sog	Sio	SII	SI2	SI3	SI4	SIS	SIG	SI7	SIB	SI9	S20
	FB	S	S	S	S	S	S	HG	HG	S	н	н	S	н	н	н	н		н	н	н

F-13

*

				DIREC	T LIFT	CONTROL	STATIC	CUBEN VAL	150
MULTIPLES	Pace -	+X INPUT	FRON	+Y Ineur	FROM	OUTPUT VARIABLE	FLT. COND. 1	FLT. COND. 2	FLT.COND. 3
ROI	3	+.5W	Mut 7	-2009	A 16	+1.0 WQ	+.1500	+.1500	+. /600
R02	4	-500R	A10	+2009	Mult	+103RQ	+.1500	+.1500	+./500
R 03	1	-2009	01 d1	-102P	Shdi	-200PQ	3000	-,3000	3000
ROY	5	-2000	TP70	+ 102 SIN \$	R17	+2000sin Ø	+. 4209	+.4209	+.4209
RU	5	+2000	Muth	-102005 \$	Mulo	- 200 Ccos Ø	2700	2700	2700
R12	5	-500R	A 10	+102005\$	R 19	+500Rcos\$	+./620	+./620	+./620
RI3	5	-500R	A 10	-102 SIN \$	Mult	+500R SIND	+.2525	+.2525	+.2525
RIH	5	+ 1020	Mu 12	-500 4	A62	+50004	+.0226	+ .0226	+.0226
R 42	13	+ 1/6	F73	+/6	F73	N2/100 Noise Generation	1	1	l
MSI	3	n!'-	Mul 2	+500R	Mut 9	+.5RU	+.2120	+.1528	+.2511
M 52	3	+2000	Mult	+.14	A01	294	3533	2546	4185
M 53	7	<i>11.+</i>	AOI	+1024	A61	+U/-	0707	0509	0837
M 54	7	nı	Mul 2	-1028	A26	140	0597	0430	-:0707
M71	00	-500(8+ 80)	TP25	-102 (Kan + Kan)	A 43	-500(B+ Re) (Kan + Kan)	0249	0363	0206
M81	2	+102P	7P35	5V	A 20	+ .5PV	+.1200	+.1200	+./200
M82	2	-10 ² P	7745	5W	A 70	5PW	/800	/800	1800
M83	2	5V	A 20	-500R	A 10	- 2.5 RV	0600	0600	0600
M84	4	-102P	TP45	-500R	A10	- 500 PR	1800	1800	1800
M91	2	+10205 [32.44 (A-A.)	A 33	-102 Kor	SMOE	+10 2404 Cos [32.4" + (P+ Pe)]	+.3280	+.3273	+.3282
M92	9	10200 22.4- (P. A)	A 96	-12 Jz 04-	R48	-102cos[22.4-(0+A)[]	1851	:855	1850
M 93	6	+102caf32.0 +(0+A)	A 33	-102[]	R47	+10205[32.10+(0+ 90)]	+. /837	4.1833	+./838
46W	2	Hores 32.15-(P-R)	A 42	-102 KOR	Aut 16	+102 Kon COS[32.4°-(P+ Ba)]	+.3306	+.3312	+.3304

GGC/EE/68-8

120	-	1.
100		ш.
	_	T

Simulation
Freedom
S
Degree
SIX

D **a**; H EH U (1) Z X 0 υ æ M H Z н 24 14 EI Þ A4 X 0

U

	-u	aln	4 eloner	2 elosuol	Console 5	Simulat	or Console
PARAMETER	Cons.	Page	Trunk No.	Input No.	Output No.	Input No.	Readout No.
U 1.0	+	-	T 20	760	80	It HI	00
-500 (B + B _G)	4	٦	T 28	768	81	24 H.L	10
10 (Au + ac) Des	4	~	T 16	676	82	E4 HT	02
H/50 (ft/sec)	4	+	T 18	678	83	計町	60
H/3000 (ft)	4	4	T 15	675	84	24 HT	40
100 Ø (Rad)	4	5	T 17	677	85	7H 46	05
-100 6 (Had)	+	Ś	T 19	629	98	24 HI	90
-100 Y (Rad)	4	+	T 13	673	87	TH 48	20
Nr. (g Meter)	4	~	T 72	872	88	64 E1	08
-V _{Gust}	4	13	T 63	863	89	TH 50	60
Function Generator	5	•	1	•	8	TH 51	10
Terrain Model	ø	17	T 65	865	16	TH 52	Ħ
Horiz. Needle Error	4	17	T 01	199	92	TH 53	12
500 Stabilizer Trim	8	~	T 73	873	8	TH 57	76
Stick	00	~	T 75	875	6	TH 58	17

GGC/EE/68-8

NKING

PARAMETER	Orl	gin	Console 4	Console 5	Console 5	Simulat	or Console
	Cons.	Page	Trunk No.	Input No.	Output No.	Input No.	Readout No.
(qS (Throttle)	ŝ	2	T 74	874	98	TH 59	18
Wheel (to 6sp)	ŝ	9	T 64	864	66	TH 60	19
owheel (to oall)	s	10	T 12	672	66	TH 60	19
se Generator	ч	13	T 40		1	From T 1	to. Cons

Six Degree of Freedom Simulation

GGC/EE/68-8

	0	IDIE	N	Cons 5	NIS	ULA	01	æ	Cons 5	Console	Switch
PARAMETEN	Ampl # Pare #	Pot Trunk	Pot Setting	Input Output	HG Ampl #	Integ	Mu]. #	Input Output	Input Output	4 Readout	# (Cons 4
100 0	A 26 5	Р 06 Т 33	.1000	773 480	2 07	S 13	l s	LH 41 LH 53	492 961	T 81	10
NL	A 47 2	Q 91 T 24	•1000	764	s 08	41 S	S 2	LE 42 LE 54	493 962	Т 82	ц
Horiz. Needle	F 70 17	P 08 T 02	.1000	662 482	s 35	8 I5	s 3	LH 43 LH 55	494 963	т 83	02
D	M 69 1	с 90 Т 32	0010.	772 483	s 36	S 16	S 6	LEI 44	495 964	Т 84	12
aGust	A 40 13	с 06 Т 06	• 0 500	666 486	s 39	s 19	s 9	LH 47 LH 59	498 965	т 85	22
• 8	A 54 4	q 59 T 35	0100	775 485	s 38	S 18	S 8	LH 46 LH 58	497 966	Т 86	13
Stick	s 32 14	29	,0100		047 S	S 20	SIO	LH 60	464	т 87	:
Running Time	A 50 3	9 50	.0033 (5 Min)	::	ł	;	1			A 50	60

Six Degree of Freedom Simulation

S EH н D υ æ н C ы D VAL ы E4 OLUI S B 4 Z 4 ជា X

GGC/EE/68-8

GGC/EE/68-8

D	T	C	0	D	n	100	3		O.	Q	T	~	'AT	14	122	AT.	m	C	17	10	17	m
12	15	<u>v</u>	Y_	1	Y.	1	<u>n</u>	<u>A</u>	0	12	4	Ų.	N	L.I	E	N	-	0	п	E	C	

PARAMETER	CHANNEL	V/CM	FROM	PAGE	NOTES
100 0	1 A	2	MUL 12	4	
$10(\Delta a+a_G)$ DEG	1 B	5	A 82	2	
N _L (CG) ft/sec ²	1 C	10	A 47	2	
-2 åe	1 D	20	A 84	7	
-0.4 Sail (Total)	1 E	10	A 37	10	5° = 3.5V
1.667 Sap DEG	lF	20	A 04	6	
H/3000 ft	1 G	10	A 05	4	
Stick	1 H	50	MUL 20	11	
0.5 Δ U	2 A	20	M 69	1	
a Gust	2 B	5	SW 22	13	
H/100	2 C	10	A 08	4	
200 0	2 D	2	A 27	5	
200 Sail (Left)	2 E	50	A 39	10	$20^{\circ} = 60^{\circ}$
Terrain Model	2 F	2	A 07	10	
Horiz. Needle Error	2 G	2	A 37	10	

			DIRB	CT LIFT CO R ASSIGNME	NTROL NT SHEET			
Limiter	Page		Flight Co	ndition 1	Flight Co	ndition 2	Flight Co	ndition 3
No.	No.	Zarameter	Low Setting	High Setting	Low Setting	Aigh Setting	Low Setting	H1gh Setting
LO7	10	Right Aileron	5900	. 5900	5900	. 5900	5900	. 5900
109	9	Left Spoiler	.0000	.6656	•0000	. 6666	• 0000	.6666
L27	11	Spoiler Controller	-1.3000	1.3000	-1.3000	1.3000	-1.3000	1.3000
Г38	9	Right Spoiler	6666	.0000	6666	.0000	6666	.0000
L39	10	Left Alleron	5900	• 5900	5900	. 5900	5900	. 5900
1.48	11	Elevator Controller	-1.3000	1.3000	-1.3000	1.3000	-1.3000	1.3000
64/1	ส	Elevator Controller	2950	. 2950	2950	.2950	2950	.2950

GOC/EE/68-8

Appendix G

Pilot Experience

GGC/1 E/68-8

Pilot One

Pilot one is a senior pilot in the USAF with seven years of rated experience. He has flown 1800 hours in C-124's, 1000 hours in the HU-16 (Albatross), 200 in C-47's, 200 in light aircraft, and has spent approximately 100 hours flying in simulators.

Pilot Two

Pilot two has eight years rated experience in the USAP and is a senior pilot. He has flown 2200 hours in KC-135 tankers, 250 hours in C-47's in addition to pilot training, and some light aircraft time.

Pilot Three

Pilot three is also a senior pilot in the USAF with eight years of rated experience. He has flown 2475 hours in B=47's and B=52's in the capacity of aircraft commander. He also flew 350 hours in T=29's/C=131's as well as his pilot training and some light aircraft time.

Pilot Four

Pilot four has 15 years of rated experience and is a command pilot in the USAF. He is an aircraft commander with 2900 hours in T-29's/C-131's and C-119's, and 70 hours in C-118's and C-97's, plus light aircraft time.

Pilot Five

Pilot five is a senior pilot with seven years of rated experience in the USAF. His time includes 3300 hours in C-12/4's, 200 hours in T-29's, and 240 hours in pilot training.

In addition, he was an instructor pilot in the C-124 simulator at Hickam AFB, Hawaii, for a year prior to attending AFIT.

Pilot Six

Although pilot six is not an Air Force pilot, he has over 100 hours in light aircraft and a wealth of information concerning aircraft simulations and simulator flight tests. He has flown approximately 850 hours in this and other cockpit simulators used in the past four years at AFFDL.

Pilot Seven

Pilot seven is a member of the Royal Canadian Air Force with 18 years of rated experience. He has flown 2000 hours in F-86's and T-33's, and 1000 hours in Dakota's, C-45's. and other light aircraft.

Pilot Eight

Pilot eight has been rated for eight years and is a senior pilot in the USAF. Since pilot training, he has flown 2100 hours in four different helicopters, 130 hours in C-47's, and has other light aircraft and simulator flight time.

ľ

Appendix H

Tabular MAV Data

.

BLANK PAGE

		e (Deg				NL (F	t./Sec.			U (Kno	ts)	
	Alro	LC	Air	sic	W	DLC	Alre	rart	Alrei	Cort	ALL	sic
	Turbu	lence	Turb	ulence	Turbu	lence	Turbu	lence	Turbu	lence	Turb	ulence
TLOT	No	Tes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes
I	.127	.122	.510	.673	.356	.489	.908	.880	11.6	11.0	6.5	8.0
8	.092	111.	.508	.506	.314	.389	1.180	.738	5.2	3.2	2.5	3.8
3	.092	110.	.713		.637	646.	1.610		3.1	3.5	2.9	•
** *												
5	.211	.238	.396	.561	.368	1.000	1.480	1.260	10.0	13.0	7.3	3.8
9	.250	464.	.908	1.000	.343	.459	· 544	1.140	2.4	5.1	140.0	12.1
*												
ERAGE	421.	.183	909.	.685	£04°	.658	1.144	1.004	6.6	7.2	11.8	2.0

				EC.	TIGET	OLUTE V.	ALUES ON 2)					
		e (De	·8.)			NL (F	t./Sec.			AU (Kno	ts)	
	AIro	M.C.	AFA	sic	Aro	rart	Airo	raft	Arc	raft	Alre	sic
	Turbu	lence	Turbu	lence	Turbu	lence	Turbu	lence	Turbu	lence	Turb	ulence
PILOT	No	Yes	No	Yes	Жo	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes
1	.232	.284	040.1	•834	.390	.561	1.172	.902	3.1	2.8	13.8	8°1
2	.108	.368	1.930	1.800	.255	.322	.868	.938	5.1	4.9	13.8	28.1
е	.125	.277	.532	1.760	.786	.845	.766	.985	2.4	4.9	4.0	24.8
4	141.	.062	.750	1	.291	.371	•684	1	2.6	2.8	6.2	1
Ś	.193	.267	.845	1.780	416.	1.130	1.910	2,420	2.1	2.2	14.8	19.2
9	.173	.126	.806	1.530	.286	.353	.710	.729	1.0	3.1	6.3	18.1
2	101.	.192	119.	.556	.283	.370	1.355	1.442	2.8	2.8	2.8	5.1
8												
l Extra Run	.155	.168	.820	.650	.388	.307	.858	.672	2.9	3.6	14.7	1.11
AVERAGE	.153	.218	-917	1.274	644	.532	1.040	1.155	2.8	3.4	9.6	16.4
** Pilot	8 did n	tot fly	this f	light co	md1t10	р.						

۰.

H-2

G	G	C,	/	EE/	'6	8		8
---	---	----	---	-----	----	---	--	---

				ME (F	LIGHT C	LUTE V	ALUES NU 3)					
		0 (D	eg.)			NL (F1	:./Sec?			Δľ (Kn	ots)	
	Turbu	lence	Turbul	ence	Turbul	ence	Turbu	lence	Turbu	lence	Turbu	lence
PILOT	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes
н	.078	.090	竹 飞竹。	.602	.308	.357	.603	.536	7.1	6.7	9.6	17.6
2												
3	.081	.124	.480	.391	.281	+26.	.652	664.	2.6	6.8	2.9	3.5
4	.109	.112	.505	.500	.303	.357	.359	.988	8.3	10.9	11.4	9.3
5		.123	.562	. 548	107.	146.	1.960	.950	7.2	11.2	4.2	6.4
6	.078	4720.	.398	.412	.287	614.	914.	.534	1.0	2,1	2.7	2.1
2	.092	.130	.572	.775	.396	.492	.661	1.093	3.7	3.6	6.7	9.8
œ	.096	.062	545.	.548	.297	.342	643	.932	2.0	2.7	8.9	6.2
Rxtra Run	-077	נננ.	•	1	.318	•370	1	1	5.0	2.5	1	1
AVERAGE	060.	.103	264.	.539	.361	.427	.753	067.	4.6	5.8	6.6	2.9
## Pilot	2 did n	ot fly	flight	conditi	E no							

ï

		N	Feet)			a, (F	t./Sec			
	AIN	LC Traft	Alre	ale .	14	LC F	Alt	sic craft	-	
	Turbu	lence	Turb	alence	Turbu	lence	Turb	ulence		
TLOT	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes		
1	•	8.3	•	6.2	•	3.34	•	3.87		
s.	•	24.0	•	37.5			•			
3	•	38.0	•	48.0	•	2.16	'	3.55		-
4	•	26.8	•			2.08		1.63		-
5	•	21.4	•	20.4	•	3.11	•	2.43		-
ę	•	13.5	•	6.5		3.93	•	1.14		-
2	1	10.2	•	17.7		2.51	•	4.83		
8		1	•	•	•	1.48		3.43		-
1 ra Run	•		•	'		2.75	•			
SRAGE	•	20.3	•	22.7	•	2.68	•	2.97		

14,

H-4

P6 ***

3

Appendix I

Pilot Tape-Recorded Comments

BLANK PAGE

Pilot Tape Recorded Comments

Most pilots taps-recorded their comments and answers to the questions on the task sheets. A few preferred written comments, and some made no comments at all due to lack of time. These comments have been reproduced with a minimum of editing.

Run 3-GGC-68-Terrain Following

The most annoying thing was lateral control ... every once in a while the aircraft would run away in a right bank and one must hold almost full left aileron. This is particularly noticable in high rates of climb. The controlled aircraft handles very satisfactorily ... much better than the basic aircraft. I believe the basic aircraft is way too sensitive and most of the time it is caused by slop in the deadspace around the stick neutral. I personally know the actual aircraft is not that sensitive. If I tried to hold 200-300 fpm rate of climb, just touching the stick might make it vary from 0-600 fpm, and it would jump just by touching the stick. Some tendency to roll also in basic aircraft.

(<u>Author's comments</u>: Pilot three is an ex-B-52 pilot, so stick sensitivity of the basic aircraft was reduced based on his comments above. He then flew the simulation again, and his comments are shown below. The right bank problem was eventually traced to a bad amplifier. The deadspace slop was corrected the following day by Lear-Siegler maintenance personnel.)

I-1

Run 3-GC-68-Terrain Following

Performing the task: Difficult to control in gust. Once the gust was turned off, it was easier to maintain desired task. Airspeed easily maintained? Not bad ... within 15 knots. I think it was harder to maintain in the basic aircraft. Aircraft is still sensitive in this mode. Heading fairly difficult to maintain ... still wanted to roll. The roll is rather slow, even with 10° bank it is very slow. PIO? In basic aircraft very much so. No PIO in the controlled aircraft. Effect of turbulence? Task practically impossible with turbulence in basic aircraft. Displayed information adequately? Not too bad, but should increase deviation (Ed. On the horizontal needle which displayed simulated terrain.) because in actual aircraft with terrain avoidance radar, if you need a 200-300 fpm you will get about 1 inch displacement on the indicator and you need only to pull back the stick to put airplane on the indicator to get the rate of climb necessary to take care of it. I would personally like to see a greater amplitude depicted on the horizontal needle indicator.

(<u>Author's comments</u>: Basic airplane stick sensitivity was reduced further until pilot three said it felt about right. The roll problem was corrected by adding the lateral trim button. Horizontal needle amplitude was increase. However, this method of presenting terrain was never entirely satisfactory.)

I-2

Bun 5-GGC-68-Terrain Following

Basic aircraft: I found it was difficult to make small corrections in my rate of climb or descent and there was a tendency to oscillate about the desired rate. However, with concentration I could stop the oscillations, but not necessarily at the rate desired.

Controlled aircraft: I found it very easy, light work load, to achieve rate of climb and descent I wanted. However I found the control movements different than I had expected, particularly at climbs and descents of 300 fpm. Once established, I could let go of the stick and maintain that rate of climb. This was not true at 500 fpm. I had to keep in pressure, but to level off I expected to release the stick and it would return to neutral and the airc aft would level off, but I had to push forward on the stick and then return it to the neutral position.

(<u>Author's comments</u>: Later analysis on the two degree of freedom simulation showed this problem was due to the θ/θ washout circuit in the elevator controller. Eliminating the washout integrator eliminated the problem.)

Run 1-GGC-68-Terrain Following

In the basic aircraft I found there was a great tendency toward PIO. I think most of it is due to the doad-one in the stick. The sensitivity of the stick might be high yet. The airspeed and heading required extra concentration and due to PIO it was probably ignored a little too much. The task is difficult due to PIO and

I-3

stick sensitivity. Turbulence was very noticable and made the task even harder to complete.

Controlled aircraft: The aircraft is not nearly as sensitive in the DLC mode and the addition of turbulence did not significantly affect the mission. It is possible to hold almost any rate of climb or descent desired.

The terrain model is not the best ... the change in the horizontal needle is so small that it is almost impossible to see the change as it occurs. The period of oscillations of the terrain seems a little rapid but then it is taking place at high speed so maybes it is logical. In the basic aircraft the task is nearly impossible due to PIO.

Heading and airspeed are not difficult to maintain but it is strange to see airspeed increase in a climb without the addition of throttle. (Ed. Referring to the controlled aircraft. In a climb, the spoilers move full down from the 20° bias position, and the decrease in drag causes speed to increase.)
Run 5-GGC-68-Landing

First the basic aircraft. In the basic aircraft, I was able to perform the task, however, I felt my accuracy was poor due to PIO around my desired rate of climb or descent rather than holding a constant rate. As for airspeed: I wasn't paying too much attention to airspeed and wasn't trying to maintain heading, but rather made turns with 10° of bank. PIO was very prevalent.

Turbulence: I felt in the basic aircraft that this made the task a real challenge although not impossible. I concentrated on the attitude indicator and crosschecked the rate of climb. I felt the vertical velocity instrument varied too rapidly to use as primary aircraft control, so tried to use the attitude indicator as the primary instrument and cross checked with vertical velocity.

Controlled Aircraft: Task was easy. Airspeed was not watched very closely, so can't say too much. As far as heading was concerned, I was shooting for small turns, keeping in mind the ±90° limitation on the simulation. I found no tendency to PIO. I enjoyed flying with turbulence more than without in the controlled aircraft because once I had established a turn or climb, I almost became bored without turbulence. Without PIO being present, it was very easy to use the rate of climb meter as the primary instrument and I could set any rate of climb or descent I wanted.

Run 2-GGC-68-Landing

Aircraft was easy to control in both basic and control mode. Basic aircraft was extremely sensitive in pitch and roll but not difficult to perform task.

Controlled aircraft extremely stable and easy to hold rates of climb. There was some tendency to roll . . . a little bit more than in the basic airplane. Overall, no trouble in holding airspeed, heading, or rate of climb.

Turbulence in basic aircraft: I really didn't think it had much effect because simulator is so sensitive anyway in that mode. Can't tell if it is the simulator or turbulence. With the controller in, the aircraft is just like a "rock"... very stable and easy to fly.

Bun 7-GGC-68-Landing

Basic aircraft: I didn't do much trimming as it appeared to stay in trim rather well for the changes necessary. The task was rather difficult, especially to settle down on a desired rate of climb or descent. The airspeed was not difficult to maintain as it stayed pretty close to the desired value. The heading was not particularly easy to maintain, but was not too difficult either.

I found some tendency to PIO in trying to settle it on desired rates of descent or climb. The turbulence made the task appreciably more difficult.

The presentation of information was adequate . . . I was trying to set the desired rate of descent by pitch attitude and I found the attitude indicator was such that a very

small adjustment gave a greater rate of descent than I desired and hence PIO.

Controlled aircraft: I was able to perform the task very easily and was able to settle the aircraft on the rate of descent I desired. The airspeed was not difficult to maintain as it stayed close to the desired value. I found it a little strange to gain airspeed in a climb and lose it in descent but this was the only real problem. The heading was about the same as in the basic aircraft but now I could put more attention to it as less attention was needed to establish rates of climb or descent so it was actually easier to maintain desired results. Turbulence had a very minor effect and did not degrade the task appreciably.

The information presented was quite adequate in this case.

Run 1-GGC-68-Landing

Basic aircraft: The basic aircraft is less sensitive in this flight condition, and after a little practice it is easier to maintain an almost constant rate of climb or descent. The stick sensitivity is better but could maybe be reduced further. Still some PIO and the turbulence gives an increase in workload.

The controlled aircraft is very easy to fly. I can set a desired rate of climb exactly and hold it for as long as I like. It helps make the airspeed and heading easier to achieve also.

The glide slope presentation is pretty good although I think a greater rate of descent would simulate more effectively the actual glideslope presented on an ILS. The turbulence was not very noticeable in the controlled aircraft.

Run 4-GGC-68-Landing

(Written comments from pilot evaluation sheet.)

The basic aircraft is much more sensitive than I am used to. This is possibly due to the high airspeed that is carried. I don't feel I did very well and the workload is rather heavy.

In the controlled aircraft, the complete task was very easy to complete even in turbulence. The workload is very light and I was able to do much better.

Run 8-GGC-68-Befueling

With the controller on, performing the task was very easy while with it off it was difficult to hold pitch at high speeds because of the sensitivity of the aircraft. Airspeed was not hard to maintain ... my personal crosscheck was a little slow here and this caused it to get off some. I don't think the airspeed is difficult to maintain. Heading was not difficult to maintain either with or without the controller, but I did notice that the lateral mode seemed a little more sensitive with the controller on. With turbulence, the controlled aircraft was no problem at all but without the controller it made the task more difficult.

As for the information presented ... it was good. The attitude indicator was a little sticky, otherwise it was good.

General comments: With the controller on, the aircraft was very easy to fly and turbulence was no problem at all. All in all, I would rate the controller very high as a needed item for future aircraft.

Run 3-GGC-68-Refueling

I thought the aircraft improved immensely over the previous flights that I made, especially in the controlled aircraft. I thought it was very easy to fly today, and I could hold any rate of climb or descent with no sweat at all.

In the basic aircraft it is still rather sensitive, it lags the control input, just about like in the B-52. It

has improved also as you have gotten rid of all the slop in the neutral position of the stick. It was quite a pleasure to fly today.

Run 5-GGC-68 Refueling

With the controlled aircraft it was very easy to perform the maneuver with no tendency toward PIO ... very enjoyable to fly in this mode. The addition of turbulence had no derogatory effects on performing the task. It increased the workload slightly as would be expected, however, in the basic aircraft it was much more noticeable with turbulence.

In order to avoid merely holding a position when I was stabalized in bank angle and rate of climb, I would initiate a turn in the opposite direction to give me a little more to do to possibly simulate an actual situation more adequately.

In the basic aircraft, the performance of this maneuver at 33,000 feet was sort of wild because of the reduced lateral control at this altitude and the extreme sensitivity that I found in controlling the rate of climb. I was oscillating anywhere from 100-200fpm. This oscillation was primarily due to getting out of phase with the aircraft's own oscillation and the indication on the vertical velocity indicator.

I found I could bracket the desired rate of climb a little easier by going over to the pitch angle indicator (9 meter) rather than the attitude indicator itself. I

think some sort of pitch angle indicator is essential here because the change in attitude indication was so small that it didn't really enable one to control the aircraft adequately using just the attitude indicator as a reference. The motion base made it very realistic for turns especially.

Run 1-GGC-68-Refueling

The controlled aircraft is so stable that I almost forgot what I was supposed to be doing. The turbulence has little effect on the performance of the task and it is very easy to keep airspeed and heading at the desired values.

The basic aircraft is much better now that the stick sensitivity is reduced. With only a little practice, it is possible to establish desired rates of climb or descent. The turbulence adds quite a bit to the workload. There is still a slight tendency towards PIO and I found that there is a little sticking in the vertical velocity indicator.

I think the moving base simulator added a lot to the simulation in roll and pitch. It would be interesting to apply the turbulence to the moving base as well as the equations of motion.

Bibliography

· * ,

.

Bibliography

- 1. Johannes, R.P. and P.M. Burris. "Flight Controls Damp Big Aircraft Bending." <u>Control Engineering</u>, <u>14</u>:81-85 (September 1967).
- 2. Athans, M. and P.L. Falb. <u>Optimal Control</u>. New York: McGraw-Hill, Inc., 1966.
- 3. Blakelock, J.H. <u>Automatic Control of Aircraft and</u> <u>Missiles</u>. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 1965.
- 4. DeRusso, P.M., R.J. Roy, and C.M. Close. <u>State Vari-ables for Engineers</u>. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 1966.
- 5. Bray, Richard S., C.T. Snyder, and F.J. Drinkwater III. <u>Working Paper</u>. NASA Ames Research Center, Moffett Field, California: National Aeronautics and Space Administration, 1967.
- 6. Gralow, Lt. R.T., Lt. J.D. Peace, and J.L. Shipley. <u>Evaluation of a Direct Lift Control System Installed</u> in the F-8C Airplans. Naval Air Test Center Technical Report. Paturent River, Maryland: Naval Air Test Center, 13 August 1965. AD 468464.
- 7. <u>Technical Proposal for Direct Lift Control Study</u>. The Boeing Company, Wichita Division, D3-7248. Wichita Kansas: The Boeing Company, 14 November 1966.
- 8. Drake, D. "Direct Lift Control During Landing Approaches." <u>AIAA Paper 65-316</u>, Presented at AIAA Meeting, San Francisco, California, 26-29 July 1965.
- 9. Chase, T.W., and V.L. Falkner. <u>Pilot in the Loop</u> <u>Simulation Study of Direct Lift Control</u>. Honeywell Inc. Technical Report 20755-TR2. Minneapolis, Minnesota: Honeywell Inc. Aerospace Division, 26 October 1967. A.F. Contract No. F-33615-67-C-1502.
- 10. Tobie, H.N., E.M. Elliot, and L.G. Malcom. "A New Longitudinal Handling Qualities Criterion." <u>1966</u> <u>Proceedings of the National Aerospace Electronics</u> <u>Conference</u>, Dayton, Ohio: Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, 17 May 1966.
- 11. Makers, D.T. <u>A Blended Feedback Variable for Control</u> <u>Augmentation Systems</u>. Air Force Flight Dynamics Laboratory Technical Report AFFDL-TR-67-87. Wright-Patterson AFB, Ohio: Air Force Systems Command, August 1967.

12. "SST Design Refined by Boeing." <u>Aerospace Techno-</u> logy. 21:16 (December 4, 1967).

Vita

ATIV

Robert Clement Lorenzetti was born on in | He was graduated from t . Kittanning High School in 1955 and attended The Pennsylvania State University from which he received the degree of Bachelor of Science in Electrical Engineering and a Regular commission in the USAF in 1959. He served as a construction engineer in the 328th Civil Engineering Squadron, Richards-Gebaur AFB, Missouri; as OIC of Titan II Guidance and Checkout Maintenance, 390th Missile Maintenance Squadron, Davis-Monthan AFB, Arizona; and as a maintenance troubleshooter (Technical Engineering Analysis Branch) with the 351st Strategic Missile Wing, Whiteman AFB, Missouri. He is a Registered Professional Engineer in the State of Ohio. and a member of Tau Beta Pi.

Permanent address:



Gary LeRoy Nelsen was born on **Second Methods** in In School in 1955 and attended South Dakota State University, Brookings, South Dakota, from which he received the degree of Bachelor of Science in Electrical Engineering and a Regular commission in the USAF in 1959. After attending flying school, he received his wings in May 1961. He served as a transport pilot in the 85th Air Transport Squadron, Travis Air Force Base, California; as a HU-16B Rescue Crew Commander in the 58th Aerospace Rescue and Recovery Squadron.

wheelus Air Force Base, Libya; and as a rescue pilot in South East Asia. He is a member of Eta Kappa Nu and Sigma Tau Honorary Societies.

Permanent address:

This thesis was typed by Mrs. Jean Lorenzetti

Unclassified

.

			P	
DOCUMENT COL	NTROL DATA -	R & D		
(Security classification of title, body of abstract and indexing annotation must be ORIGINATING ACTIVITY (Corporate author) Air Force Institute of Technology Department of Electrical Engineering Wright-Patterson AFB, Ohio 45433		20. REPORT SE Unclass 2b. GROUP	entered when the overall report is classified) 20. REPORT SECURITY CLASSIFICATION Unclassified 20. GROUP	
DIRECT LIFT CONTROL FOR THE LAMS	B-52			
4. DESCRIPTIVE NOTES (Type of report and inclusive dates) Masters Thesis, Guidance and Cont 5. AUTHOR(S) (First name, middle initial last name)	rol			
Gary L. Nelsen dobert C. Lor Captain, USAF Captain, USAF	enzetti			
April 1968	TA. TOTAL NO	OF PAGES	76. NO. OF REFS	
. CONTRACT OR GRANT NO.	98. ORIGINAT	OR'S REPORT NUM	BER(5)	
8. PROJECT NO.	Thesis	Thesis GGC/EE/68-8		
c.	9b. OTHER RE this report)	9b. OTHER REPORT NO(S) (Any other numbers that may be easigned this report)		
d.				
3. ABSTRACT A DLC (Direct Lift Control	Labora Wright	-Patterson	CS) AFB, Ohio	
^{13. ABSTRACT} A DLC (Direct Lift Control B-52 test aircraft using optimiza ailerons, and elevator respond to achieving incremental rates of cl pitching the aircraft. DLC reduc and out of turbulence, and improv maneuvering tasks: Approach and terrain following. The closed-lo fixed-gain normal acceleration, p to the three control surface serv degree of freedom analog simulati	Wright) system with the option theory into normal location theory imb up to es normal res airspection landing, for the option of the option of the option of the option o	-Patterson vas designe cy. Spoile ongitudinal 500 fpm fr accelerati ed control n-flight r ntroller, co monstrated	AFB, Ohio ed for the LAMS ers, symmetric column movements for trin without for 50%, both in in precision refueling, and consisting of the rate feedbacks by a piloted six	

Unclassified

14. KEY WORDS	LINK A	LINKB	LINK C	
	ROLE W	ROLE WT	ROLE WT	
Aircraft Flight Control System				
Direct Lift Control				
Optimization Theory Application				
LAMS B-52 (Direct Lift Control)				
	Imolee	alfied		
	Sec	urity Classification		

à

.